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Throughout its history Multimedia Games has been a developer of innovative 

gaming technologies that address Native American gaming, the charity, lottery and 

international bingo markets.  The Company recently introduced proprietary products 

for commercial casinos and tribal gaming opportunities.  In the last half of fiscal 2008 

we significantly changed the Company’s leadership and operating philosophy creating 

a long-term view of our business that will build new value for shareholders through 

focused execution on initiatives aimed at enhancing the profitability from our current 

markets and the creation of innovative products to drive our entry into new markets.  

LEADERSHIP 

Since joining Multimedia Games as President and Chief 

Executive Officer in June 2008, our management team has 

been strengthened with established gaming and technology 

industry veterans.  Following my appointment, Ginny Shanks 

was recruited as Chief Marketing Officer, bringing 25 years 

of marketing experience at Harrah’s Entertainment.  Ginny is 

re-focusing the Company’s product development strategy to 

emphasize informed methodologies based on concept testing, 

while providing marketing expertise to our casino partners.  

Soon after Ginny’s appointment, Uri Clinton was named General 

Counsel and Corporate Secretary following his tenure at Harrah’s 

Entertainment as Vice President of Legal Affairs for its Central 

Division.  As head of our newly created Legal Affairs Department, 

Uri is responsible for business and regulatory compliance and 

licensing.  Uri is actively addressing the licensing requirements 

for new jurisdictions as part of Multimedia’s efforts to expand 

our scope of operations while reducing the Company’s legal 

expense and seeking to resolve outstanding litigation.  

In September, Patrick Ramsey joined Multimedia as Chief 

Operating Officer after serving as Vice President and Executive 

Associate to the Vice Chairman at Harrah’s Entertainment’s 

Las Vegas headquarters.  Patrick brings extensive commercial 

casino slot operations management experience and is leading 

our efforts to improve profitability in the markets we serve.  

Patrick is redefining the manner in which Multimedia addresses 

its customer service and relationship management and has 

developed a focused, disciplined process for determining how 

we provide resources for both existing and new products as we 

move into the Class III market.  

Our most recent senior management additions also bring 

extensive, relevant industry and technology backgrounds to their 

new roles. Mick Roemer brings 25 years of gaming equipment 

sales and marketing experience to his position as Senior Vice 

President of Sales.  Mick is evaluating domestic and international 

opportunities to expand the penetration of Multimedia Games’ 

newest commercial casino offerings.  He is also building our 

sales organization, overseeing a more effective integration of 

the Company’s systems business and IP into its overall sales 

strategies and working with Ginny to bring to market niche 

focused products that address new segments of the casino 

floor.  This February, Adam Chibib joined Multimedia as our Chief 

Financial Officer.  Adam has an eighteen-year career of success 

helping public and private companies grow revenues and cash 

flow.  I am excited by the newly assembled team, as I believe 

our executive talent and their collective experience combined 

with the quality, existing talent at Multimedia Games solidifies 

the foundation for a more productive, profitable and 

valuable Company.

To Our Shareholders
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Anthony Sanfilippo
President & CEO



CHANGE
The new senior management team undertook a comprehensive 

approach to examining the Company’s portfolio of products 

and services through interactions with employees, customers 

and other constituents.  Based on this discovery process, we 

developed a focused, yet comprehensive strategy for moving 

forward and creating new value for shareholders.  These 

strategies are changing the way we address organizational and 

operational issues that have limited the Company’s ability to 

generate consistent profitability and signal a new philosophy in 

our approach to casino floor management, product development 

and entry into new markets.

In fiscal 2008, Multimedia reported revenue of $131 million, 

EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, amortization, 

depreciation and accretion of contract rights) of $61 million and 

net income of $0.4 million, or $0.01 per share.  Importantly, our 

new leadership team is contributing fresh perspectives and 

strategies to improve the profitability of our existing operations 

and to generate new business opportunities.  As a team, we 

are redefining the organization with the goal of building an 

innovative company focused on the creation of valued products 

and services. 

FOCUS
The focus of Multimedia Games for fiscal 2009 is to apply 

our significant gaming and technology industry experience to 

improve the profitability of our installed based of more than 

17,000 units while expanding our Class III product portfolio to 

create new revenue streams and enter new markets.  We are 

deploying new tools as well as proven strategies and personnel to 

improve profitability from markets we currently serve.  With new 

dedicated Account and Project management teams, the targeted 

placement of our products at attractive locations, optimization of 

the Company’s percentage of certain facilities’ total floor share, 

the strong initial industry and consumer response to our latest 

gaming content, and strategies to transition our products to 

fewer operating platforms, we believe we are on the path to 

growing profitability.

We are also pursuing new Class III market opportunities based 

on a customer-focused approach to product development.  

With initial placements in several Class III markets, our new 

games and content are generating play above house averages.  

Multimedia’s new Player HD gaming cabinet, which incorporates 

ergonomic and comfort features, is also driving game play over 

the same game played in a different cabinet.  These “proven 

performers” will lead our new product introductions as we enter 

the broad commercial casino gaming markets.  In addition, we’ll 

leverage important innovation such as Community Gaming and 

system-based tournament slot play IP as we believe maintaining 

a narrow focus on specific segments of the gaming floor will 

generate the highest returns on our investment in new 

product development.  

 

We thank you, our stockholders, for your commitment to the 

Company and we look forward to reporting to you on our 

progress to leverage Multimedia’s core strengths as an innovator 

of games and technology solutions and new focus to drive 

shareholder value in 2009 and beyond.

Anthony Sanfilippo

President and 

Chief Executive Officer
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Focus

CREATING RELEVANT PRODUCTS
Multimedia Games continues to move forward with a targeted approach to new game development that will help to 

increase our penetration of traditional commercial casino markets.  Backed by consumer focused methodologies, our 

game development centers on creating great specialized product lines such as Community Gaming, Player HD™ super 

wide cinematic video reel cabinets, compelling stepper slots and add-on bonusing systems for enhanced play.

Community Gaming is one of the hottest, fastest growing slot 

categories, bringing players together to compete against each other 

with new levels of excitement.  Based on proprietary, intellectual 

property and technology, our first Community Gaming offering, Sport 

of Kings, features a dynamic horse racing theme and has received 

rave reviews at industry trade shows.  

Packed with cutting edge technology, the Player HD™ cabinet brings new meaning 

to the words “a lot for a little” with its cinematic presentation but small depth profile.  

Featuring high resolution 23” LCD video displays and a premium “focused sound” 

system, the Player HD offers an immersive gaming experience in the same profile 

as a traditional slot machine.
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Games such as Ernestine’s Ringy Dingy Reels™ bring a unique 9-reel, 32-

line configuration to the slot floor as pay lines are read both horizontally and 

vertically.  Combined with easy to understand, three-position pays, these 

games have proved very successful in initial deployments.  



Focus

MANAGEMENT OF EXISTING ASSETS 

With more than 17,000 units placed on a revenue share model in markets across the United States and internationally, 

Multimedia Games boasts one of the industry’s largest installed bases of gaming machines.  Optimizing the 

operating and financial performance of this installed base is one of management’s top priorities.  

To drive improvements in our Oklahoma installed base Multimedia Games is focusing on improving the touch 

points that exist between the company and our customers.  Our customer interaction is benefiting from new, 

dedicated Account Managers and Project Managers, improved capabilities to optimize our products in the field, 

and more focused sales efforts.

In addition, analytical tools are allowing us to make results-focused decisions on game themes, denominations 

and location and the use of these tools is the foundation for achieving gains in our win per day results.  With 

improvements in our win per day performance, we are confident we can capture attractive shares of the gaming 

floor at new and expanded casinos.

In other key markets, our focus is on “right-sizing” our floor share to better match the breadth of our product 

offerings, placing games in more highly trafficked areas of the casino and testing the return we can achieve from 

connecting to a facility’s player tracking system. 
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Change

TAKING A CUSTOMER FOCUSED APPROACH TO NEW GAME DEVELOPMENT

Our enhanced approach to product development is driven by informed, consumer-focused methodologies that 

have proven successful in the gaming equipment industry.   

CREATING FOUR DISTINCT STUDIOS

By moving to a studio model for new game development, Multimedia Games is implementing a proven 

manufacturing model that will improve productivity, game quality, and talent development.

CONCEPT TESTING

Game concepts, features and functionality are tested with targeted customers in multiple markets.  

We then test our game titles, licensed content, design elements and game play features online 

with a broad range of slot players to identify the most appealing elements and 

components of a game. Games are then further tested for the player’s 

enjoyment, understanding and overall experience. Finally, live beta test 

games are installed in multiple markets, the results of which are 

utilized to predict a game’s future success.
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Change

CLASS I I I  GAMING ENTRY

The changes being implemented in our approach to new product development will benefit our entry into new Class 

III commercial casino and Native American markets.  The launch of our broader entry into Class III gaming will benefit 

from a targeted focus on niche areas of the slot floor that are under-penetrated in terms of new game supply

Multimedia Games now has more than 1,000 Class III proprietary games installed.  The performance of these games 

provides us with reliable market data which drives decisions on which games, themes, product types and cabinets 

we will move forward with as we secure licenses in new markets.  
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NY

NJ

RI

KEY MARKETS IN U.S.*

*Not currently licensed in the following commercial gaming jurisdictions: NV, NJ, LA, and / or MS.



PRODUCT I NNOVATION

Multimedia Games has a heritage of creating innovative products for unique gaming markets.  We provide the central 

determinant system for approximately 13,000 devices and have successful lottery system installations in Washington 

State.  One of our most innovative products, the Casino Commander Tournament System, is nearing its launch for the 

commercial casino market.   

The Casino Commander Tournament System 

transforms the old manual process of removing 

in-revenue slot machines from a casino floor and 

replacing them with tournament-only games into a 

live action slot theatre with real time leader boards 

and countdown action broadcast on every machine 

and overhead display.  

Anthony Sanfilippo  Chief Executive Officer 

20 years of gaming experience, 10 years as president of Harrah’s 

Central and Western Divisions

Patrick Ramsey   Chief Operating Officer

Held various executive and operational positions with Harrah’s, 

most recently Vice President and Executive Associate to the 

Vice Chairman

Ginny Shanks   Chief Marketing Officer

25 years marketing experience, most recently as Senior Vice 

President of Brand Management for Harrah’s

Uri Clinton   General Counsel and Corporate Secretary

10 years business and legal experience, most recently as Vice 

President of Legal Affairs for Harrah’s Central Division

Mick Roemer   Senior Vice President of Sales

25 years of gaming equipment sales, marketing and product 

development experience in senior management roles with IGT, 

Anchor Games and Bally Technologies

Adam Chibib   Chief Financial Officer

18 years public company financial management and technology 

industry experience

Leadership
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NEW SENIOR MANAGEMENT TEAM

The team driving our new focus and implementing the change at Multimedia Games is focused on unlocking the value that 

currently exists while creating new value for our shareholders.  Since the middle of 2008, Multimedia’s leadership has changed 

dramatically and each new addition has brought new ideas, experiences and a track record of success to move the Company 

forward on a profitable growth trajectory.  This leadership team is as follows:
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Michael J. Maples, Sr. 

Director since 2004 

Chairman of the Board since 2006

John M. Winkelman

Director since 2000

Robert D. Repass

Director since 2002

Emanuel R. Pearlman

Director since 2006

Neil E. Jenkins

Director since 2006

Anthony M. Sanfilippo

Director since 2008

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
Anthony M. Sanfilippo

President

Chief Executive Officer

Adam D. Chibib

Senior Vice President

Chief Financial Officer

Virginia E. Shanks

Senior Vice President

Chief Marketing Officer

Patrick J. Ramsey

Senior Vice President

Chief Operating Officer

Uri L. Clinton

Senior Vice President

General Counsel &

Corporate Secretary

Mick D. Roemer

Senior Vice President

Sales

ANNUAL MEETING
The Multimedia Games, Inc. annual meeting of 
shareholders will be on Monday, April 6, 2009, 
at 10:00 a.m. local time, at the Company’s 
Corporate Office 206 Wild Basin Road South 
Building B, Fourth Floor, 
Austin, TX 78746.

CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS
Multimedia Games, Inc.
206 Wild Basin Rd. South
Building B, Fourth Floor
Austin, Texas 78746
512-334-7500
www.multimediagames.com

REGISTRAR
Shareholders with questions regarding stock transfer requirements, 
lost certificates, and changes of address should contact our 
Transfer Agent:
American Stock Transfer & Trust Co.
59 Maiden Lane
New York, New York 10038
1-800-937-5449

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC AUDITORS
BDO Seidman, LLP
333 Clay Street, Suite 4700
Houston, Texas 77002

LEGAL COUNSEL
DLA Piper US LLP
1221 South Mopac Expressway
Suite 400  
Austin, Texas 78746  

INVESTOR RELATIONS
For additional information about Multimedia Games, Inc., 
please see our website at www.multimediagames.com.
 
Multimedia Games welcomes opinions, observations, or 
expressions of concern on any governance matter from its 
shareholders. To submit your message, please use the electronic 
form available on our website, or write to the Chairman of the 
Board at our corporate address. Your communication will be 
forwarded to appropriate board leadership, and a copy sent to 
the Chief Executive Officer.

Requests for additional copies of this report may be made via our 
website, by sending an email to investor.relations@mm-games.com, 
or by sending a written request to the attention of our Corporate 
Secretary at our corporate address.

COMMON STOCK INFORMATION
Multimedia Games, Inc.’s common stock is traded on the Nasdaq 
Global Market under the symbol MGAM. As of February 5, 2009, 
there were 57 shareholders of record and 26,642,942 shares of 
common stock outstanding.

Butler | Snow PLLC
6075 Poplar Avenue
Fifth Floor
Memphis, TN 38119



FORM 10-K 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2008 

filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 15, 2008 

& 

AMENDMENT NO. 1 ON FORM 10-K/A 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 28, 2009 

& 

AMENDMENT NO. 2 ON FORM 10-K/A 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 6, 2009 

EXPLANATORY NOTE: 

We filed our Annual Report on Form 10-K for our fiscal year 2008 on December 15, 2008 (“Original Report”). 
We subsequently filed an Amendment No. 1 on Form 10-K/A to the Original Report on January 28, 2009 
(“Amendment No. 1”), to amend Items 10, 11, 12, 13, 14 and 15 of Part III of the Original Report. After we 
completed printing the Original Report and Amendment No 1, we filed Amendment No. 2 on Form 10-K/A 
(“Amendment No. 2”) to the Original Report On March 6, 2009. Amendment No. 2 was filed for the following 
purposes:  

 to correct an error in Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance in Item 10 of Part III of 
Amendment No. 1; 

 to revise the number of times our Compensation Committee met during fiscal year 2008 in Item 11 of 
Part III of Amendment No. 1; 

 to modify the discussion of potential bonuses for fiscal year 2009 in Item 11 of Part III of Amendment 
No. 1; and 

 to revise the Beneficial Ownership Table included in Item 12 of Part III of Amendment No. 1. 

In addition to the above modifications, we also filed new certifications of our Principal Executive Officer and 
Principal Financial Officer as exhibits to Amendment No. 2. 

Copies of the Original Report and Amendment No. 1 follow this note. Except as described above, Amendments 
No. 1 and No. 2 do not modify or update other disclosures in the Original Report, including the nature and character 
of such disclosures, to reflect events occurring after the filing date of the Original Report.  

A COPY OF AMENDMENT NO. 2, AS FILED WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE 
COMMISSION, MAY BE OBTAINED BY ANY SHAREHOLDER WITHOUT CHARGE BY 
VISITING OUR WEBSITE LOCATED AT 
HTTP://IR.MULTIMEDIAGAMES.COM/FINANCIALS.CFM 
OR BY DIRECTING A WRITTEN REQUEST TO US AT THE FOLLOWING ADDRESS: 

MULTIMEDIA GAMES, INC. 
206 WILD BASIN ROAD SOUTH 
BUILDING B, FOURTH FLOOR 
AUSTIN, TEXAS  78746 
ATTENTION:  URI CLINTON, CORPORATE SECRETARY 
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UNITED STATES 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

Washington, DC 20549 

Form 10-K 
(Mark One) 
⌧ ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES 

EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 
 For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2008 

 TRANSITION REPORT UNDER SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES 
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 

 For the transition period from ___________ to ___________ 

Commission file number 000-28318 

Multimedia Games, Inc. 
(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Charter) 

  Texas 74-2611034 
(State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization) (IRS Employer Identification No.) 

206 Wild Basin Road, Building B, Fourth Floor 
Austin, Texas 78746 

(Address of Principal Executive Offices) (Zip Code) 

Registrant’s Telephone Number, Including Area Code: (512) 334-7500 

Registrant’s website: www.multimediagames.com 

Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:  
None 

Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: 
Common Stock, $0.01 par value 

Preferred Share Purchase Rights 
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the 
Securities Act.  Yes      No  ⌧  
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or 
Section 15(d) of the Act.  Yes      No  ⌧ 
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 
or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter 
period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing 
requirements for the past 90 days.   Yes  ⌧    No   
Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not 
contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or 
information statements incorporated by reference in PART III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to 
this Form 10-K.  



 

-2- 

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-
accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer” 
“accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act:  
 Large Accelerated Filer  Accelerated Filer  

 Non Accelerated Filer  Smaller reporting company  
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the 
Exchange Act).   Yes      No  ⌧ 
The aggregate market value of voting and non-voting common equity held by nonaffiliates of the 
registrant computed by reference to the price at which common equity was last sold as of the last business 
day of the registrant’s most recently completed second fiscal quarter (March 31, 2008) was $121,717,728 
(assuming, for this purpose, that only directors and officers are deemed affiliates.) 
As of December 8, 2008, the registrant had 26,628,571 outstanding shares of common stock. 
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE  

Portions of the Proxy Statement for the registrant’s 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders are incorporated by 
reference into Part III of this Form 10-K. 

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements reflecting Multimedia Games’ current 
forecast of certain aspects of our future. It is based on current information that we have assessed but which by its 
nature is dynamic and subject to rapid and even abrupt changes. Forward-looking statements include statements 
regarding future operating results, liquidity, capital expenditures, product development and enhancements, numbers 
of personnel, customer and strategic relationships with third parties, our strategy, the ability of the new 
management team to further develop, implement, and execute on any newly identified strategic plan, legal and 
regulatory uncertainties, including outcomes of litigation, the effects of such outcomes upon our business, changes 
in existing laws and regulations or in the interpretation of such laws and regulations, the effects of competition in 
the Class II market from games that we believe are non-Class II games, and the effects of uneven enforcement 
policies by the National Indian Gaming Commission in challenging such non-Class II games. The forward-looking 
statements are generally accompanied by words such as “plan,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “believe,” “should,” 
“would,” “could,” “anticipate,” or other words that convey the uncertainty of future events or outcomes. Our actual 
results could differ materially from those stated or implied by our forward-looking statements, due to risks and 
uncertainties associated with our business. These risks are described throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K, 
which you should read carefully. We particularly refer you to the section under the heading “Risk Factors” for an 
extended discussion of certain of the risks confronting our business. The forward-looking statements in this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K should be considered in the context of these risk factors. We disclaim any intention or 
obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events 
or otherwise. 

PART I 

ITEM 1.  Business 

General 
We are a supplier of interactive systems, server-based gaming systems, interactive electronic games, player 
terminals, stand-alone player terminals, video lottery terminals, electronic scratch ticket systems, electronic instant 
lottery systems, player tracking systems, casino cash management systems, slot accounting systems, slot 
management systems, unified currencies and electronic and paper bingo systems for Native American, racetrack 
casino, casino, charity and commercial bingo, sweepstakes, lottery and video lottery markets and provide support 
and services and operations support for our customers and products. We design and develop networks, software and 
content that provide our customers with, among other things, comprehensive gaming systems, some of which are 
delivered through a telecommunications network that links our player terminals with one another, both within and 
among gaming facilities. Our ongoing development and marketing efforts focus on Class II and Class III gaming 
systems and products for use by Native American tribes; video lottery terminals, video lottery systems, stand-alone 
player terminals, electronic instant scratch systems and other products for domestic and international lotteries; 
products for domestic and international charity and commercial bingo markets; and promotional, sweepstakes and 
amusement with prize systems. 

We derive the majority of our gaming revenues from participation (revenue sharing) agreements, pursuant to which 
we place systems, player terminals, proprietary and licensed content operated on player terminals, and back-office 
systems and equipment (collectively referred to as “gaming systems”), into gaming facilities. To a lesser degree, we 
earn revenue from the sale of or placement of gaming systems (e.g., the opening of a new casino, or a change in the 
law that allows existing casinos to increase the number of player terminals permitted under prior law) on a 
lease-purchase or participation basis and from the back-office fees generated by video lottery systems, principally in 
the Oklahoma and Washington State Class III markets. We also generate gaming revenue as consideration for 
providing the central determinant system for a network of player terminals operated by the New York State Division 
of the Lottery. In addition, we earn a small portion of our revenue from the sale of lottery systems and the placement 
of nontraditional gaming products, such as electronic scratch tickets, sweepstakes, or linked interactive paper bingo 
systems. Recently, we entered the international electronic bingo market and currently supply bingo systems to three 
customers in Mexico, whereby we receive fees based on the net earnings of each system. During fiscal 2009, we 
intend to generate revenue from the sale of non-linked Class III player terminals to Class III Native American 
markets. Additionally, we intend to begin an incremental entry into traditional commercial gaming markets. 



 

-4- 

The gaming industry is highly regulated, and we may be affected by expected and/or unforeseen judicial rulings or 
changes in applicable laws, or other changes in dynamic political, regulatory, socioeconomic, competitive and 
technological environments. 

We specialize in server-based gaming systems commonly known as central determinant and downloadable systems. 
We provide these systems for use by Native American gaming operators in both Class II and Class III facilities, to 
racetrack casinos and commercial casinos, to operators of charity and commercial bingo gaming facilities, and for 
use in domestic and international lottery jurisdictions. We also provide player terminals for bingo systems and 
central-determinant video lottery systems. 

We provide proprietary content that has been designed and developed by us for our gaming systems. We also 
implement game themes for and on our systems that we have licensed from others. 

We market gaming support products such as back-office systems, player tracking systems, slot accounting systems, 
slot management systems, and slot monitoring systems both to gaming operators and to domestic and international 
lotteries. In addition, we market certain proprietary and nonproprietary hardware products that are used in 
conjunction with our systems and occasionally “broker” gaming products made by other game suppliers. 

Our gaming systems typically operate across proprietary local-area and wide-area broadband networks. We provide 
linked interactive Class II gaming to our tribal customers via nationwide, broadband telecommunications network. 
Player terminals in the Class II market are typically interconnected within a gaming facility and to other facilities via 
fiber optic and telephonic networks, thereby enabling players to simultaneously participate in the same game and to 
compete against one another to win pooled prizes. In the charity bingo market, player terminals are typically only 
interconnected within the gaming facility where the terminals are located. 

Our gaming systems are typically provided to customers under revenue-sharing arrangements, although sales models 
are common in some markets. For example, in the Native American Class III market in Washington State, player 
terminals and other products are typically sold for an up-front purchase price. Historically, we have focused our 
development and marketing efforts on Class II gaming systems for use by Native American tribes throughout the 
United States, and Class III gaming systems for use by Native American tribes under compact with the states of 
Washington and Oklahoma. We also focus our marketing efforts on the emerging charity markets in the United 
States, domestic and international video lottery markets, and international commercial bingo markets. 

In addition, we have developed our proprietary MGAMe® casino data management system technology solution, 
which features a suite of tools that help operators manage their gaming facilities. The MGAMe system uses active-
player-database management to analyze and optimize the effectiveness of slot floor placements, to track and audit 
monetary transactions, and to manage marketing programs, thereby allowing the operator to configure the casino 
floor to optimize profitability. We now have components of the MGAMe casino data management system deployed 
in multiple gaming jurisdictions, including Native American Class II and Class III markets, the New York video 
lottery market, the Mexico electronic bingo market and the Alabama charity electronic bingo market. 

Native American Gaming. Native American gaming is governed by the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act of 1988, or 
IGRA; IGRA established the National Indian Gaming Commission, or NIGC, and it granted the NIGC regulatory 
powers over certain aspects of Native American gaming. IGRA classifies games that may be played on Native 
American lands into three categories, each of which is subject to different regulations, as follows: 

 Class I Gaming. Class I gaming includes traditional Native American social and ceremonial games. Class I 
gaming is regulated exclusively at the Native American tribal level. 

 Class II Gaming. Class II gaming includes bingo, and if played at the same location where bingo is 
offered, pull tabs and other games similar to bingo. Class II gaming is regulated by individual Native 
American tribes, with the NIGC having oversight of the tribal regulatory process. States that allow bingo 
and games similar to bingo to be conducted by any other entity or for any other purpose, such as bingo at 
charities or schools, may not regulate Class II gaming, and therefore receive no tax revenues from income 
the tribes derive from Class II gaming. 

 Class III Gaming. Class III gaming includes all other forms of gaming that are not included in either 
Class I or Class II, including slot machines and most table games. Class III gaming may be conducted only 
pursuant to contracts called “compacts,” which are negotiated between individual states and individual 
Native American tribes located within that state, and subsequently approved by the U.S. Bureau of Indian 
Affairs. The compacts typically include provisions entitling the state to receive revenues at mutually 
agreed-upon rates from the income a tribe derives from Class III gaming activities. 
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We believe that all of our Class II games, electronic player terminals, and gaming systems are designed and operated 
to meet the requirements of Class II gaming as defined by IGRA. Additionally, we intend to certify our Class II 
games and systems in accordance with the grandfathering provision of the newly enacted Technical Standards 
promulgated by the NIGC. Moreover, we believe that all of our Class III games and systems meet the requirements 
of the appropriate tribal-state compacts. 

We currently offer our Native American Class II customers two gaming systems, our Legacy system and our New 
Generation system. In our Class II and Class III gaming markets, we currently provide gaming equipment to our 
customers on a participation (revenue sharing) basis, and derive revenue based on a percentage of the hold per day 
generated by each player terminal. 

During 2004, the Oklahoma Legislature passed legislation authorizing certain forms of gaming at racetracks, and 
additional types of games at tribal gaming facilities, pursuant to a tribal-state compact. The Oklahoma gaming 
legislation allows the tribes to sign a compact with the state of Oklahoma to operate an unlimited number of 
electronic instant bingo games, electronic bonanza-style bingo games, electronic amusement games, and non-house-
banked tournament card games. In addition, certain horse tracks in Oklahoma are allowed to operate a limited 
number of instant and bonanza-style bingo games and electronic amusement games. All vendors placing games at 
any of the racetracks under the compact will ultimately be required to be licensed by the state of Oklahoma. 
Pursuant to the compacts, vendors placing games at tribal facilities will have to be licensed by each tribe. All 
electronic games placed under the compact have to be certified by independent testing laboratories to meet technical 
specifications. These technical specifications were published by the Oklahoma Horse Racing Commission and the 
individual tribal gaming authorities in the first calendar quarter of 2005. We generally receive a 20% revenue share 
for the games played under the Oklahoma Gaming Compact. 

We offer intrafacility-linked Class III video lottery systems to Native American customers in Washington State. The 
majority of our Class III gaming equipment is sold for an up-front purchase price; under these purchases, we receive 
a small back-office fee; back-office fees cover the service and maintenance costs for back-office servers installed in 
each facility to run our Class III games, as well as the cost of related software updates. In addition, we offer Class III 
player terminals under both participation arrangements and lease-purchase arrangements. As of September 30, 2008, 
our Class III gaming systems were located in 14 gaming facilities in Washington State. 

Charity Gaming. We design, develop, and in some cases, operate gaming systems for charity gaming enterprises. 
Charity bingo and other forms of charity gaming are operated by or for the benefit of nonprofit organizations, for 
charitable, educational and other lawful purposes. This and other forms of non-Native American gaming are not 
currently subject to a federal regulatory system, such as the one created by IGRA, to regulate Native American 
gaming. Regulation of charity gaming is vested with each individual state, and in some states, regulatory authority is 
delegated to county or municipal governmental units. 

In Alabama, our largest charity market, constitutional amendments have been passed authorizing charity bingo in 
certain locations. The regulation of charity bingo in Alabama is typically vested with a local governmental authority. 
We typically place player terminals under participation arrangements in the charity market and receive a percentage 
of the hold per day generated by each of the player terminals. As of September 30, 2008, we had 2,279 player 
terminals in three facilities in Alabama. 

Domestic and International Video Lottery Gaming. We designed and developed a central determinant system for 
the emerging state video lottery market. Our central determinant system includes all software, hardware and 
networks required to provide outcomes to, remotely manage, and to provide accounting reports for video lottery 
gaming conducted on player terminals at multiple locations. In January 2004, we installed our central determinant 
system for the video lottery network that the New York Lottery operates at licensed New York State racetrack 
casinos. We currently have approximately 13,000 video lottery terminals connected to our central determinant 
system. Our central determinant system is able to interface with, provide outcomes to and manage player terminals 
provided by others. As payment for providing and maintaining the central determinant system, we receive a small 
portion of the network-wide hold per day. We believe that we will be able to achieve future growth in the domestic 
and international video lottery market by leveraging our experience in the states of California, Washington, Iowa 
and New York, by our leadership in designing technologically advanced games and systems, and by having the 
ability to rapidly adapt game and system technology to satisfy emerging regulatory requirements. 

International Commercial Bingo Market. In March 2006, we entered into a contract with Apuestas Internacionales, 
S.A. de C.V., or Apuestas, a subsidiary of Grupo Televisa, S.A., to provide traditional and electronic bingo gaming, 
technical assistance, and related services for Apuestas’ locations in Mexico. Apuestas currently has a permit issued 
by the Mexican Ministry of the Interior (Secretaria de Gobernación) to open and operate 65 bingo parlors. Apuestas 
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is projecting that all 65 bingo parlors will be open by May 2011. As of September 30, 2008, we had installed 
4,583 player terminals at 19 bingo parlors in Mexico under this contract with Apuestas. At September 30, 2008, all 
installed player terminals placed in the Apuestas bingo parlors are pursuant to a revenue share arrangement that is 
comparable with our Oklahoma market arrangements. 

As of September 30, 2008, we have entered into separate contracts with three other companies incorporated in 
Mexico to provide traditional and electronic bingo gaming, technical assistance, and related services for bingo 
parlors in Mexico. As of September 30, 2008, we had installed 550 player terminals at three parlors in Mexico under 
these contracts. 

The following table sets forth our end-of-period installed player terminal base by quarter and by product line for 
each of the five most recent quarters: 

Quarter 
  Ended  

Reel Time 
  Bingo  

Legacy&
Other(1) 

Total 
Class II 

  Units  
Class III  
Units(2) 

Mexico 
Electronic 

Bingo Units 
Charity 

Units 
9/30/2008 2,223 555 2,778 5,655 5,133 2,311 
6/30/2008 2,132 555 2,687 5,375 4,294 2,362 
3/31/2008 2,223 563 2,786 5,169 4,039 2,469 

12/31/2007 3,477 508 3,985 4,419 3,513 2,513 
9/30/2007 3,840 550 4,390 4,088 2,515 2,569 

(1) At September 30, 2007 and December 31, 2007, includes 166 traditional electronic bingo games installed in 
certain international markets. At March 31, 2008, June 30, 2008 and September 30, 2008, includes 
252 traditional electronic bingo games installed in certain international markets. 

(2) Beginning December 31, 2007, includes 50 units installed in Rhode Island. The balance of the unit totals for 
both periods reflects the placement of units pursuant to the approved gaming compact between Native 
American tribes, racetracks and the State of Oklahoma, including stand-alone games of Multimedia Games’ and 
other vendors. 

Our Strategy 
With a large installed base of electronic gaming devices provided to customers under revenue-sharing arrangements, 
our strategy is to leverage our strong customer relationships, industry expertise and management skills to enhance 
the profitability of our placements while increasing the number of unit placements in current markets, as well as new 
markets. We plan to achieve this progress in Native American, commercial casino, charity and video lottery and 
other domestic and international gaming markets by placing more high-performing proprietary and/or third-party 
gaming devices, at facilities owned by our current customer base while simultaneously expanding the number of 
markets in which we conduct business. In doing so, we expect to increase our revenues, diversify our revenue 
sources and expand the number of customers we serve and the number of jurisdictions in which we conduct 
business. In addition, we plan to use our expertise and technology to develop new products and to expand into other 
new markets for interactive gaming. Our strategies include the following: 

Continue marketing products to and developing new products for the existing and emerging interactive and 
conventional gaming markets for commercial and Native American Class III casinos. In addition to our 
proprietary Class III products and third-party Class III products that we are currently providing, we plan to market 
new proprietary content and stand-alone player terminals as well as certain third-party gaming content and platforms 
that we have agreements for, to both the Native American Class III casino and the commercial casino markets. 

Protect and grow our existing priority revenue streams. Through prior agreements, we have established significant 
relationships with customers in the Oklahoma, Alabama, Washington State and Mexico markets. Through these 
relationships, we have secured significant floor space for the placement of electronic gaming devices and have 
developed meaningful installed bases of electronic gaming devices with key customers. We are prioritizing our 
efforts to work more closely with these customers to optimize the performance of our installed base of units at each 
location by focusing increased attention on game mix and performance, developing marketing and promotional 
programs that leverage our management teams’ significant experience in casino management, and providing 
appropriate levels of networking and systems support. In addition, where appropriate, we will provide assistance to 
our key customers in the form of project management, with a focus on facility layout and planning, gaming floor 
configuration and customized marketing and promotional initiatives. Such activities are largely new undertakings 
made possible by the significant casino operation experience of our senior management team. 

Tailor Class II development and placement efforts to meet current market dynamics. The landscape for Class II 
gaming continues to change and we will limit future efforts in this space to select markets that meet the current and 
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future potential profitability criteria that we have established. In addition to our expertise in Class II gaming-product 
development, we also plan to leverage third-party offerings where appropriate, to support expanding or retaining 
customer relationships, and to enhance the overall level of gaming solutions we provide to our Class II gaming 
customers, with the overriding goal of enhancing our net gaming revenue.  

Continue to pursue revenue share opportunities. We have been successful in establishing long-term development 
agreements with key customers, which have expanded both our customer base and our installed base of player 
terminals at customer’s facilities. We will continue to seek additional agreements, whereby we would advance funds 
to our customers for the construction of new gaming facilities or for the expansion of existing facilities, in return for 
which we would receive certain contractual commitments regarding the placement of player terminals under 
revenue-sharing arrangements at the gaming facility. 

Accelerate our product development efforts: We plan to offer more proprietary Class III products in more tribal and 
commercial casino Class III markets. Our efforts will be focused on several fronts including aggressively pursuing 
licensing in Class III markets beyond Oklahoma and Rhode Island, the two markets where we are currently licensed. 
By increasing the number of markets where we are licensed, we will increase the number of customers to whom we 
can market our proprietary Class III player terminals. As we pursue new Class III market opportunities, we will 
focus our marketing efforts on offering the “best in class” of our Class III proprietary products based on the 
performance of these products in markets where they are presently deployed. Such practice will allow us to bring 
market-performance data for specific games and titles to potential customers. In addition, we are achieving initial 
success with content deployed on our (wide-body) proprietary gaming cabinet and we plan to make this a feature 
offering as we enter new Class III gaming markets. Our Class III market strategy also includes a focus on offering 
gaming devices that address the emerging niche-market product category of Community Gaming. We are well 
suited to offer products for this category, as we possess the substantial intellectual property based on our strength in 
gaming systems and networked gaming technologies established through our long-term Class II gaming activities. 
We will also pursue systems and server-based gaming opportunities, as we are well positioned to address specific 
needs of tribal gaming and have positioned ourselves to address the needs of commercial casino gaming customers, 
such as tournament play, through the further development and marketing of existing technologies, including our 
Casino Commander functionality. 

Pursue professional service contracts: Our senior management team collectively possesses decades of experience 
successfully managing commercial casinos. We believe there is meaningful customer demand for access to such 
expertise in both our existing markets and in markets that we expect to enter. It is anticipated that under our 
professional service contracts, we may provide services such as facility operation and optimization, gaming facility 
layout, development and planning, gaming-floor configuration, project management and customized marketing and 
promotional programs to both existing and prospective customers. We plan to pursue opportunities to leverage this 
commercial casino management experience into the execution of contracts that provide new, high-margin revenue 
streams. 

Develop additional system-based and stand-alone products for domestic and international video lottery operators 
and regulators. We currently provide video lottery technologies to Native American tribes in the state of 
Washington and also provide the central determinant system for the New York State Lottery’s video lottery terminal 
offerings at eight racetracks in the state. We expect a ninth racetrack with more than 4,000 additional video lottery 
devices to become operational in New York within the next two years. In addition, voters in Maryland have recently 
approved the placement of video lottery terminals at racetracks, and we plan to leverage our expertise and history of 
stability in the operation of video lottery systems to pursue a contract for this and other markets. There are also 
ongoing legislative initiatives in other states that, if successful, would permit the play of video lottery games in new 
jurisdictions. We plan to leverage our core systems, accounting, database, encrypted communication, 
interoperability, data center, network operation center and gaming system operations capabilities to develop 
proprietary products to facilitate the regulators’ performing their oversight responsibilities. 

Pursue expansion in the existing and emerging domestic charity gaming market. There are ongoing legislative 
initiatives in a number of jurisdictions that, if successful, we believe would allow the use of our technology in 
charity gaming facilities in those jurisdictions. We currently supply systems and/or player terminals to charity 
operators in Alabama and Louisiana that are authorized to conduct bingo games on behalf of certain nonprofit 
organizations. As of September 30, 2008, we had installed a total of 2,311 player terminals in the charity gaming 
market. If similar legislative initiatives are successful in other markets, we believe we will be able to expand into 
new and evolving markets by building upon our existing gaming system and bingo gaming technology, 
infrastructure, product base and regulatory expertise. 
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Our Competitive Strengths 
We intend to execute our strategy by leveraging our competitive strengths, which include: 

Senior management team with extensive gaming operations experience. Since mid 2008, we have appointed 
experienced gaming industry managers to lead our efforts including a new Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating 
Officer, Chief Marketing Officer and General Counsel, each of which brings extensive experience and a track record 
of success in the management of commercial casinos to the Company. These managers have a total of more than 
60 years of gaming operations experience which will be an advantage in our ability to leverage the benefits of our 
revenue participation model. We have also added other gaming operations talent to the organization as we increase 
our ability to deploy industry proven analytical tools that will benefit our operations. 

Large committed floor space with key customers. We have agreements with key customers in the Oklahoma, 
Alabama and Mexico markets that provide for significant allocation of floor space at several facilities. These 
customers are acknowledged leaders in their respective markets, and the commitment of large percentages of their 
gaming floors to our offerings provides us with stability in our installed base of operating units, as well as 
opportunities to leverage our collective knowledge and experience in the gaming industry to work with these 
customers on the deployment of tailored services that can generate immediate and long-term benefits for all parties. 

Recurring revenue from existing installed base. We derive most of our revenues from participation arrangements 
with our customers through which we receive a percentage of the hold per day generated by each of our player 
terminals. At September 30, 2008, our installed base of units on participation totaled nearly 16,000 games. 
Therefore, our interests are closely aligned with those of our customers, since a substantial portion of our revenues is 
dependent on the revenues they generate. 

State-of-the-art networked systems. Since our inception, Multimedia Games has focused on a type of gaming that 
has come to be known within the gaming industry as server-based central-determinant gaming and we are a leader in 
networked-enabled gaming solutions such as our Casino Commander system which has attractive revenue-
enhancing features that have been benefiting our customers since its deployment several years ago. Increasingly, 
many industry peers and operators are recognizing the power of this type of gaming system architecture, and we 
believe our leadership in this arena will allow us to develop new products that enhance the gaming experience. In 
addition, we believe that our experience in operating networked gaming will help us enter new markets in the future. 

Full service gaming solutions. Our technology-driven approach to our business has yielded what we believe are the 
most flexible and innovative gaming systems in the North American gaming industry. In addition to our networked 
systems capability, we currently offer Class II and Class III gaming content and platforms, charity bingo products, 
operate Lottery systems in several markets and provide casino management solutions including cashless payment, 
player tracking and accounting systems to our customers. We believe that our investment in and focus on the use of 
emerging technologies will help us procure additional non-commodity-priced business in the future. Our technology 
embraces the development of new tools to enable gaming operators to collect and mine data that empowers them to 
optimize their gaming facility earnings. 

Class II and Class III game focus. We currently offer proprietary game themes for Class II and Class III customers, 
and are in the process of expanding our Class III game library as well as the number of markets for which we will 
offer such products. We plan to port our most successful proprietary Class II titles to our Class III platform as we 
consider this the best strategic and economic approach to expanding our Class III market presence. Our ability to 
offer both Class II and Class III products provides us with advantages in working with certain tribal customers that 
seek to have diverse game offerings at their facilities, while providing Multimedia Games with opportunities to 
address new international markets and seek out agreements with new customers in new commercial casino markets. 

In addition, we have license agreements in certain markets whereby we have access to proven leading third-party 
game themes which we may use in our Class II, Class III, charity bingo and certain other markets. These license 
agreements with other suppliers allow us to use some of their most popular game themes, which have player-tested 
acceptance in worldwide gaming markets. These games are offered with a variety of pay tables, prize distributions 
and currency denominations. By offering both proprietary and third-party products we have an extensive library of 
gaming content to offer our customers.  

International footprint. We have continued to grow our footprint of products in markets outside of the United 
States. At the end of fiscal 2008, we had an installed base of more than 5,000 units in Mexico and approximately 
250 installed units in another international market. In addition, we are developing an electronic bingo system for the 
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Ontario charity market. We expect additional international markets will pursue various forms of gaming that we are 
well suited to address.  

Years of experience and success as a proven operator of high-availability, large-scale transactional processing 
gaming systems. Through our subsidiaries, we have been operating central-determinant-driven systems, cashless 
payment systems, and player-against-player gaming systems since 1989. We believe that our long-term experience 
as an operator of various types of gaming systems is unmatched by any other service provider in the gaming 
industry, and plan to leverage this valuable experience to obtain new contracts to operate additional gaming systems 
in new jurisdictions. 

Continual upgrades of our existing hardware, communication network infrastructure, systems and application 
software to incorporate state-of-the-art architecture. We systematically upgrade the components contained in the 
player terminals located at our customers’ facilities so that the terminals can use our most up-to-date technology.  
This allows for us to enhance the gaming and entertainment experience of our end users by offering games that play 
at high speed, as well as for us to implement new technology to offer advanced graphics and sounds in all of the 
gaming markets that we serve. 

Our Products and Services 
Class II Games and Systems. We provide the Class II Native American gaming market with linked, interactive 
electronic games and related online systems and player terminals. These games, systems and player terminals 
include: 

 Flexible gaming systems that enable us to operate games efficiently and to regularly launch new game 
engines; 

 Flexible game engines that enable us to display the same underlying bingo game utilizing various game 
themes; 

 High-speed, interactive Class II bingo games and game themes we designed and developed that provide our 
end users with an entertaining gaming experience; 

 Player terminals linked via nationwide, broadband telecommunications network, thereby enabling us to 
rapidly build quorums and broaden participation in games run throughout the country, and monitor the 
performance of our network in real time;  

 Information services that allow our customers to monitor their gaming activities and to improve service to 
end users; and 

 Back-office, accounting and player tracking systems that help our customers optimize their earnings. 

To take advantage of technological advances that increase the capability of our systems, improve the end-user 
experience, broaden participation in the games and thereby increase revenues, we regularly introduce new 
high-speed, interactive Class II bingo games. 

In May 1996, we introduced our Legacy gaming system and its related family of game engines with the launch of 
MegaMania®, the first online, interactive bingo game played on player terminals linked within a single facility; 
shortly thereafter, we began linking multiple facilities with one another via nationwide, broadband 
telecommunications network. When first introduced, a game of MegaMania took approximately two minutes to 
play. We used rotating shifts of teams of employees, working twenty-four hours per day, seven days a week, to 
manually draw bingo ball numbers from a bingo ball blower. The drawn numbers were then keyed into the network 
to appear simultaneously on multiple player terminals linked to the network and logged onto that game. Today, a 
game of MegaMania takes about one minute to play. In place of a bingo ball blower, we now use an electronic ball 
draw that randomly determines bingo numbers, which are instantly communicated over the network to player 
terminals. This new method has significantly increased the speed and reliability of the game, improved security, and 
significantly reduced overhead. 

In January 2001, we introduced our New Generation gaming system and its related family of game engines with the 
launch of MegaNanza®, a bonanza-style bingo game, where the bingo numbers are drawn before the bingo cards are 
purchased. The faster-paced New Generation gaming system enhances the entertainment and gaming experience of 
our end users, resulting in an overall increase in the number of end users playing our games. 

In June 2002, we introduced Reel Time Bingo®, a high-speed, “standard-sequence” bingo game (meaning that the 
cards are purchased before the balls are drawn), which is played on our New Generation system. As of 
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October 27, 2003, we had converted all of our MegaNanza® games to some version of Reel Time Bingo, both in 
response to the settlement agreement reached between us and the NIGC, and to take advantage of improved 
technologies. 

We continually strive to improve the capabilities of our core gaming system. In November 2003, we introduced and 
began deploying our Gen IV gaming system. This deployment has enabled us to operate games with complex bonus 
rounds, to operate real-time, interfacility progressives and to provide better interoperability between gaming 
systems. Furthermore, our Gen IV gaming system has allowed us to operate multiple gaming engines within a single 
facility. This has been especially beneficial in certain Oklahoma facilities where the operators have decided to 
continue offering Class II games after they begin offering the new Class III games that are permitted under the 
tribal-state compact. In July 2005, we introduced and began deploying our Gen5 gaming system. The Gen5 product 
features a more robust database for accounting; player tracking and database marketing; enhanced hardware and 
software redundancy; the ability to provide customers with currency accounting and player tracking support for 
third-party vendor games; and the ability to offer Class II and Class III games on a single integrated system. 

We currently offer a variety of Class II player terminal models. Each Class II player terminal has a screen that 
always displays the bingo cards being played as well as a “flashboard” that displays bingo numbers that have been 
drawn. Depending upon the end user’s entertainment preference, an additional display can be selected that 
minimizes the size of the bingo card display and shows other graphics that can take many forms, including graphics 
that simulate spinning reels similar to slot machines or video lottery games. In addition to our proprietary titles, 
some of our player terminals also use displays adapted from game themes we license from others. The screen also 
serves as a touch pad that allows end users to interactively communicate decisions that influence the play of the 
game. Such actions may include initiating play, dropping bingo cards from play, “daubing” or covering numbers 
drawn, claiming a prize or ending play. Player terminals vary according to height, width and depth (to 
accommodate, in part, the differing space needs of our customers’ facilities), screen size and other features affecting 
appearance and the visual appeal to end users. 

Our Class II games are linked via nationwide, broadband telecommunications network, which provides several 
important benefits to us, our customers and our end users: 

 A large number of potential players are available to rapidly build quorums for individual games. 

 For certain game designs, larger numbers of end users can compete in a single game, which increases the 
size of the prize pool. 

 Class II gaming requires that there be more than one end user participating in a game. Our network enables 
end users to link with each other more quickly, thereby increasing the number of games played during a 
given period. 

 We are able to introduce technological enhancements via our network without the need for 
location-by-location down time, thereby avoiding lost revenues for our customers. 

 We are able to monitor network performance in real time, which allows us to quickly identify and respond 
to network problems and avoid significant down time. 

 With our ability to launch new games broadly over a large number of player terminals, the chance that any 
new game will become popular with end users is increased, since the frequency of prizes and its related 
effect upon the popularity of a game depends in part on the total number of end users participating in the 
same game. 

In addition, our back-office system provides accounting, management and information services to our customers, 
who are able to monitor all aspects of their gaming activities by player terminal, by game and by gaming facility. 
Our back-office system normally includes a database server that archives details of distribution and sales, as well as 
end-user information used by the gaming facilities for marketing and player tracking, and a management terminal 
that can monitor game-system operation and generate system reports. As part of the MGAMe system, we also offer 
a player-tracking system that allows facilities to track the playing preferences of those individual end users who 
have elected to participate in that facility’s player-tracking program, and whereby, we gain potentially valuable 
design insight into game features that appeal to end users. It also serves as a marketing tool for our customers, who 
are made aware, in real time, of end users playing in their facility. 

We continuously monitor our network from our network operations center, headquartered in Austin, Texas, which 
enables us to identify disruptions or less-than-optimum network performance, as well as to gather valuable data 
regarding the playing habits and preferences of end users; this data is then utilized in our game design efforts. 
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Class III Games and Systems for Washington. We sell, rent or lease Class III gaming equipment to Native 
American customers in the state of Washington and receive a small back-office fee. Back-office fees cover the 
service and maintenance costs for back-office servers installed in each facility to run our Class III games, as well as 
the cost of related software updates. Class III video lottery gaming in the state of Washington is allowed pursuant to 
a compact between the state and certain Native American tribes in that state. The compacts contain the 
specifications for permissible video lottery systems in the state, including: 

 Only those player terminals within the same gaming facility may be linked with one another;  

 The system must be cashless; and 

 The implementation of each game and all system components and software must be approved by an 
independent gaming laboratory as well as by the gaming laboratory operated by Washington State. 

An end user who wishes to play our Class III games in the state of Washington must open an account with the 
cashier in the facility and receive a card encoded with an account number and a personal identification number. The 
end user can then use the card to buy an electronic ticket at a player terminal, add money to the account at a point-
of-sale terminal, or cash out the account. 

Electronic replicas of scratch tickets are shown on the player terminals, with the results of the wager displayed in a 
variety of graphical game formats that entertain the end user with motion and sound before revealing the value of the 
scratch ticket. We have license agreements with third parties that allow us to use several of their popular game 
themes in the state of Washington. Our Class III player terminals are available in a variety of freestanding and bar-
top styles, having a look and feel that is consistent with traditional video slot machines. 

Our Class III systems in Washington State comprise all the software and hardware necessary for operation, and are 
designed to be readily adaptable to the video lottery requirements of jurisdictions outside that state. Our hardware 
includes multiple servers that generate sets of electronic lottery tickets, and distribute them on demand to end users 
sitting at terminals networked throughout a casino. As with our Class II gaming systems, our Class III back-office 
system allows us to maintain end-user information, details of ticket manufacture, distribution and sales, and to 
monitor game system operation and generate system reports. 

Class III Games and Systems for Oklahoma. During 2004, the Oklahoma Legislature passed legislation authorizing 
certain forms of gaming at racetracks, and additional types of games at tribal gaming facilities, pursuant to a 
tribal-state compact. The Oklahoma gaming legislation allows the tribes to sign a compact with the state of 
Oklahoma to operate an unlimited number of electronic instant bingo games, electronic bonanza-style bingo games, 
electronic amusement games, and non-house-banked tournament card games. In addition, certain horse tracks in 
Oklahoma are allowed to operate a limited number of instant and bonanza-style bingo games and electronic 
amusement games. All vendors placing games at any of the racetracks under the compact will ultimately be required 
to be licensed by the state of Oklahoma. Pursuant to the compacts, vendors placing games at tribal facilities will 
have to be licensed by each tribe. All electronic games placed under the compact will have to be certified by 
independent testing laboratories to meet technical specifications. These technical specifications were published by 
the Oklahoma Horse Racing Commission and the individual tribal gaming authorities in the first calendar quarter 
of 2005. 

Class III Games and Systems for Native American and Commercial Casino Markets  

During fiscal 2007, we began designing and developing stand-alone Class III player terminals to be sold or placed 
on a revenue share basis in the very large and broad Class III stand-alone gaming market for Native American 
casinos as well as domestic and international commercial casinos. All player terminals delivered to these markets 
will have to receive specific jurisdictional approvals from the appropriate testing laboratory and from the appropriate 
regulatory agency. Our first group of stand-alone player terminals has been placed in the Class III stand-alone 
market in Rhode Island. We believe that we will deliver additional player terminals to other Class III markets 
beginning in fiscal 2009. We have recently announced key senior management personnel additions which we 
believe will help accelerate our entrance into new Class III markets and traditional commercial gaming jurisdictions. 

Charity Market. Charity bingo and other forms of charity gaming are operated by or for the benefit of nonprofit 
organizations for charitable, educational and other lawful purposes. These games are typically only interconnected 
within the gaming facility where the terminals are located. Regulation of charity gaming is vested with each 
individual state, and in some states, regulatory authority is delegated to county or municipal governmental units. In 
Alabama, our largest charity market, constitutional amendments have been passed authorizing charity bingo in 
certain locations. The regulation of charity bingo in Alabama is typically vested with a local governmental authority. 
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We typically place player terminals under participation arrangements in the charity market and receive a percentage 
of the hold per day generated by each of the player terminals. As of September 30, 2008, we had 2,279 high-speed, 
standard bingo games installed for the charity market in three Alabama facilities. In addition, we had 32 charity 
gaming units in the state of Louisiana at September 30, 2008. 

State Video Lottery Market. In January 2004, we began the first operation of our central determinant system for the 
video lottery terminal network that the New York Lottery operates at licensed New York State racetracks. Our 
central system is able to interface with and manage player terminals that are provided by others. As payment for 
providing and maintaining the central determinant system, we receive a small portion of the network-wide hold per 
day. Our contract with the New York Lottery provides for a three-year term with an additional three one-year 
automatic renewal under certain conditions. We are seeking to take advantage of the recently passed legislation in 
New York State that allows the New York Lottery to extend its vendor contracts at its sole discretion, 
notwithstanding the automatic renewal provision. We are working to significantly extend the current contract which 
is set to expire in 2010. 

International Commercial Bingo Market. In March 2006, we entered into a contract with Apuestas 
Internacionales, S.A. de C.V., or Apuestas, a subsidiary of Grupo Televisa, S.A., to provide traditional and 
electronic bingo gaming, technical assistance, and related services for Apuestas’ locations in Mexico. Apuestas 
currently has a permit issued by the Mexican Ministry of the Interior (Secretaria de Gobernación) to open and 
operate 65 bingo parlors. Apuestas is projecting that all 65 bingo parlors will be open by May 2011. As of 
September 30, 2008, we had installed 4,583 player terminals at 19 parlors in Mexico under this contract with 
Apuestas. At September 30, 2008, all installed player terminals placed are pursuant to a revenue share arrangement 
that is comparable with our Oklahoma market arrangements. 

As of September 30, 2008, we had entered into separate contracts with three other companies incorporated in 
Mexico to provide traditional and electronic bingo gaming, technical assistance, and related services for bingo 
parlors in Mexico. As of September 30, 2008, we had installed 550 player terminals at three parlors in Mexico under 
these contracts. 

Research and Development 
Our research and development activities primarily focus on the development of new gaming systems, gaming 
engines, player tracking systems, casino data management systems, central video lottery systems, gaming platforms 
and content, and enhancements to our existing product lines. We believe our investments in product development 
are necessary to deliver differentiated products and solutions to the marketplace. Research and development costs 
consist primarily of salaries and benefits, consulting fees, and an allocation of corporate facilities costs related to 
these activities. Once the technological feasibility of a project has been established, the software project is 
transferred from research to development, and capitalization of the software development costs begins until the 
product is available for general release. 

For the year ended September 30, 2008, research and development expenses decreased by 10%, to $16.2 million, 
from $18.1 million for the same period of 2007. This decrease primarily resulted from a decreased headcount in our 
development group, as we have realigned our development teams in response to our near-term move toward stand-
alone gaming. We expect our research and development expenses to decrease as we plan to narrow our product 
portfolio and systems. 

Gaming Contracts 
All of our Class II and Class III gaming revenues are derived through contracts with our Native American 
customers. Our contracts typically run over multiple years, and can be terminated earlier under certain specified 
conditions. The contracts specify the quantity and type of player terminals to be installed, and the terms of the rental 
or participation arrangement. In some instances, there is also a limited waiver of sovereign immunity by certain 
tribes that typically provides for the arbitration of any dispute under the contract, and the right to enforce any 
decision of the arbitrator by application to a federal or state court having jurisdiction, while in other instances there 
is no limited waiver of sovereign immunity. Our largest customer, who accounts for over 39% of our revenue, has 
not given us a limited waiver of sovereign immunity. Under these contracts, we are also granted the right, under 
certain circumstances, to enter the land of the Native American tribe for the purpose of removing our property. See 
“Risk Factors – We do not rely upon the term of our customer contracts to retain the business of our customers,” and 
“– Our ability to enforce Contractual Rights on Native American Land.” Furthermore, the NIGC has recently 
expressed concern that some of our “forms of contract” may violate the spirit of the “sole proprietary interest” 
concept that is required to be written into all tribal gaming regulations. 
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Intellectual Property 
We rely to a limited extent upon patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws, license agreements, and 
employee nondisclosure agreements to protect our proprietary rights and technology. Since these laws and 
contractual provisions provide only limited protection, we rely more upon proprietary know-how and continuing 
technological innovation to develop and maintain our competitive position. Insofar as we rely on trade secrets, 
unpatented know-how, and innovation, there is no assurance that others will not independently develop similar 
technology or that secrecy will not be breached. 

Patents, Trademarks and Trade Names. We have patents issued and patents pending in the United States. We also 
have patents pending overseas corresponding to some of our U.S. patents and pending U.S. patent applications. Our 
trademarks and trade names include but are not limited to the following: Players Passport®, MGAMe® System, Reel 
Time Bingo®, MegaNanza®, MegaBingo®, and MegaMania®. All references herein to those trademarks and trade 
names are deemed to include the applicable trade name or trademark designation. See “Risk Factors – We may not 
be successful in protecting our intellectual property rights, or avoiding claims that we are infringing upon the 
intellectual property rights of others.” 

Licenses and Registrations 
We are licensed by the State of Washington to sell Class III video lottery systems and to conduct Class III gaming in 
that state, and we are licensed by the state of Louisiana as a manufacturer of charitable gaming equipment. In 
Minnesota, we are licensed by the state as a linked bingo prize provider. For Class II or Class III gaming, we are 
licensed by all Native American jurisdictions in which we do business. We have sought and obtained determinations 
that our New Generation games are Class II gaming from each tribe’s gaming commission prior to the installation of 
the games in their facilities. We are also licensed by the State of New York for the purpose of providing the 
central-determinant-driven video lottery system operated at certain racetracks. 

In accordance with the Federal Gambling Devices Act of 1962, we are required to register annually with the 
Criminal Division of the United States Department of Justice. This registration is required in order for us to sell, 
distribute, manufacture, transport and/or receive gaming equipment, machines or components across interstate lines. 

Competition 
We currently compete in a variety of gaming markets with companies that are both larger and smaller than we are. 
We compete with other vendors for customers, primarily on the basis of the amount of profit our gaming products 
generate for our customers in relation to other vendors’ gaming products and the prices and / or fees that we choose 
for our products and services. We believe that the most important factor influencing our customers’ product 
selection is the appeal of those products to end users. This appeal has a direct effect on the volume of play by end 
users, and drives the amount of revenue generated for and by our customers. Our ability to remain competitive 
depends primarily on our ability to continuously develop new game themes, gaming engines, hardware platforms 
and systems that appeal to end users, and to introduce those game themes and systems in a timely manner. See “Risk 
Factors – Our future performance will depend on our ability to develop and introduce new gaming systems and to 
enhance existing games that are widely accepted and played.” We may not be able to continue to develop and 
introduce appealing new game themes and systems that meet the demands of current or prospective customers. 

In our core Oklahoma market, we believe the increased competition has and may continue to intensify pressure on 
our pricing model. In the future, gaming providers will compete on the basis of price as well as the entertainment 
value and technological superiority of their products. While we will continue to compete by regularly introducing 
new and faster games with technological enhancements that we believe will appeal to end users, we believe that the 
net revenue retained by our customers from their installed base of player terminals will become a more significant 
factor, one that may require us to change the terms of our participation arrangements with customers to remain 
competitive. 

We plan to market a variety of new gaming platforms, new proprietary content, new innovative gaming systems, and 
new proprietary stand-alone player terminals to both the Native American Class III casino and conventional 
commercial casino markets. These traditional gaming markets are very competitive with companies with significant 
gaming experience and financial resources. 

Employees 
At September 30, 2008, we had 484 full-time and part-time employees, including 210 engaged in field operations 
and business development, 206 in system and game development, 22 in sales and marketing activities, 17 in 
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accounting functions, and 29 in other general administrative and executive functions. We do not have a collective 
bargaining agreement with any of our employees. We believe our relationship with our current employees is good. 

We have announced a plan targeting a $5 million reduction in operating expenses that will be effective no later than 
March 31, 2009. 

Governmental Regulation 
General. We are subject to federal, state and Native American laws and regulations that affect both our general 
commercial relationships with our Native American tribal customers as well as the products and services provided to 
them. We also offer products for charity bingo markets that are subject to state and local regulation. Our ability to 
enter into traditional commercial gaming jurisdictions is subject to established state regulatory requirements. The 
following is only a summary of the more material aspects of these laws and regulations, and is not a complete 
recitation of all applicable law. 

Federal Regulation. The most important pieces of federal legislation affecting our business are: 

 the IGRA which is administered by the NIGC and the Secretary of the United States Department of the 
Interior; and 

 the Federal Gambling Devices Act of 1962, or the Johnson Act, which requires annual registration, and 
various record-keeping and equipment –identification requirements. If we fail to comply with the Johnson 
Act requirements, we could be subject to various penalties including, but not limited to, the seizure and 
forfeiture of equipment. 

Tribal-State Compacts. Native American tribes cannot offer Class III gaming unless, among other things, they are 
parties to compacts with the states in which they operate. The tribal-state compacts typically include provisions 
entitling the state to receive revenues from the income a tribe derives from Class III gaming activities. Although 
compacts are intended to document the agreement between the state and a tribe relative to permitted Class III 
gaming operations, they are agreements, and can be subject to interpretive and other ambiguity and disputes. 
Currently, we operate in three states where compacts significantly affect our business: California, Oklahoma, and 
Washington. 

 Oklahoma. During 2004, the Oklahoma Legislature passed legislation authorizing certain forms of gaming 
at racetracks, and additional types of games at tribal gaming facilities, pursuant to a tribal-state compact. 
The Oklahoma gaming legislation allows the tribes to sign a compact with the state of Oklahoma to operate 
an unlimited number of electronic instant bingo games, electronic bonanza-style bingo games, electronic 
amusement games, and non-house-banked tournament card games. In addition, certain horse tracks in 
Oklahoma are allowed to operate a limited number of instant and bonanza-style bingo games and electronic 
amusement games. All vendors placing games at any of the racetracks under the compact will ultimately be 
required to be licensed by the state of Oklahoma. Pursuant to the compacts, vendors placing games at tribal 
facilities will have to be licensed by each tribe. All electronic games placed under the compact will have to 
be certified by independent testing laboratories to meet technical specifications. These technical 
specifications were published by the Oklahoma Horse Racing Commission and the individual tribal gaming 
authorities in the first calendar quarter of 2005. To date, independent testing labs have given wide latitude 
as to what constitutes a compliant game. 

We believe the 2004 Oklahoma legislation significantly clarifies and expands the types of gaming 
permitted by Native America tribes in that state. We expect continued intensified competition from vendors 
currently operating in Oklahoma, as well as new competitors with significant gaming experience and 
financial resources. As the rules and regulations governing Class II gaming are clarified by court decisions 
and by new rule-making procedures, we anticipate more competition and further pressure on our market 
and revenue share percentages in Oklahoma. New tribal-state compacts, such as the Oklahoma gaming 
legislation passed by referendum in 2004, have also led to increased competition. In addition, we continue 
to experience an extended period of uncertainty relative to enforcement of existing restrictions on non-
Class II devices, which is forcing us to continue competing against games that do not appear to comply 
with the published regulatory restrictions on Class II games. As a result of this increased competition in 
Oklahoma, we have and may continue to experience pressure on our pricing model, with the result that 
gaming providers are competing on the basis of price as well as the entertainment value and technological 
superiority of their products. While we will continue to compete by regularly introducing new and more 
entertaining games with technological enhancements that we believe will appeal to end users, we believe 
that the level of revenue retained by our customers from their installed base of player terminals will become 
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a more significant competitive factor, one that may require us to change the terms of our participation 
arrangements with customers. 

The legislation requires Oklahoma tribes to develop their own licensing procedures. Some of our Oklahoma 
tribal customers have developed these procedures, and others are in the process of defining the procedures. 
For that reason, deployment of games to be operated under the compact in Oklahoma is proceeding at an 
erratic pace and will continue to do so for many months. Moreover, tribal policies and procedures, as well 
as tribal selection of gaming vendors, are subject to the political and governance environment within the 
tribe. Changes in tribal leadership or tribal political pressure can affect our relationships with our 
customers. As a result of these and other considerations, it remains difficult to forecast the short-term 
impact on our business from the recent Oklahoma gaming legislation. 

 Washington. In Washington State, we offer player terminals operated in conjunction with local central 
determinant systems, pursuant to compacts between the state and certain Native American tribes in that 
state. These compacts are recognized by IGRA to permit Class III gaming, which would otherwise be 
illegal. 

Native American Regulation of Gaming. IGRA requires that Native American tribes adopt and submit for NIGC 
approval the ordinances that regulate tribes’ conduct of gaming. While these ordinances vary from tribe to tribe, they 
commonly provide for the following: 

 Native American ownership of the gaming operation; 

 Establishment of an independent tribal gaming commission; 

 Use of gaming net revenues for Native American government, economic development, health, education, 
housing or related purposes; 

 Independent audits, including specific audits of all contracts for amounts greater than $25,000; 

 Native American background investigations and licenses; 

 Adequate safeguards for the environment, public health and safety; and 

 Dispute resolution procedures. 

Pursuant to IGRA, our tribal customers have adopted regulations requiring the tribe to have the “sole proprietary 
interest” in their gaming activities. 

Charity Gaming. Charity bingo facilities are generally operated by nonprofit organizations for charitable, 
educational and other lawful purposes. Charity bingo is not currently subject to a nationwide regulatory system such 
as the one created by IGRA to regulate Native American gaming, so regulation is on a state-by-state, and sometimes 
a county-by-county basis. We currently offer charity bingo gaming systems in the state of Alabama pursuant to state 
and county regulations. We also offer games to certain operators in the state of Louisiana. 

International Commercial Bingo Market. We started business in Mexico in 2006. The Mexican bingo (lottery of 
numbers) market is regulated by Mexico’s Ministry of the Interior (Secretaría de Gobernación), a branch of the 
federal government. The entities and individuals who have obtained bingo (lottery of number) permits may only 
operate player terminals that comply with Mexican law and regulations, from time to time in effect. Accordingly, 
our contracts require us to provide player terminals that comply with said laws and regulations, and therefore, we 
submit our games for compliance certification to an independent lab prior to placing them in a facility of a permit 
holder. 

Available Information. Through the Investor Relations link on our website, www.multimediagames.com, we make 
available free of charge to the public, as soon as reasonably practicable after such information has been filed with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 
10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports furnished pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of 
the Securities Exchange Act. The public may read and copy any materials we file with or furnish to the SEC at the 
SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. The public may also obtain 
information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC also 
maintains a website, www.sec.gov, which includes reports, proxy and information statements, and other information 
regarding us and other issuers that file electronically with the SEC. Our website and the information contained 
therein or connected thereto are not intended to be incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  
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Additionally, we make available free of charge on our internet website: i) our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics; 
ii) the charter of our Nominating and Governance Committee; iii) the charter of our Compensation Committee; and 
iv) the charter of our Audit Committee. 

Multimedia Games, Inc. was incorporated in Texas on August 30, 1991. Unless the context otherwise requires, the 
terms “Company,” “MGAM,” “we,” “us,” and “our” include Multimedia Games, Inc., and our wholly-owned 
subsidiaries: Megabingo, Inc.; MGAM Systems, Inc.; Innovative Sweepstakes Systems, Inc.; MGAM Services, 
LLC; MGAM Systems International, Inc.; Megabingo International, LLC; Multimedia Games de Mexico 1, S. de 
R.L. de C.V.; and Servicios de Wild Basin S. de R.L. de C.V. Our executive offices are located at 206 Wild Basin 
Rd., Bldg. B, Fourth Floor, Austin, Texas, 78746, and our telephone number is (512) 334-7500. 
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ITEM 1A.  Risk Factors 

The following risk factors should be carefully considered in connection with the other information and financial 
statements contained in this Annual Report, including “PART II – Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” If any of these risks actually occur, our business, financial 
condition and results of operations could be seriously and materially harmed, and the trading price of our common 
stock could decline. 

Our business operations and product offerings are subject to strict regulatory licenses, findings of suitability, 
registrations, permits and/or approvals. 

Our ability to conduct our existing traditional business, expand operations, develop and distribute new products, 
games and systems, and expand into new gaming markets is subject to significant federal, state, local, Native 
American, and foreign regulations. Specifically, our company, officers, directors, key employees, major 
shareholders, and products, games and systems are subject to licenses, findings of suitability, registrations, permits 
and/or approvals necessary for the operation of our gaming activities. 

We have received licenses, findings of suitability, registrations, permits and/or approvals from a number of state, 
local, Native American, and foreign gaming regulatory authorities. Our tribal customers are empowered to develop 
their own licensing procedures and requirements, and we currently have limited, if any, information regarding the 
ultimate process or expenses involved with securing and or maintaining licensure by the tribes. Moreover, tribal 
policies and procedures, as well as tribal selection of gaming vendors, are subject to the political and governance 
environment within the tribe. 

We may require new licenses, permits and approvals in the future, and such licenses, permits or approvals may not 
be granted to us. Obtaining and maintaining all required licenses, findings of suitability, registrations, permits and/or 
approvals is time consuming and expensive. The suspension, revocation, nonrenewal or limitation of any of our 
licenses would have a material adverse effect on our business operations, financial condition and results of 
operations. 

Our ability to effectively compete in Native American gaming markets is vulnerable to legal and regulatory 
uncertainties. 

Historically, we have derived most of our revenue from the placement of Class II player terminals and systems for 
gaming activities conducted on Native American lands. These activities are subject to federal regulation under the 
Gambling Devices Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1171, et seq (“Johnson Act”), the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act of 1988 
(“IGRA”), the National Indian Gaming Commission (“NIGC”), and the regulatory requirements of various tribal 
gaming commissions. The Johnson Act broadly defines “gambling devices” to include any “machine or mechanical 
device” designed and manufactured “primarily” for use in connection with gambling, and that, when operated, 
delivers money or other property to a player “as the result of the application of an element of chance.” A 
government agency or court that literally applied this definition, and did not give effect to subsequent congressional 
legislation or to certain regulatory interpretations or judicial decisions, could determine that the manufacture and use 
of our electronic player terminals, and perhaps other key components of our Class II gaming systems that rely to 
some extent upon electronic equipment to run a game, constitute Class III gaming and, in the absence of a tribal-
state compact, are illegal. Our tribal customers could be subject to significant fines and penalties if it is ultimately 
determined they are offering an illegal game, and an adverse regulatory or judicial determination regarding the legal 
status of our products could have material adverse consequences for our business, operating results and prospects. 
Other government enforcement, regulatory action, judicial decisions, proposed legislative action, rumors that have in 
the past and will continue to affect our business, operating results and prospects, include but are not limited to: 

 proposed legislation that would classify electronic technologic aids used by Native American tribes in 
Class II games, such as bingo, as gambling devices, and/or require certification by the NIGC of the Class II 
technologic aids;  

 proposed legislation that would authorize the NIGC to promulgate regulations regarding the use of 
technologic aids; 

 proposed rules by the NIGC concerning classification standards to distinguish between Class II games 
played with technologic aids and Class III facsimiles of games of chance, a revision of the definition of 
“electronic or electromechanical facsimile; 

 proposed legislation and/or rules that would allow the NIGC authority to review contracts between Native 
American tribes and their suppliers; 
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 government enforcement, regulatory action, judicial decisions, or the prospects or rumors involving any of 
our games which have not been reviewed and / or approved as legal Class II games by the NIGC;  

 contractual and regulatory interpretations and enforcement actions by state regulators and/or courts with 
regard to compacts between the state various tribes, including but not limited to tribes with compacts in the 
states of Washington and Oklahoma; 

 adverse rulings regarding game classification by state and/or federal courts; 

 adverse regulatory decisions by tribal gaming commissions; 

 lack of regulatory or judicial enforcement action. In particular, we believe we have lost, and could continue 
to lose, market share to competitors who offer games that do not appear to comply with published 
regulatory restrictions on Class II games, and thereby offer features not available in our products; 

 the use of sovereign immunity by the tribes to interfere with our ability to enforce our contractual rights on 
Native American land;  

 new laws and regulations relating to Native American gaming may be enacted, and that existing laws and 
regulations could be amended or reinterpreted in a manner adverse to our business; 

 investigations by the Inspector General for the Department of the Interior and the Acting General Counsel 
for the NIGC into the practice of certain tribes conducting gaming on land originally acquired in trust for 
non-gaming purposes; and 

 a determination by the NIGC that our development agreements, either by themselves or when taken 
together with other agreements demonstrate a proprietary interest by us in the tribes gaming activity. 
Management contracts are subject to additional regulatory requirements and oversight, including 
preapproval by the NIGC that could delay our providing products and services to customers, as well as 
divert customers to our competitors. 

All of the above risk factors could result in significant and immediate adverse impacts on our business and operating 
results. Additionally, each of the above described risk factors increase the cost of doing business and could take our 
executives’ attention away from operations. The trading price of our common stock has in the past and may in the 
future be subject to significant fluctuations based upon market perceptions of the legal status of our products and our 
ability to compete in the Native American markets. Regulatory action against our customers or equipment in these 
or in other markets could result in machine seizures and significant revenue disruptions, among other adverse 
consequences. Moreover, tribal policies and procedures, as well as tribal selection of gaming vendors, are subject to 
the political and governance environment within the tribe. Changes in tribal leadership or tribal political pressure 
can affect our business relationships within Native American markets. 

The ultimate outcome of pending litigation is uncertain. 

We are involved in a number of commercial and intellectual property litigation matters. Current estimates of loss 
regarding pending litigation may not be reflective of final outcome. The results of rulings, judgments and/or 
settlements of pending litigation may result in financial liability that is materially higher than what management has 
estimated at this time. We make no assurances that we will not be subject to liability with respect to current or future 
litigation. We maintain various forms of insurance coverage. However, substantial rulings, judgments and/or 
settlements could exceed the amount of insurance coverage (or any cost allocation agreement with an insurance 
carrier), or could be excluded under the terms of an existing insurance policy. Additionally, failure to secure 
favorable outcomes in pending litigation could result in adverse consequences to our business, operating results 
and/or overall financial condition (including without limitation, possible adverse effects on compliance with the 
terms of our credit facility). 

Our ability to enforce contractual rights on Native American land. 

Federally recognized Native American tribes are independent governments, subordinate to the United States, with 
sovereign powers, except as those powers may have been limited by treaty or by the United States Congress. The 
power of Native Americans tribes to enact their own laws, regulate gaming operations and contracts, is an exercise 
of Native American sovereignty, as recognized by IGRA. Native American tribes maintain their own governmental 
systems and often their own judicial systems. Native American tribes have the right to tax persons and enterprises 
conducting business on Native American lands, and also have the right to require licenses and to impose other forms 
of regulation and regulatory fees on persons and businesses operating on their lands. 
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In the absence of a specific grant of authority by Congress, states may regulate activities taking place on Native 
American lands only if the tribe has a specific agreement or compact with the state. Our contracts with Native 
American customers normally provide that only certain provisions will be subject to the governing law of the state 
in which a tribe is located. However, these choice-of-law clauses may not be enforceable. 

Native American tribes generally enjoy sovereign immunity from suits similar to that of the individual states and the 
United States. In order to sue a Native American tribe (or an agency or instrumentality of a Native American tribe), 
the tribe must have effectively waived its sovereign immunity with respect to the matter in dispute. 

Our contracts with some Native American customers include a limited waiver of each tribe’s sovereign immunity, 
and generally provide that any dispute regarding interpretation, performance or enforcement shall be submitted to, 
and resolved by, arbitration in accordance with the Commercial Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration 
Association, and that any award, determination, order or relief resulting from such arbitration is binding and may be 
entered in any court having jurisdiction. However, in some instance, there is no limited waiver of sovereign 
immunity. Our largest customer, who accounts for over 39% of our revenue, has not given us a limited waiver of 
sovereign immunity. In the instances where tribes have not waived sovereign immunity, or in the event that a limited 
waiver of sovereign immunity is held to be ineffective, we could be precluded from judicially enforcing any rights 
or remedies against a tribe. These rights and remedies include, but are not limited to, our right to enter Native 
American lands to retrieve our property in the event of a breach of contract by the tribe party to that contract. 

If a Native American tribe has effectively waived its sovereign immunity, there exists an issue as to the forum in 
which a lawsuit can be brought against the tribe. Federal courts are courts of limited jurisdiction and generally do 
not have jurisdiction to hear civil cases relating to Native Americans. In addition, contractual provisions that purport 
to grant jurisdiction to a federal court are not effective. Federal courts may have jurisdiction if a federal question is 
raised by the suit, which is unlikely in a typical contract dispute. Diversity of citizenship, another common basis for 
federal court jurisdiction, is not generally present in a suit against a tribe, because a Native American tribe is not 
considered a citizen of any state. Accordingly, in most commercial disputes with tribes, the jurisdiction of the 
federal courts may be difficult or impossible to obtain. We may be unable to enforce any arbitration decision 
effectively. 

Our expansion into non-Native American gaming activities will present new challenges and risks that could 
adversely affect our business or results of operations. 

As we expand into new markets, we expect to encounter business, legal, operational and regulatory uncertainties 
similar to those we face in our Native American gaming business. As a result, we may encounter legal and 
regulatory challenges that are difficult or impossible to foresee and which could result in an unforeseen adverse 
impact on planned revenues or costs associated with the new market opportunity. If we are unable to effectively 
develop and operate within these new markets, then our business, operating results and financial condition would be 
impaired. 

Successful growth in accordance with our strategy may require us to make changes to our gaming systems to ensure 
that they comply with applicable regulatory requirements, and may require us to obtain additional licenses. In 
certain jurisdictions and for certain venues, our ability to enter these markets will depend on effecting changes to 
existing laws and regulatory regimes. The ability to effect these changes is subject to a great degree of uncertainty 
and may never be achieved. We may not be successful in entering into other segments of the gaming industry. 

Generally, our placement of systems, games and technology into new market segments involves a number of 
business uncertainties, including: 

 Whether our resources and expertise will enable us to effectively operate and grow in such new markets; 

 Whether our internal processes and controls will continue to function effectively within these new 
segments; 

 Whether we have enough experience to accurately predict revenues and expenses in these new markets; 

 Whether the diversion of management attention and resources from our traditional business, caused by 
entering into new market segments, will have harmful effects on our traditional business; 

 Whether we will be able to successfully compete against larger companies who dominate the markets that 
we are trying to enter; and 

 Whether we can timely perform under our agreements in these new markets. 
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Our ability to expand into international gaming markets will present new challenges and risks that could 
adversely affect our business or results of operations.  

We have only recently begun to develop international business, and we realized revenue from the sale of an 
Electronic Instant Lottery System to the Israel National Lottery during fiscal 2006 and from contracts to supply 
Electronic Bingo Terminals to casinos in Mexico during fiscal years 2006, 2007, and 2008. Neither our transactions 
in Israel nor in Mexico have been profitable to date or are currently profitable, and may not lead to future profitable 
business. To date, there are not as many permanent facilities opened in Mexico as we originally projected, and the 
hold per day in certain of the open facilities in Mexico has not met our original expectations. There can be no 
assurances that our games will gain market acceptance in Mexico, additional facilities will open in Mexico, or that 
the hold per day will increase in those facilities in Mexico currently not meeting our expectations. International 
transactions are subject to various risks, including but not limited to: 

 Currency fluctuations; 

 Higher operating costs due to local laws or regulations; 

 Unexpected changes in regulatory requirements; 

 Tariffs and other trade barriers 

 Costs and risks of localizing products for foreign countries; 

 Difficulties in staffing and managing geographically disparate operations; 

 Greater difficulty in safeguarding intellectual property, licensing and other trade restrictions; 

 Challenges negotiating and enforcing contractual provisions; 

 Repatriation of earnings; and 

 Anti-American sentiment due to the war in Iraq and other American policies that may be unpopular in 
certain regions, particularly in the Middle East. 

Our ability to comply with interpretation of federal regulations. 

We may face regulatory risks as a result of interpretations of other federal regulations, such as banking regulations, 
as applied to our gaming systems. We may be required to make changes to our games to comply with such 
regulations, with attendant costs and delays that could adversely affect our business. Specifically, the IRS is 
conducting a Bank Secrecy Act audit at one of the tribal casinos, the NIGC has deferred a determination of whether 
the tribal gaming operations are in compliance with (25 C.F.R. § 542.3(c)(2) until the IRS audit is completed. 

Our ability to develop, enhance and/or introduce successful gaming systems and games. 

We may be unable to successfully and cost effectively develop and introduce new and enhanced gaming systems, 
games and content that will be widely accepted both by our customers and their end users. Additionally, we may be 
unable to enhance existing products in a timely manner in response to changing regulatory, legal or market 
conditions or customer requirements, or new products and/or new versions of our existing products may not achieve 
market acceptance. A decrease in demand for our games could also result in an increase in our inventory 
obsolescence charges. 

Our limited control over our customer’s casino operations. 

Collectively our senior management has decades of successful experience in gaming operations. Where appropriate, 
we seek to provide assistance to our key customers in the form of project management, with a focus on facility 
layout and planning, gaming floor configuration and customized marketing and promotional initiatives. However, 
our key customers are solely responsible for the operations of their facilities. Our key customers may not take our 
advice on their operations, marketing, facility layout, gaming floor configuration, and / or promotional initiatives. 
To the extent that our machines are not a part of an optimized facility layout or gaming floor configuration, and / or 
to the extent that our machines are not supported by effective marketing / promotional initiatives, our operating 
results could suffer. 

Our dependence upon a few customers who are based in Oklahoma. 

For the years ended September 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006, approximately 58%, 59% and 52%, respectively, of our 
gaming revenues were from Native American tribes located in Oklahoma, and approximately 39%, 42% and 36%, 
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respectively, of our gaming revenues were from one tribe in that state. The significant concentration of our 
customers in Oklahoma means that local economic changes may adversely affect our customers, and therefore our 
business, disproportionately to changes in national economic conditions, including more sudden adverse economic 
declines or slower economic recovery from prior declines. The loss of any of our Oklahoma tribes as customers 
would have a material and adverse effect upon our financial condition and results of operations. In addition, the 
legislation allowing tribal-state compacts in Oklahoma has resulted in increased competition from other vendors, 
who we believe have avoided entry into the Oklahoma market due to its uncertain and ambiguous legal 
environment. The legislation allows for other types of gaming, both at tribal gaming facilities and at Oklahoma 
racetracks. The loss of significant market share to these new gaming opportunities or our competitors’ products in 
Oklahoma could also have a material adverse effect upon our financial condition and results of operations. 

We believe the introduction of more aggressive instant bingo machines, with characteristics of traditional slot 
machines, into the Oklahoma market, has adversely affected our operating results and market position in that state 
and may continue to do so in the future. 

State compacts with our existing Native American customers to allow Class III gaming. 

As our Class II tribal customers enter into such compacts with the states in which they operate, allowing the tribes to 
offer Class III games, we believe the number of our game machine placements in those customers’ facilities could 
decline significantly, and our operating results could be materially adversely affected. As our tribal customers make 
the transition to gaming under compacts with the state, we believe there will be significant uncertainty in the market 
for our games that will make our business more difficult to manage or predict. 

As a result, we anticipate further pressure on our market and revenue share percentages in Oklahoma or the market 
could shift from revenue share arrangements to a “for sale” model. We believe the establishment of state compacts 
depends on a number of political, social, and economic factors which are inherently difficult to ascertain. 
Accordingly, although we attempt to closely monitor state legislative developments that could affect our business, 
we may not be able to timely predict when or if a compact could be entered into by one or more of our tribal 
customers. 

Our ability to realize satisfactory returns on money lent to new and existing customers to develop or expand 
gaming facilities. 

We enter into development agreements to provide financing for construction and/or remodeling of gaming facilities, 
primarily in the state of Oklahoma. Under our development agreements, we secure a long-term revenue share 
percentage and a fixed number of player terminal placements in the facility, in exchange for development and 
construction funding. However, we may not realize the anticipated benefits of any of these strategic relationships or 
financing. In connection with one or more of these transactions, and to obtain the necessary development funds, we 
may: issue additional equity securities which would dilute existing stockholders; extend secured and unsecured 
credit to potential or existing tribal customers which may not be repaid; incur debt on terms unfavorable to us or that 
we are unable to repay; and incur contingent liabilities. 

Our development efforts or financing activities may result in unforeseen operating difficulties, financial risks, or 
required expenditures that could adversely affect our liquidity. It may also divert the time and attention of our 
management that would otherwise be available for ongoing development of our business. In addition, certain of the 
agreements contain performance standards for our player terminals that could allow the facility to reduce a portion 
of our player terminals. 

The NIGC has expressed its view that our development agreements violate the requirements of IGRA and tribal 
gaming regulations, which state that the Native American tribes must hold “sole proprietary interest” in the tribes’ 
gaming operations, which presents additional risks for our business. See “Certain Risk Factors – Our ability to 
effectively compete in Native American gaming markets is vulnerable to legal and regulatory uncertainties.” 

In the past we have, and in the future we expect to, reduce our floor space in certain of our Class II facilities as a 
result of ongoing competitive pressures faced by our customers from alternative gaming facilities and faced by our 
machines from competitors’ products. In addition, future NIGC decisions could affect our ability to place our games 
with these tribes. 
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Our industry is intensely competitive. 

We compete in an intensely competitive industry against larger companies with significant financial, research design 
and development, and marketing resources. These larger companies are aggressively competing against us in our 
core business operations, including but not limited to, charity bingo, lottery, Class II, Class III, and international 
bingo markets. Additionally, new smaller competitors may enter our traditional markets. The increased competition 
will intensify pressure on our pricing model. We expect to face increased competition as we attempt to enter new 
markets and new geographical locations. In the future, gaming providers will compete on the basis of price as well 
as the entertainment value and technological superiority of their products. 

Other members of our industry may independently develop games similar to our games, and competitors may 
introduce noncompliant games that unfairly compete in certain markets due to uneven regulatory enforcement 
policies. 

Additionally, or customers compete with other providers of entertainment for their end user’s entertainment budget. 
Consequently, our customers might not be able to spend new capital on acquiring gaming equipment. Moreover, our 
customers might reduce their utilization of revenue share agreements. 

We may not be successful in protecting our intellectual property rights, or avoiding claims that we are 
infringing upon the intellectual property rights of others. 

We rely upon patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws, license agreements and employee nondisclosure 
agreements to protect our proprietary rights and technology, but these laws and contractual provisions provide only 
limited protection. We rely to a greater extent upon proprietary know-how and continuing technological innovation 
to maintain our competitive position. Insofar as we rely on trade secrets, unpatented know-how and innovation, 
others may be able to independently develop similar technology, or our secrecy could be breached. The issuance of a 
patent to us does not necessarily mean that our technology does not infringe upon the intellectual property rights of 
others. As we enter into new markets by leveraging our existing technology, and by developing new technology and 
new products, it becomes more and more likely that we will become subject to infringement claims from other 
parties. We are currently involved in several patent disputes. See Item 3. Legal Proceedings. Problems with patents 
or other rights could increase the cost of our products, or delay or preclude new product development and 
commercialization. If infringement claims against us are valid, we may seek licenses that might not be available to 
us on acceptable terms or at all. Litigation would be costly and time consuming, but may become necessary to 
protect our proprietary rights or to defend against infringement claims. We could incur substantial costs and 
diversion of management resources in the defense of any claims relating to the proprietary rights of others or in 
asserting claims against others. We cannot guarantee that our intellectual property will provide us with a competitive 
advantage or that it will not be circumvented by competitors.  

We rely on software licensed from third parties, and technology provided by third-party vendors, the loss of 
which could increase our costs and delay deployment and/or suspend of our gaming systems and player 
terminals. 

We integrate various third-party software products as components of our software. Our business would be disrupted 
if this software, or functional equivalents of this software, were either no longer available to us or no longer offered 
to us on commercially reasonable terms. In either case, we would be required to either redesign our software to 
function with alternate third-party software, or develop these components ourselves, which would result in increased 
costs and could result in delays in our deployment of our gaming systems and player terminals. Furthermore, we 
might be forced to limit the features available in our current or future software offerings. 

We rely on the content of certain software that we license from third-party vendors. The software could contain bugs 
that could have an impact on our business. 

We also rely on the technology of third-party vendors, such as telecommunication providers, to operate our 
nationwide broadband telecommunications network. A serious or sustained disruption of the provision of these 
services could result in some of our player terminals being non-operational for the duration of the disruption, which 
would adversely affect our ability to generate revenue from those player terminals. 
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Our Credit Facility contains covenants that limit our ability to finance future operations or capital needs, or 
to engage in other business activities. 

The operating and financial restrictions and covenants in our debt agreements, including the Credit Facility may 
adversely affect our ability to finance future operations or capital needs or to engage in other business activities. Our 
Credit Facility requires us to maintain a minimum EBITDA of $60 million on a trailing twelve month basis, a total 
debt to EBITDA leverage ratio of no more than 1.75:1.00 and a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of at 
least 1.5:1.0. The Credit Facility contains certain covenants that, among other things, restrict our ability as well as 
our restricted subsidiaries’ ability to: 

 incur additional indebtedness, assume a guarantee or issue preferred stock; 

 pay dividends or make other equity distributions or payments to or affecting our subsidiaries; 

 purchase treasury stock; 

 make certain investments; 

 create liens; 

 sell or dispose of assets or engage in mergers or consolidations; 

 engage in certain transactions with subsidiaries and affiliates; 

 enter into sale leaseback transactions; and; 

 certain business activities. 

These restrictions could limit our ability to obtain future financing, make strategic acquisitions or needed capital 
expenditures, withstand economic downturns in our business or the economy in general, conduct operations or 
otherwise take advantage of business opportunities that may arise. A failure to comply with the restrictions 
contained in the Credit Facility could lead to an event of default, which could result in an acceleration of our 
indebtedness. Such acceleration would constitute an event of default under the indentures governing the senior 
unsecured notes. Our future operating results may not be sufficient to enable compliance with the covenants in the 
Credit Facility or to remedy any such default. In addition, in the event of acceleration, we may not have or be able to 
obtain sufficient funds to refinance our indebtedness or make any accelerated payments. Also, we may not be able to 
obtain new financing. Even if we were able to obtain new financing, we cannot guarantee that the new financing will 
be on commercially reasonable terms or terms that are acceptable to us. If we default on our indebtedness, our 
business financial condition and results of operation could be materially and adversely affected. 

We do not rely upon the term of our customer contracts to retain the business of our customers. 

Our contracts with our customers are on a year-to-year or multi-year basis. Except for customers with whom we 
have entered into development agreements, we do not rely upon the stated term of our customer contracts to retain 
the business of our customers, as often noncontractual considerations unique to doing business in the Native 
American market override strict adherence to contractual provisions. We rely instead upon providing competitively 
superior player terminals, games and systems to give our customers the incentive to continue doing business with us. 
At any point in time, a significant portion of our business is subject to nonrenewal, and, if not renewed, would 
materially and adversely affect our earnings, financial condition and cash flows. 

If our key personnel leave us, our business could be materially adversely affected. 

We depend on the continued performance of the members of our senior management team and our technology team. 
If we were to lose the services of any of our senior officers, directors, or any key member of our technology team, 
and could not find suitable replacements for such persons in a timely manner, it could have a material adverse effect 
on our business. 

We may incur prize payouts in excess of game revenues. 

Certain of our contracts with our Native American customers relating to our Legacy and Reel Time Bingo system 
games provide that our customers receive, on a daily basis, an agreed percentage of gross gaming revenues based 
upon an assumed level of prize payouts, rather than the actual level of prize payouts. This can result in our paying 
our customers amounts greater than our customers’ percentage share of the actual hold per day. In addition, because 
the prizes awarded in our games are based upon assumptions as to the number of players in each game and statistical 
assumptions as to the frequency of winners, we may experience on any day, or over short periods of time, a “game 
deficit,” where the aggregate amount of prizes paid exceeds aggregate game revenues. If we have to make any 
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excess payments to customers, or experience a game deficit over any statistically relevant period of time, we are 
contractually entitled to adjust the rates of prize payout to end users in order to recover any deficit. In the future, we 
may miscalculate our statistical assumptions, or for other reasons, we may experience abnormally high rates of 
jackpot prize wins, which could materially and adversely affect our cash flow on a temporary or long-term basis, 
and which could materially and adversely affect our earnings and financial condition. 

If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to accurately report 
financial results or prevent fraud. 

Effective internal controls are necessary to provide reliable financial reports and to assist in the effective prevention 
of fraud. Any inability to provide reliable financial reports or prevent fraud could harm our business. We must 
annually evaluate our internal procedures to satisfy the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 
of 2002, which requires management and auditors to assess the effectiveness of internal controls. If we fail to 
remedy or maintain the adequacy of its internal controls, as such standards are modified, supplemented or amended 
from time to time, the Company could be subject to regulatory scrutiny, civil or criminal penalties or shareholder 
litigation. 

In addition, failure to maintain adequate internal controls could result in financial statements that do not accurately 
reflect our financial condition. There can be no assurance that we will be able to complete the work necessary to 
fully comply with the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act or that our management and our independent 
registered public accounting firm will continue to conclude that our internal controls are effective. 

Our business prospects and future success rely heavily upon the integrity of our employees and executives 
and the security of our gaming systems. 

The integrity and security of our gaming systems is critical to its ability to attract customers and players. We strive 
to set exacting standards of personal integrity for our employees and for system security involving the gaming 
systems that we provide to our customers. Our reputation in this regard is an important factor in our business 
dealings with our current and potential customers. For this reason, an allegation or a finding of improper conduct on 
our part or on the part of one or more of our employees that is attributable to us, or of an actual or alleged system 
security defect or failure attributable to us could have a material adverse effect upon our business, financial 
condition, results, and prospects, including our ability to retain existing contracts or obtain new or renewed 
contracts. 

Our games and systems may experience loss based on malfunctions, anomalies and/or fraudulent activities. 

Our games and systems could produce false payouts as the result of malfunctions, anomalies and/or fraudulent 
activities. We depend on our security precautions to prevent fraud. We depend on regulatory safeguards, which may 
not be available in all jurisdictions and/or markets, to protect us against jackpots awarded as a result of 
malfunctions, anomalies and/or fraudulent activities. There can be no guarantee that regulatory safeguards, in 
jurisdictions and/or markets were they do exist, will be sufficient to protect us from liabilities associated with 
malfunctions, anomalies and/or fraudulent activities. 

The occurrence of malfunctions, anomalies and/or fraudulent activities could result in litigation against us by our 
customers based on lost revenue and or other claims based in tort or breach of contract. Moreover, these occurrences 
could result in investigations and/or disciplinary actions by applicable gaming regulators. 

Any disruption in our network or telecommunications services, or adverse weather conditions in the areas in 
which we operate could affect our ability to operate our games, which would result in reduced revenues and 
customer down time. 

Our network is susceptible to outages due to fire, floods, power loss, break-ins, cyberattacks and similar events. We 
have multiple site back-up for our services in the event of any such occurrence. Despite our implementation of 
network security measures, our servers are vulnerable to computer viruses and break-ins; similar disruptions from 
unauthorized tampering with our computer systems in any such event could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, operating results and financial condition. 

Adverse weather conditions, particularly flooding, tornadoes, heavy snowfall and other extreme weather conditions 
often deter our end users from traveling, or make it difficult for them to frequent the sites where our games are 
installed. If any of those sites experienced prolonged adverse weather conditions, or if the sites in Oklahoma, where 
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a significant number of our games are installed, simultaneously experienced adverse weather conditions, our results 
of operations and financial condition would be materially adversely affected. 

In addition, our agreement with the New York State Division of the Lottery permits termination of the contract at 
any time for failure by us or our system to perform properly. Failure to perform under this or similar contracts could 
result in substantial monetary damages, as well as contract termination. 

In addition, we enter into certain agreements that could require us to pay damages resulting from loss of revenues if 
our systems are not properly functioning, or as a result of a system malfunction or an inaccurate pay table. 

Worsening economic conditions may adversely affect our business. 

The demand for entertainment and leisure activities tends to be highly sensitive to consumers’ disposable incomes, 
and thus a decline in general economic conditions or an increase in gasoline prices may lead to our end users having 
less discretionary income with which to wager. This could cause a reduction in our revenues and have a material 
adverse effect on our operating results. The gaming industry is currently experiencing a period of reduced demand. 
If, as a result of deteriorating economic conditions, fewer people gamble in our customers' facilities, or if amounts 
spent per person in our customers' facilities are reduced from historical levels, our business could be materially and 
adversely affected. 

Additionally, a decline in general economic conditions might negatively impact our customers’ ability to pay us in a 
timely fashion. Our customers’ failure to make timely payments could result in an increase in our bad debt 
provision. 

Our ability to recognize revenue at the time of sale and delivery is dependent upon obtaining Vendor-Specific 
Objective Evidence, or VSOE, for products yet to be delivered or services yet to be performed. 

We believe future transactions with existing and future customers may be more complex than transactions entered 
into currently. As a result, we may enter into more complicated business and contractual relationships with 
customers which, in turn, can engender increased complexity in the related financial accounting. Legal and 
regulatory uncertainty may also affect our ability to recognize revenue associated with a particular project, and 
therefore the timing and possibility of actual revenue recognition may differ from our forecast. 

The carrying value of our assets in Mexico is dependent upon our ability to successfully deploy games into 
Mexico. 

We have excess player stations not deployed at September 30, 2008, which were intended to be deployed at facilities 
in Mexico. If the opening of facilities is altered negatively, either by significant delay, or by cancellation, the 
realizable value of these assets could be reduced. In such instances we may be required to recognize increased 
expense on our income statement related to the impairment of these assets. 
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ITEM 1B.  Unresolved Staff Comments 

None 

ITEM 2.  Properties 

We do not own any real property. As of September 30, 2008, we are under contract for the following leases, and we 
believe the facilities are suitable to our business and adequate for our current and near-term needs: 

 
Austin, Texas Square Feet Monthly Rent Expiration Date

Corporate Offices 67,761  $ 124,627 July 2010 
Assembly and Warehouse Facilities 44,940 45,504 December 2011

Tulsa, Oklahoma    
Operations and Sales Offices 3,736 3,105 February 2010 
Warehouse 77,000 13,220 May 2009 

Plano, Texas    
Technology Offices 5,010 8,350 April 2010 

Kent, Washington    
Warehouse 14,400 8,069 August 2011 

Albany, New York    
Office Space 2,708 3,660 December 2009

Schenectady, New York    
System Operations 1,690 3,012 September 2009

St. Paul, Minnesota    
Office/Warehouse 3,000 1,875 March 2009 

Mexico City, Mexico    
Office/Warehouse/Training Center 26,039 16,802 May 2009 

ITEM 3.  Legal Proceedings 

Diamond Game Enterprises, Inc. On November 16, 2004, Diamond Game Enterprises, Inc., or Diamond Game, 
filed suit in the State Court in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, against us, along with others, including Clifton Lind, 
Robert Lannert, Gordon Graves, Video Gaming Technologies, Inc., or VGT, and its president, John Yarbrough, 
alleging five causes of action: (i) deceptive trade practices; (ii) unfair competition; (iii) wrongful interference with 
business; (iv) malicious wrong / prima facie tort; and (v) restraint of trade. The case asserts that we offered allegedly 
illegal Class III games on the MegaNanza® and Reel Time Bingo® gaming systems to Native American tribes in 
Oklahoma. Diamond Game claims that the offer of these games negatively affected the market for its pull-tab game, 
Lucky Tab II. Diamond Game also alleges that our development agreements with Native American tribes unfairly 
interfere with the ability of Diamond Game to successfully conduct its business. Diamond Game is seeking 
injunctive relief and unspecified damages in excess of $65 million. Diamond Game’s theories of recovery include 
claims for actual, treble and punitive damages, as well as revenue disgorgement. 

Diamond Game and VGT (and its principals) entered into a confidential settlement agreement in September 2007. 
We will be given credit for the actual amount of that settlement should any verdict be entered against us in 
connection with this case. Two motions had been pending before the court in connection with the matter: 
(i) Diamond Game filed a motion for partial summary judgment seeking a court ruling on game classification for 
MegaNanza and Reel Time Bingo; and (ii) we filed a motion seeking summary judgment based on jurisdictional 
issues. On November 29, 2007, the trial court denied our motion for summary judgment on the jurisdictional issues, 
and ruled on Diamond Game’s motion for partial summary judgment, finding that our MegaNanza and Reel Time 
Bingo versions 1.0, 1.1 and 1.2 games are not Class II games under the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act of 1988, or 
IGRA, but instead are Class III games. 

The court’s ruling stated that it was not binding on our tribal customers and we do not expect any of the Reel Time 
Bingo games currently in play in Oklahoma to be removed as a result of the court’s ruling. Other game versions 
included in the ruling are not in play in Oklahoma. The court’s rulings are not dispositive of the case and the opinion 
has no affect on the right of Native American tribes to play games offered by us. The trial court granted our motion 
for immediate certification of its ruling to the Oklahoma Supreme Court. We sought immediate review of the trial 
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court’s decision. On February 19, 2008, the Oklahoma Supreme Court denied our request for immediate review of 
the trial court’s decision. The action of the Oklahoma Supreme Court does not preclude a subsequent appeal of the 
trial court’s decision and we will continue to assert that the games in question are legal Class II games, and that 
game classification cannot be decided by an Oklahoma State Court. Presently, the parties remain engaged in pre-trial 
discovery. The trial court has assigned a jury trial date of March 23, 2009.  

While we continue to vigorously defend ourselves and believe that our MegaNanza and Reel Time Bingo 
versions 1.0, 1.1 and 1.2 games were in fact Class II games, given the inherent uncertainties in this litigation, we are 
unable to make any prediction as to the ultimate outcome. 

Kaw Nation of Oklahoma. In a related case, the Kaw Nation of Oklahoma, a Native American Tribe in Oklahoma, 
filed suit against Diamond Game Enterprises, Inc. and Oklahoma State Court District Judge Noma Gurich on 
October 14, 2008. We, along with Clifton Lind, Robert Lannert and Gordon Graves joined the Kaw Nation as 
Plaintiffs in that lawsuit. The Kaw Nation claims that the assumption of jurisdiction and determination by Judge 
Gurich over the determination of the classification under IGRA of MegaNanza and Reel Time Bingo, which the 
Kaw Nation had previously classified as Class II, violated the Kaw Nation’s sovereign rights, as well as its rights 
under IGRA as the primary regulator of gaming on Native American lands and the Indian Commerce Clause of the 
Constitution of the United States of America. Additionally, we, Clifton Lind, Robert Lannert and Gordon Graves 
claim jointly with the Kaw Nation that in the state court lawsuit, Judge Gurich and Diamond Game have engaged in 
joint activity under color of state law, which violates the Plaintiffs’ Constitutional and federal statutory rights, 
including their rights to free commercial speech and due process of law. We, Clifton Lind, Robert Lannert, Gordon 
Graves and the Kaw Nation also jointly contend that Judge Gurich and Diamond Game have engaged in activity that 
is prohibited by the Oklahoma State Constitution, which expressly disclaims jurisdiction over activity occurring on 
Native American lands. The Kaw Nation, we and the other Plaintiffs seek a declaratory judgment against Judge 
Gurich, holding that, as a state court judge, Judge Gurich does not have jurisdiction to determine the classification 
under IGRA of games being played on Native American lands. The Plaintiffs also seek an injunction against 
Diamond Game, enjoining Diamond Game from proceeding in its state court lawsuit. On November 4, 2008, 
Diamond Game filed a Motion to Dismiss the Kaw Nation lawsuit, alleging that the Plaintiffs had failed to state a 
claim upon which relief could be granted. On November 13, 2008, Plaintiffs filed an Amended Complaint, seeking 
additional relief in the alternative that the federal court determine the classification of MegaNanza and Reel Time 
Bingo. Plaintiffs filed their response in opposition to the Motion to Dismiss on November 25, 2008. On 
December 1, 2008, Diamond Game filed its Motion to Dismiss Amended Complaint, again contending that the 
Plaintiffs had failed to state a claim upon which relief could be granted, relying in part upon the federal court’s 
Order of Remand in the Cory Investments, Ltd. case (see below). At this time, Plaintiffs intend to file a motion for 
preliminary injunction in the immediate near future. Given the inherent uncertainties in this litigation, we are unable 
to make any prediction as to the ultimate outcome. 

Cory Investments Ltd. On May 7, 2008, Cory Investments, LTD., or Cory Investments, filed suit in the State Court 
in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma against us, along with others, including Clifton Lind; Robert Lannert; Gordon Graves; 
Video Gaming Technologies, Inc. or VGT and its president, Jon Yarbrough, and a former VGT representative, John 
Marley; Worldwide Gaming Technologies, or WGT; AGS, LLC, d/b/a American Gaming Systems; AGS Partners, 
LLC; Ronald Clapper, the owner of WGT, AGS, LLC and AGS Partners; Sierra Design Group; and Bally 
Technologies. The case asserts that we offered allegedly illegal Class III games on the MegaNanza and Reel Time 
Bingo gaming systems to Native American tribes in Oklahoma which had a severe negative impact on Cory 
Investments’ market for its legal Class II games. Cory Investments also alleges that the Defendants conspired to 
drive it and other Class II competitors out of the Class II market in Oklahoma and other states. In addition to the 
conspiracy allegations, Cory Investments alleges six causes of action: (i) deceptive trade practices; (ii) common law 
unfair competition; (iii) wrongful interference with business; (iv) malicious wrong / prima facie tort; (v) intentional 
interference with contract; and (vi) unreasonable restraint of trade. Cory Investments is seeking unspecified actual 
and punitive damages and equitable relief. 

We and the other defendants were served with summons and a copy of the lawsuit during the week of July 21, 2008. 
The defendants removed the action to the United States District Court for the Western District of Oklahoma. Cory 
Investments filed a motion with the federal court to remand the case back to the state court. That motion was granted 
by the federal court on November 13, 2008, resulting in a transfer of the case back to the state court. Currently all of 
the defendants have filed motions to dismiss which are currently pending before the State Court District Judge. We 
believe that the claims of Cory Investments are without merit and intend to defend the case vigorously. Given the 
inherent uncertainties in this litigation, we are unable to make any prediction as to the ultimate outcome. 

International Gamco, Inc. International Gamco, Inc., or Gamco, claiming certain rights in U.S. Patent 
No. 5,324,035, or the ‘035 Patent, brought suit against us on May 25, 2004, in the U.S. District Court for the 
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Southern District of California alleging that our central determinant system, as operated by the New York State 
Lottery, infringes the ‘035 Patent. Gamco claims to have acquired ownership of the ‘035 Patent from Oasis 
Technologies, Inc., or Oasis, a previous owner of the ‘035 Patent. In February 2003, Oasis assigned the ‘035 Patent 
to International Game Technology, or IGT. Gamco claims to have received a license back from IGT for the 
New York State Lottery. The lawsuit claims that we infringed the ‘035 Patent after the date on which Gamco 
assigned the ‘035 Patent to IGT. 

Pursuant to an agreement between us and Bally Technologies, Inc., or Bally, we currently sublicense the right to 
practice the technology stated in the ‘035 Patent in Native American gaming jurisdictions in the United States. Bally 
obtained from Oasis the right to sublicense those rights to us, and that sublicense remains in effect today. Under the 
sublicense from Bally, in the event that we desire to expand our own rights beyond Native American gaming 
jurisdictions, the agreement provides us the following options: (i) to pursue legal remedies to establish its rights 
independent of the ‘035 Patent; or (ii) to negotiate directly and enter into a separate agreement with Oasis for such 
rights, paying either a specified one-time license fee per jurisdiction or a unit fee per gaming machine. 

We have made a number of challenges to Gamco’s standing to sue for infringement of the ‘035 Patent. On 
October 15, 2007, pursuant to an Interlocutory Appeal, the Federal Circuit reversed the District Court’s Order 
refusing to dismiss Gamco’s Supplemental and Second Amended Complaint against us. The Federal Circuit held 
that Gamco did not have sufficient rights in the ‘035 Patent to sue us without the involvement of the patent 
owner, IGT. 

On December 4, 2007, Gamco and IGT entered into an Amended and Restated Exclusive License Agreement 
whereby IGT granted to Gamco exclusive rights to the ‘035 Patent in the state of New York and the right to sue for 
past infringement of the same. On January 9, 2008, Gamco filed its Third Amended Complaint for Infringement of 
the ‘035 Patent against us. On January 28, 2008, we filed an Answer to the Complaint denying liability. We also 
filed a Third Amended Counterclaim against Oasis, Gamco and certain officers at Gamco, for fraud, promise 
without intent to perform, negligent misrepresentation, breach of contract, specific performance and reformation of 
contract with regard to our rights under the Sublicense Agreement for the ‘035 Patent, as well as for non-
infringement and invalidity of the Patent. These parties have filed a motion to dismiss and a motion for summary 
judgment as to these claims. We have filed a motion for partial summary judgment on its breach of contract and 
specific performance claims seeking to enforce the terms of the Sublicense Agreement. We have also moved for 
summary judgment on Gamco’s complaint on the ground that it is a licensee. All motions to dismiss and motions for 
summary judgment will be heard by the court on February 26, 2009. 

The court has scheduled a Markman hearing to construe the claims of the ‘035 Patent for January 13, 2009. The 
court will also consider at that time our motion for partial summary judgment to invalidate all of the means-plus-
function claims of the ‘035 Patent under 35 U.S.C. § 112, 6. A trial date has not been set by the court. 

We continue to vigorously defend this matter. Given the inherent uncertainties in this litigation, we are unable to 
make any prediction as to the ultimate outcome. 

NIGC Class II Game Classification Regulations. On October 24, 2007, the NIGC published in the Federal 
Register, four proposed rules concerning Classification Standards to distinguish between Class II games played with 
technologic aids and Class III facsimiles of games of chance, a revision of the definition of “electronic or 
electromechanical facsimile,” technical standards for Class II gaming and Class II minimum internal control 
standards. If the Classification Standards and the revised definition of “electronic or electromechanical facsimile” 
become final regulations, they will have a material and adverse economic impact on the Class II gaming market by 
limiting the use of Class II electronic technology and severely restricting the manner in which bingo may be played 
thereby making Class II games less attractive to the customer. On January 15, 2008, the NIGC extended the 
comment period for the proposed Class II gaming regulations until March 9, 2008. However, in May 2008, the 
Chairman of the NIGC announced that the NIGC would not move forward with its plans to publish final regulations 
revising the definition of “electronic or electromechanical facsimile” and implementing new Class II gaming 
classification standards. The NIGC has published regulations establishing technical standards for Class II electronic 
gaming and Class II minimum internal control standards. The standards allow for a 5-year grandfathering 
moratorium if existing games and systems meet minimum requirements. We are currently submitting games and 
systems to be evaluated under the new grandfathering moratorium articulated in 25 CFR 547.4 of the new NIGC 
technical standards. 

Development Agreements. In 2004, we received a letter from the Acting General Counsel of the NIGC, dated 
November 30, 2004, advising us that our agreements with a certain customer may evidence a proprietary interest by 
us in a tribe’s gaming activities, in violation of IGRA and the tribe’s gaming ordinances. The NIGC invited us and 
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the tribe to submit any explanation or information that would establish that the agreements’ terms do not violate the 
requirement that tribes maintain sole proprietary interest in their own gaming operations. 

In a letter dated November 8, 2007, the Acting General Counsel of the NIGC reiterated the statements made in her 
November 30, 2004 letter, that the NIGC did not then conclude that the agreements with the tribe that it reviewed 
constituted management agreements, but that the NIGC was concerned that, taken together, the agreements 
demonstrated a proprietary interest, by us, in the tribe’s gaming activity that may be contrary to law. Although we 
believe that we responded to the NIGC in 2004, explaining why the agreements did not violate the sole proprietary 
interest prohibition of IGRA and did not constitute a management agreement, the November 8, 2007 letter indicated 
that the NIGC did not receive the written explanation or further information and requested explanation. On 
December 17, 2007, we responded in writing to the NIGC, correcting the misstatements contained in the 
NIGC’s 2004 letter. To date, we have received no further communication from the NIGC on this issue. 

If certain of our development agreements are finally determined to be management contracts or to create a 
“proprietary” interest of ours in tribal gaming operations, there could be material adverse consequences to us. In that 
event, we may be required, among other things, to modify the terms of such agreements. Such modification may 
adversely affect the terms on which we conduct business, and have a significant impact on our financial condition 
and results of operations from such agreements and from other development agreements that may be similarly 
interpreted by the NIGC. 

Our development agreements could be subject to further review at any time. Any further review of our development 
agreements by the NIGC, or alternative interpretations of applicable laws and regulations could require substantial 
modifications to those agreements, or result in their designation as “management contracts,” which could materially 
and adversely affect the terms on which we conduct business. 

Other Litigation. In addition to the threat of litigation relating to the Class II or Class III status of our games and 
equipment, we are the subject of various pending and threatened claims arising out of the ordinary course of 
business. We believe that any liability resulting from these various other claims will not have a material adverse 
effect on our results of operations or financial condition. 

Other. Existing federal and state regulations may also impose civil and criminal sanctions for various activities 
prohibited in connection with gaming operations, including false statements on applications, and failure or refusal 
to obtain necessary licenses described in the regulations. 

ITEM 4.  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Securities Holders 

No matter was submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 covered by this report, 
through the solicitation of proxies or otherwise. 
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PART II 

ITEM 5.  Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases 
of Equity Securities 

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Select Market, or NASDAQ, under the symbol “MGAM.” 
Prior to September 27, 2001, we were listed on the Nasdaq Small Cap Market under the same symbol. The 
following table sets forth the quarterly high and low closing sale prices per share of our common stock as reported 
by NASDAQ for each quarter during the last two fiscal years. 

Fiscal Quarter    High   Low 

2007   
First Quarter   $ 10.14  $ 8.92 
Second Quarter 12.25 8.97 
Third Quarter 13.24 10.66 
Fourth Quarter 12.95 8.20 
   
2008   
First Quarter  $ 9.78  $ 6.95 
Second Quarter 8.45 5.14 
Third Quarter 6.05 3.75 
Fourth Quarter 5.75 3.50 

There were approximately 56 holders of record of our common stock as of December 8, 2008. 

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock. We intend to retain our earnings to 
finance growth and development, and therefore do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock in 
the foreseeable future. The declaration and payment of any dividends on our common stock would be at the sole 
discretion of our Board of Directors, subject to the terms of our Credit Facility, our financial condition, capital 
requirements, future prospects, and other factors deemed relevant.  

There were no other share repurchases during the year ended September 30, 2008. 

Equity Compensation Plan Information 
 

Plan Category(1)  

Number of securities to
be issued upon exercise
of outstanding options,
warrants, and rights (#)

Weighted-average  
exercise price of  

outstanding options, 
warrants, and rights ($) 

Number of securities
remaining available for 
future issuance under
equity compensation 

plans (excluding 
securities reflected in
the first column) (#) 

Equity compensation plans 
approved by security holders   4,290,008  $ 6.84   1,640,590 

Equity compensation plans 
not approved by security holders   2,456,500   4.93   — 

Total    6,746,508  $ 6.14   1,640,590 
(1) Stock Plans are discussed in further detailed under “PART IV – Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules – 

Note 10. Stockholders’ Equity.” 

Performance Comparison Graph. The following graph depicts our total return to shareholders from 
September 30, 2003 through September 30, 2008, relative to the performance of (i) the NASDAQ Composite Index; 
and (ii) stock in a selected peer group index, or the “Peer Group”. The Peer Group consists of Progressive Gaming 
International Corp. (formerly Mikohn Gaming Corp.), IGT, WMS, Inc., Bally and Shuffle Master, Inc. All indices 
shown in the graph have been reset to a base of 100 as of September 30, 2003, and assume an investment of $100 on 
that date and the reinvestment of dividends paid since that date. Multimedia Games has never paid a dividend on its 
common stock. The stock price performance shown in the graph is not necessarily indicative of future price 
performance. 
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ITEM 6.  Selected Financial Data 

The following selected financial data are derived from our Consolidated Financial Statements. The data below 
should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto, “Risk Factors” 
contained in Item 1(a) of this Annual Report and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations” contained in Item 7 of this Annual Report. 

 Years Ended September 30, 
   2008    2007    2006   2005   2004 
Consolidated Income Statement Data (In thousands, except per-share amounts) 

Revenues  $131,132  $ 121,917  $ 145,112  $ 153,216  $153,675
Operating income (loss) 1,235 (4,589) 7,502 29,822 50,431 
Net income (loss) 378 (744) 3,532 17,643 32,772 
Earnings (loss) per share:      

Basic 0.01 (0.03) 0.13 0.64 1.19 
Diluted 0.01 (0.03) 0.12 0.60 1.07 

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:      
Working capital (deficit)  $ 34,149  $ 22,621  $ (5,835)  $ (19,401)  $ 249 
Total assets 276,940 256,269 268,541 254,692 217,407 
Long-term obligations 86,575 82,412 47,243 37,317 14,685 
Total stockholders’ equity 150,732 147,809 167,945 158,917 150,147 

 

Effective October 1, 2005 (our fiscal year ended September 30, 2006), we adopted the share-based payment 
provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 123(revised), “Share-Based Payment,” using the 
modified prospective transition method. SFAS No. 123(R) is a revision of SFAS No. 123. Prior period amounts do 
not include a pro forma adjustment for stock compensation expense. 

ITEM 7.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 

Overview 
We are a developer and distributor of comprehensive systems, content, electronic games and gaming player 
terminals for the casino, charity, international bingo, and video lottery markets. Initially, our customers were located 
primarily in the Native American gaming sector; however, around 2003, we began diversifying into broader 
domestic and international gaming markets. 

Although we continue to develop systems and products for Native American tribes throughout the United States, we 
now also develop and market i) products and services for the commercial casino market; ii) video lottery systems 
and other products for domestic and international lotteries; and iii) products for charity and international bingo and 
other emerging markets. 

Our products cover a broad spectrum of the gaming industry, including: interactive systems for both server-based 
and stand-alone gaming operations; interactive electronic bingo games for the Class II gaming market and for the 
Class III, stand-alone and video lottery markets; proprietary gaming player terminals in multiple configurations and 
formats; electronic instant lottery scratch ticket systems; casino management systems, including player tracking, 
cash and cage, slot accounting, and slot management modules; unified currency systems; and other electronic and 
paper bingo systems. In addition, we provide maintenance, operations support and other services for our customers 
and products. 

We design and develop networks, software and content that provide our customers with, among other things, 
comprehensive gaming systems, some of which are delivered through a telecommunications network that links our 
player terminals with one another, both within a single gaming facility or among several gaming facilities. 

We derive the majority of our gaming revenue from participation (revenue sharing) agreements, pursuant to which 
we place systems, player terminals, proprietary and licensed content operated on player terminals, and back-office 
systems and equipment (collectively referred to as “gaming systems”), into gaming facilities. To a lesser degree, we 
earn revenue from the sale or placement of gaming systems (e.g., the opening of a new casino, or a change in the 
law that allows existing casinos to increase the number of player terminals permitted under prior law) on a 
lease-purchase or participation basis and from the back-office fees generated by video lottery systems, principally in 
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the Washington State, Class III market. We also generate gaming revenue as consideration for providing the central 
determinant system for a network of player terminals operated by the New York State Division of the Lottery. In 
addition, we earn a small portion of our revenue from the sale of lottery systems and the placement of nontraditional 
gaming products, such as electronic scratch tickets, sweepstakes, or linked interactive paper bingo systems. 
Recently, we entered the international electronic bingo market and currently supply bingo systems to three 
customers in Mexico, whereby we receive fees based on the net earnings of each system. During fiscal 2009, we 
intend to generate revenue from the sale of non-linked Class III player terminals to Class III Native American 
markets. 

Class II Market 
We derive our Class II gaming revenues from participation arrangements with our Native American customers. 
Under these arrangements, we retain ownership of the gaming equipment installed at our customers’ tribal gaming 
facilities, and receive revenue based on a percentage of the hold per day generated by each gaming system. Our 
portion of the hold per day is reported by us as “Gaming revenue – Class II” and represents the total amount that end 
users wager, less the total amount paid to end users for prizes, the amounts retained by the facilities for their share of 
the hold and the accretion of contract rights. 

As the Class II market has matured, we have seen new competitors with significant gaming experience and financial 
resources enter the market. New tribal-state compacts, such as the Oklahoma gaming legislation passed by 
referendum in 2004, have also led to increased competition. In addition, there has been what we believe to be an 
extended period of non enforcement by regulators of existing restrictions on non-Class II devices, which has forced 
us to continue competing against games that do not appear to comply with the published regulatory restrictions on 
Class II games. Due to this increased competition in Oklahoma, and because of continued conversion to games 
played under the compact, we have and may continue to experience pressure on our pricing model and hold per day, 
with the result being that gaming providers, including us, are competing on the basis of price as well as the 
entertainment value and technological superiority of their products. We have also experienced and expect to 
continue to experience a decline in the number of our Class II games deployed in Oklahoma, in accordance with our 
recent conversion strategy. While we will continue to compete by regularly introducing new and more entertaining 
games with technological enhancements that we believe will appeal to end users, we believe that the level of 
revenue retained by our customers from their installed base of player terminals will become a more significant 
competitive factor, one that may require us to change the terms of our participation arrangements with customers. 
We will continue the deployment of one-touch, compact-compliant Class III games in Oklahoma, which will reduce 
the number of Class II machines in play. 

Class III Games and systems for Oklahoma 
During 2004, the Oklahoma Legislature passed legislation authorizing certain forms of gaming at racetracks, and 
additional types of games at tribal gaming facilities, pursuant to a tribal-state compact. The Oklahoma gaming 
legislation allows the tribes to sign a compact with the state of Oklahoma to operate an unlimited number of 
electronic instant bingo games, electronic bonanza-style bingo games, electronic amusement games, and non-house-
banked tournament card games. In addition, certain horse tracks in Oklahoma are allowed to operate a limited 
number of instant and bonanza-style bingo games and electronic amusement games. All vendors placing games at 
any of the racetracks under the compact will ultimately be required to be licensed by the state of Oklahoma. 
Pursuant to the compacts, vendors placing games at tribal facilities will have to be licensed by each tribe. All 
electronic games placed under the compact have to be certified by independent testing laboratories to meet technical 
specifications. These technical specifications were published by the Oklahoma Horse Racing Commission and the 
individual tribal gaming authorities in the first calendar quarter of 2005. We are fully licensed in Oklahoma and as 
of September 30, 2008, we had placed 5,605 player terminals at 38 facilities that are operating under the Oklahoma 
gaming compact. We generally receive a 20% revenue share for the games played under the Oklahoma Gaming 
Compact. 

Class III Games and Systems for Native American and Commercial Casino Markets 
During fiscal 2007, we began designing and developing stand-alone Class III player terminals to be sold or placed 
on a revenue share basis in the large and broad Class III stand-alone gaming market for Native American casinos as 
well as domestic and international commercial casinos. All player terminals delivered to these markets will have to 
receive specific jurisdictional approvals from the appropriate testing laboratory and from the appropriate regulatory 
agency. Our first group of stand-alone player terminals has been placed in the Class III stand-alone market in Rhode 
Island. We believe that we will deliver additional player terminals to other Class III markets beginning in 
fiscal 2009. We have recently announced key senior management personnel additions which we believe will help 
accelerate our entrance into new Class III markets. 
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Charity Market 
Charity bingo and other forms of charity gaming are operated by or for the benefit of nonprofit organizations for 
charitable, educational and other lawful purposes. These games are typically only interconnected within the gaming 
facility where the terminals are located. Regulation of charity gaming is vested with each individual state, and in 
some states, regulatory authority is delegated to county or municipal governmental units. In Alabama, our largest 
charity market, constitutional amendments have been passed authorizing charity bingo in certain locations. The 
regulation of charity bingo in Alabama is typically vested with a local governmental authority. We typically place 
player terminals under participation arrangements in the charity market and receive a percentage of the hold per day 
generated by each of the player terminals. As of September 30, 2008, we had 2,279 high-speed, standard bingo 
games installed for the charity market in three Alabama facilities. 

All Other Gaming Markets 
Class III Washington State Market. The majority of our Class III gaming equipment in Washington State has 
been sold to customers outright, for a one-time purchase price, which is reported in our results of operations as 
“Gaming equipment, system sale and lease revenue” at the time of proper revenue recognition. Certain game themes 
we use in the Class III market have been licensed from third parties and are resold to customers along with our 
Class III player terminals. Historically, revenue from the sale of Class III gaming equipment is recognized when the 
units are delivered to the customer, and the licensed games installed or over the contract term when fair value of 
undelivered products has not been established. Because we sell new products, systems and services for which fair 
value has not been established, beginning in fiscal 2008, revenue generated from this market will generally be 
recognized over the terms of the contracts. To a considerably lesser extent, we also enter into either participation 
arrangements or lease-purchase arrangements for our Class III player terminals, on terms similar to those used for 
our player terminals in the Class II market. 

We also receive a small back-office fee from both leased and sold gaming equipment in Washington State. Back-
office fees cover the service and maintenance costs for back-office servers installed in each facility to run our 
Class III games, as well as the cost of related software updates. 

State Video Lottery Market. In January 2004, we installed our central determinant system for the video lottery 
terminal network that the New York Lottery operates at licensed New York State racetrack casinos. As payment for 
providing and maintaining the central determinant system, we receive a small portion of the network-wide hold per 
day. Our contract with the New York Lottery provides for a three-year term with an additional three one-year 
automatic renewal under certain conditions. We are seeking to take advantage of the recently passed legislation in 
New York State that allows the New York Lottery to extend its vendor contracts at its sole discretion, 
notwithstanding the automatic renewal provision. We are working to significantly extend the current contract which 
is set to expire in 2010. 

International Commercial Bingo Market. In March 2006, we entered into a contract with Apuestas 
Internacionales, S.A. de C.V., or Apuestas, a subsidiary of Grupo Televisa, S.A., to provide traditional and 
electronic bingo gaming, technical assistance, and related services for Apuestas’ locations in Mexico. Apuestas 
currently has a permit issued by the Mexican Ministry of the Interior (Secretaria de Gobernación) to open and 
operate 65 bingo parlors. Apuestas is projecting that all 65 bingo parlors will be open by May 2011. As of 
September 30, 2008, we had installed 4,583 player terminals at 19 sites in Mexico under this contract with Apuestas. 
At September 30, 2008, all installed player terminals placed are pursuant to a revenue share arrangement that is 
comparable with our Oklahoma market arrangements. 

As of September 30, 2008, we had entered into separate contracts with three other companies incorporated in 
Mexico to provide traditional and electronic bingo gaming, technical assistance, and related services for bingo 
parlors in Mexico. As of September 30, 2008, we had installed 550 player terminals at three parlors in Mexico under 
these contracts. 

Development Agreements  

As we seek to continue the growth in our customer base and to expand our installed base of player terminals, a key 
element of our strategy has become entering into development agreements with various Native American tribes to 
assist in the funding of new or expansion of existing tribal gaming facilities. Pursuant to these agreements, we 
advance funds to the tribes for the construction of new tribal gaming facilities or for the expansion of existing 
facilities. 
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Amounts advanced that are in excess of those to be reimbursed by such tribes for real property and land 
improvements are allocated to intangible assets and are generally amortized over the life of the contract on a 
straight-line basis.  

In return for the amounts advanced by us, we receive a commitment for a fixed number of player terminal 
placements in the facility or a fixed percentage of the available gaming floor space, and a fixed percentage of the 
hold per day from those terminals over the term of the development agreement. Certain of the agreements contain 
player terminal performance standards that could allow the facility to reduce a portion of our floor space. In 
addition, certain development agreements allow the facilities to buy out floor space after advances that are subject to 
repayment, have been repaid. 

We have in the past and may in the future, reduce the number of player terminals in certain of our facilities as a 
result of ongoing competitive pressures faced by our customers from alternative gaming facilities and pressures 
faced by our machines from competitors’ products. We have in the past and may also in the future, by mutual 
agreement and for consideration, amend these contracts in order to reduce the number of player terminals at these 
facilities. In the second quarter of fiscal 2008, we modified a development agreement by agreeing to reduce the 
number of player terminals at a development site. In return, we received a complete payoff of a note receivable in 
the amount of $4.5 million. 

We have recently fulfilled a commitment to a significant, existing tribal customer to provide approximately 43.8%, 
or $65.6 million, of the total funding for a facility expansion. Because of our commitment to fund the expansion, we 
secured the right to place an additional 1,400 gaming units in the expanded facility in southern Oklahoma. We 
recorded all advances as a note receivable and imputed interest on the interest free loan. The discount (imputed 
interest) was recorded as contract rights and will be amortized over the life of the agreement. The repayment period 
of the note will be based on the performance of the facility. As of September 30, 2008, we had installed 
approximately 700 of the additional 1,400 units that we will place in the expanded facility. The remaining 700 units 
are expected to be installed by December 31, 2008. 

As a result of the substantial levels of development activity in Oklahoma, we expect the future pace of development 
in Oklahoma to decline somewhat. Accordingly, we do not anticipate future levels of development participation in 
Oklahoma to keep pace with our historical levels. As of September 30, 2008, we have placed approximately 4,700 
units in 10 facilities in Oklahoma pursuant to development agreements. 

Recent Developments 

On October 24, 2007, the NIGC published in the Federal Register, four proposed rules concerning Classification 
Standards to distinguish between Class II games played with technologic aids and Class III facsimiles of games of 
chance, a revision of the definition of “electronic or electromechanical facsimile,” technical standards for Class II 
gaming and Class II minimum internal control standards. If the Classification Standards and the revised definition of 
“electronic or electromechanical facsimile” become final regulations, they will have a material and adverse 
economic impact on the Class II gaming market by limiting the use of Class II electronic technology and severely 
restricting the manner in which bingo may be played thereby making Class II games less attractive to the customer. 
On January 15, 2008, the NIGC extended the comment period for the proposed Class II gaming regulations until 
March 9, 2008. However, in May 2008, the Chairman of the NIGC announced that the NIGC would not move 
forward with its plans to publish final regulations revising the definition of “electronic or electromechanical 
facsimile” and implementing new Class II gaming classification standards. The NIGC has published regulations 
establishing technical standards for Class II electronic gaming and Class II minimum internal control standards. The 
standards allow for a 5-year grandfathering moratorium if existing games and systems meet minimum requirements. 
We are currently submitting games and systems to be evaluated under the new grandfathering moratorium 
articulated in 25 CFR 547.4 of the new NIGC technical standards. 
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Results of Operations 

The following tables set forth our end-of-period and average installed base of player terminals for the years ended 
September 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006. 

   At September 30,  
   2008   2007    2006 
End-of-period installed player terminal base:     
 Class II player terminals    

New Generation system - Reel Time Bingo  2,223  3,840  7,280 
Legacy system  303  384  373 

 Oklahoma compact games  5,605  4,088  2,408 
 Mexico  5,133  2,515  600 
 Other player terminals(1)  2,613  2,735  2,519 

 
   Years Ended September 30,  

   2008   2007    2006 
Average installed player terminal base:    
 Class II player terminals    

New Generation system - Reel Time Bingo  2,742  5,305  8,404 
Legacy system  324  363  396 

 Oklahoma compact games  4,852  3,548  1,393 
 Mexico  3,985  1,536  210 
 Other player terminals(1)  2,722  2,613  2,629 

(1) Other player terminals include charity, Rhode Island Lottery and Malta. Fiscal Year 2006 includes Iowa Lottery for 
average counts. 

There were no sweepstakes video readers installed at September 30, 2007, and the average installed base for 
fiscal 2007 was 376. There were 1,318 sweepstakes video readers installed at September 30, 2006 and the average 
installed base was 820. These sweepstakes video readers are not included in the above tables. 

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes 
thereto, included in “PART IV – Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.” 

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007 

Total revenues for 2008 were $ 131.1 million, compared to $121.9 million in 2007, a $9.2 million, or 8% increase. 

Gaming Revenue – Class II 
 Class II gaming revenue decreased by $19.6 million, or 41%, to $28.4 million in 2008, from $48.0 million 

in 2007. We expect the number of Class II terminals to continue to decrease as they are replaced with 
higher-earning Oklahoma compact player terminals. 

 Legacy revenue decreased $494,000, or 17%, to $2.4 million in 2008, from $2.9 million in 2007. The 
average installed base of player terminals and the average hold per day decreased 11% and 5%, 
respectively, due to competitive factors. 

 Reel Time Bingo revenue was $26.0 million in 2008, compared to $45.1 million in 2007, a $19.1 million, 
or 42% decrease. The average installed base of player terminals decreased 48% which was partially offset 
by a 16% increase in hold per day. Accretion of contract rights related to development agreements, which is 
recorded as a reduction of revenue, decreased $1.5 million, or 57% to $1.1 million in 2008, compared 
to $2.6 million in 2007. The reduction in accretion of contract rights is the result of allocating the total 
accretion rights across all product lines with the majority being allocated to Oklahoma Compact. 
During 2008, we continued to convert Reel Time Bingo player terminals to games played under the 
compact, which are included in “Gaming revenue - Oklahoma compact,” and we expect this trend to 
continue in the future as Reel Time Bingo competes with the higher hold per day of compact games. In 
addition, as a result of the conversion from Reel Time Bingo to games played under the compact, our 
revenue share percentage will decrease to the market rate for compact games. 
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Gaming Revenue – Oklahoma Compact 
 Oklahoma compact games generated revenue of $55.2 million in 2008, compared to $37.1 million in 2007, 

an increase of $18.1 million, or 49%. The average installed base increased 37% as the conversion of 
Class II player terminals to compact games continues. Hold per day increased 3%, primarily as a result of 
the higher installed base of the stand-alone units, which have a higher hold per day. Accretion of contract 
rights related to development agreements, which is recorded as a reduction of revenue, decreased to 
$2.8 million in 2008, compared to $2.9 million in 2007. 

Gaming Revenue – Charity 
 Charity gaming revenues decreased $3.4 million, or 19%, to $14.6 million for 2008, compared to 

$18.0 million for the same period of 2007. The average installed base of player terminals and the average 
hold per day decreased 4% and 18%, respectively. The decrease in the hold per day is primarily attributable 
to competitive factors and to a lesser extent, economic factors. Competitive factors would include, but are 
not limited to, a significant increase of competitor units added to the gaming floor of our largest charity 
operation, players reward programs not offered on our player terminals and location of our player terminals 
on the gaming floor. 

Gaming Revenue – All Other 
 Class III back-office fees decreased 2%, to $3.6 million in fiscal 2008, from $3.7 million during the same 

period of 2007. 

 Revenues from the New York Lottery system increased 22%, to $7.0 million in 2008, from $5.8 million 
in 2007. At September 30, 2008, eight of the nine planned racetrack casinos are operating, with 
approximately 13,000 total terminals. At the current placement levels, we have obtained near break-even 
operations for the New York Lottery system and expect to achieve profitable operations after all of the 
facilities are operating. 

 Revenues from the Mexico bingo market increased $5.7 million to $10.0 million in 2008, from $4.3 million 
in 2007. As of September 30, 2008, we had installed 5,133 player terminals at 22 parlors in Mexico 
compared to 2,515 terminals at nine parlors at September 30, 2007. Our revenue share arrangements in 
Mexico are comparable with our Oklahoma market revenue share arrangements. 

Gaming Equipment, System Sale and Lease Revenue and Cost of Sales 
 Gaming equipment, system sale and lease revenue increased $7.1 million, or 247% to $10.0 million 

for 2008, from $2.9 million for the same period of 2007. Gaming equipment and system sale revenue of 
$8.8 million, for 2008, includes 569 player terminal sales of $5.8 million and one system sale. Gaming 
equipment, system sale and lease revenue of $1.1 million, for 2007, included two system sales and no 
player terminals. In 2008 and 2007, gaming equipment sale revenue included revenues of $182,000 and 
$1.1 million, respectively, related to a certain equipment sale being recognized ratably over the term of the 
agreement. License revenues for 2008 were $1.1 million, compared to $689,000 for 2007, an increase 
of $427,000, or 62%, due primarily to the player terminal sales discussed above. Total cost of sales, which 
includes cost of royalty fees, increased $2.8 million, to $5.0 million in 2008, from $2.2 million in 2007 due 
to the large gaming equipment sale discussed above. 

Other Revenue 
 Other revenues decreased $395,000 or 19% to $1.7 million for fiscal 2008, from $2.1 million during 

fiscal 2007. The decrease is primarily due to the discontinuation of the promotional sweepstakes system in 
January 2007. 

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses 
 Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $6.1 million, or 9%, to $72.2 million in 2008, from 

$66.1 million in 2007. This increase was primarily a result of (i) an increase in third-party game licenses, 
projects, and patents write offs and reserves of $3.2 million; ii) an increase in property and equipment 
reserves, repairs and maintenance, transportation and related costs of $2.6 million; (iii) an increase in 
salaries and wages and the related employee benefits of approximately $2.0 million, primarily related to 
costs of $675,000 associated with the resignation of our former Chief Executive Officer, along with 
headcount increases (at September 30, 2008, we employed 484 full-time and part-time employees, 
compared to 427 at September 30, 2007); and (iv) an increase in travel expenses of 
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approximately $648,000; offsetting these increases was a decrease in legal and professional fees of 
approximately $2.9 million, due to the resolution of several legal matters during fiscal 2008. 

Amortization and Depreciation 
 Amortization expense decreased $1.6 million, or 26%, to $4.7 million in 2008, compared to $6.3 million 

in 2007. Depreciation expense decreased $3.8 million, or 7%, to $48.0 million in 2007, from $51.8 million 
in 2007, primarily as a result of player terminals continuing in service beyond their estimated useful life. 

Other Income and Expense 
 Interest income increased 10%, to $5.0 million in 2008, from $4.6 million in 2007, due to imputed interest 

resulting from advances under certain development agreements. We entered into development agreements 
with a customer under which approximately $72.7 million has been advanced and is outstanding at 
September 30, 2008, and for which we impute interest on these interest-free loans. During fiscal 2008, we 
recorded imputed interest of $4.3 million relating to development agreements with an imputed interest rate 
range of 6.00% to 9.00% compared to $2.6 million in fiscal 2007. 

 Interest expense increased $3.7 million, or 74%, to $8.7 million for 2008, from $5.0 million for 2007, due 
primarily to an increase in amounts outstanding under our Credit Facility. During April 2007, we entered 
into a $150 million Revolving Credit Facility which replaced our Previous Credit Facility in its entirety. On 
October 26, 2007 we amended the Revolving Credit Facility, transferring $75 million of the revolving 
credit commitment to a fully funded $75 million term loan. We entered into a second amendment to the 
Revolving Credit Facility on December 20, 2007. The second amendment (i) extended the hedging 
arrangement date related to a portion of the term loan to June 1, 2008; and (ii) modified the interest rate 
margin applicable to the Revolving Credit Facility and the term loan. 

 Other income was $3.1 million for the year ended September 30, 2008, compared to $3.1 million for the 
year ended September 30, 2007. Other income consisted primarily of distributions from a partnership 
interest accounted for on the cost basis method in fiscal 2008. Fiscal 2007 included this distribution, as well 
as the extinguishment of an intangible asset and related liability due to the termination of a non compete 
agreement with our former Chief Executive Officer as of April 27, 2007. 

Income tax expense increased to $302,000 for 2008, compared to an income tax benefit of $1.2 million in 2007. 
These figures represent effective tax rates of 44.4% and 61.3% for fiscal 2008 and 2007, respectively. The effective 
tax rate has been impacted by the tax treatment of stock compensation expense. To the extent that we experience 
volatility in stock compensation expense, there will remain volatility in the effective tax rate. 

On July 13, 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, or 
FIN 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes,” an interpretation of SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income 
Taxes.” FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial 
statements in accordance with SFAS No. 109. FIN 48 also prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement 
attribute for the financial statement recognition, and for the measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be 
taken in a tax return. The new FASB standard also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and 
penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and transition. We adopted FIN 48 in the first quarter of 
fiscal 2008 and recorded a liability of $295,000 (in the first quarter of fiscal 2008) related to uncertain tax positions. 
This reserve was charged to Retained Earnings. 

Fiscal 2007 Compared to Fiscal 2006 

Total revenues for 2007 were $121.9 million, compared to $145.1 million in 2006, a $23.2 million, or 16% decrease. 

Gaming Revenue – Class II 
 Class II gaming revenue decreased by $41.2 million, or 46%, from $89.2 million in 2006 to $48.0 million 

in 2007. We expect the number of Class II terminals to continue to decrease as they are replaced with 
higher-earning Oklahoma compact player terminals. 

 Legacy revenue decreased $164,000, or 5%, to $2.9 million in 2007, from $3.0 million in 2006. The 
average installed base of Legacy player terminals decreased 8%, which was partially offset by a 3% 
increase in hold per day. 

 Reel Time Bingo revenue was $45.1 million in 2007, compared to $86.2 million in 2006, a $41.1 million, 
or 48% decrease. The average installed base of player terminals and the average hold per day 



 

-38- 

decreased 37% and 11%, respectively. Accretion of contract rights related to development agreements, 
which is recorded as a reduction of revenue, decreased $1.7 million, or 40% to $2.6 million in 2007, 
compared to $4.3 million in 2006. The reduction in accretion of contract rights is the result of allocating the 
total accretion rights across all product lines with the majority being allocated to Oklahoma Compact. 
During 2007, we continued to convert Reel Time Bingo player terminals to games played under the 
compact, which are included in “Gaming revenue - Oklahoma compact,” and we expect this trend to 
continue in the future as Reel Time Bingo competes with the higher hold per day of compact games. In 
addition, as a result of the conversion from Reel Time Bingo to games played under the compact, our 
revenue share percentage will decrease to the market rate for compact games. 

Gaming Revenue – Oklahoma Compact 
 In March 2005, we began converting Reel Time Bingo player terminals to games that could be played 

under the Oklahoma compact. These games generated revenue of $37.1 million in 2007, compared 
to $10.6 million in 2006, an increase of $26.5 million. The average installed base increased 155% as the 
conversion of Class II player terminals to compact games continues. Hold per day increased 38%, primarily 
as a result of the higher installed base of the stand-alone units, which have a higher hold per day. Accretion 
of contract rights related to development agreements, which is recorded as a reduction of revenue, 
increased to $2.9 million in 2007, compared to no accretion in 2006. 

Gaming Revenue – Charity 
 Charity gaming revenues decreased 2%, to $18.0 million for 2007, compared to $18.4 million for the same 

period of 2006. The average installed player terminal base and average hold per day remained consistent 
across 2007 and 2006. 

Gaming Revenue – All Other 
 Class III rental and back-office fees in Washington State decreased 19%, to $3.7 million in 2007, from 

$4.6 million during the same period of 2006. As of January 2006, we no longer have any rental customers. 
We continue to receive a small back-office fee from each of the twelve gaming facilities in the state of 
Washington where we are located. 

 Revenues from the New York Lottery system increased 118%, to $5.8 million in 2007, from $2.6 million 
in 2006. At September 30, 2007, eight of the nine planned racetrack casinos are operating, with 
approximately 13,100 total terminals. To date, we have realized substantially less revenue than anticipated 
from our New York Lottery operations, in significant part due to delays in the opening of planned racetrack 
casino operations at several racetracks. At the current placement levels, we have obtained near break-even 
operations for the New York Lottery system and expect to achieve profitable operations after all of the 
facilities are operating. 

 The Iowa Lottery system operated between January and May 2006, and generated revenues of $616,000 
during that time period. Pursuant to legislative actions, these units were disconnected from our central 
determinant system in May 2006. Revenue from providing player terminals was recorded in “Gaming 
equipment, system sale and lease revenue.” 

 Revenues from the Mexico bingo market increased $3.7 million to $4.3 million in 2007, from $604,000 
in 2006. As of September 30, 2007, we had installed 2,515 player terminals at nine sites in Mexico 
compared to 600 terminals at four sites installed at four sites at September 30, 2006. To date, there are not 
as many permanent facilities opened as we originally projected, and the hold per day is below our original 
expectations. Our revenue share arrangements in Mexico are comparable with our Oklahoma market 
revenue share arrangements. 

Gaming Equipment, System Sale and Lease Revenue and Cost of Sales 
 Gaming equipment, system sale and lease revenue decreased $11.1 million, or 79% to $2.9 million 

for 2007, from $13.9 million for the same period of 2006. Gaming equipment and system sale revenue of 
$1.1 million, for 2007, includes two system sales and no player terminals. Gaming equipment, system sale 
and lease revenue of $11.7 million, for 2006, included one system sale of $8.0 million, 416 player terminals 
sales of $3.0 million, and Iowa Lottery lease revenue of $681,000. In 2007 and 2006, gaming equipment 
sale revenue included revenues of $1.1 million for both periods, related to a certain equipment sale being 
recognized ratably over the term of the agreement. License revenues for 2007 were $689,000, compared 
to $1.1 million for 2006, a decrease of $434,000, or 39%, due primarily to the decline in player terminal 
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sales discussed above. Total cost of sales, which includes cost of royalty fees, decreased $9.5 million, 
or 81% to $2.2 million in 2007, from $11.8 million in 2006 due to the decreased sales discussed above. 

Other Revenue 
 Other revenues decreased $2.4 million or 54% to $2.1 million for fiscal 2007, from $4.5 million during 

fiscal 2006. The decrease is primarily due to discontinuation of the promotional sweepstakes system in 
January 2007. 

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses 
 Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased $2.5 million, or 4%, to $66.1 million in 2007, from 

$68.6 million in 2006. This decrease was primarily a result of i) a decrease in salaries and wages and the 
related employee benefits of approximately $2.6 million relating to the reduction in staff in February 2007 
(at September 30, 2007, we employed 427 full-time and part-time employees, compared to 503 at 
September 30, 2006); ii) a decrease in share-based compensation of $1.5 million for 2007 due to a decrease 
in the number of unvested outstanding options; and iii) a decrease in travel costs of approximately 
$1.3 million due to the ramp up in 2006 for new markets, primarily Mexico. Partially offsetting these 
decreases were a) increases in consulting and contract labor of approximately $1.3 million, primarily 
related to the design of new gaming cabinets; b) an increase in other taxes and license fees of $847,000, 
primarily related to an annual license renewal for third-party licenses and an estimated settlement for use 
tax; and c) an increase in repairs and maintenance, transportation and related costs of $752,000, primarily 
due to units being refurbished for deployment in Mexico. 

Amortization and Depreciation 
 Amortization expense decreased $194,000, or 3%, to $6.3 million in 2007, compared to $6.5 million 

in 2006. Depreciation expense increased $1.1 million, or 2%, to $51.8 million in 2007, from $50.7 million 
in 2006 due to the placement of new player terminals as the conversion of Class II player terminals to 
Oklahoma compact games continues. 

Other Income and Expense 
 Interest income increased 51%, to $4.6 million in 2007, from $3.0 million in 2006, due to imputed interest 

resulting from advances under certain development agreements. We entered into development agreements 
with a customer under which approximately $110.4 million has been committed under interest-free loans in 
which we will impute interest. During fiscal 2007, we recorded imputed interest of $2.6 million relating to 
development agreements with an imputed interest rate range of 6% to 8.25%. 

 Interest expense increased $518,000, or 12%, to $5.0 million for 2007, from $4.5 million for 2006, due 
primarily to an increase in amounts outstanding under our Previous Credit Facility. Our Previous Credit 
Facility provided us with a $20.0 million term loan facility, or the Term Loan, a $25.0 million revolving 
line of credit, or the Revolver, and $35.0 million and $9.5 million in reducing revolving lines of credit, or 
the Reducing Revolvers. During April 2007, we entered into a $150 million Revolving Credit Facility, 
which replaced our Previous Credit Facility in its entirety. We subsequently amended the Revolving Credit 
Facility on October 26, 2007 to transfer $75 million of the revolving credit commitment to a fully funded 
$75 million term loan. 

 Other income was $3.1 million for the year ended September 30, 2007, with no such income in fiscal 2006. 
Other income consisted of a distribution from a partnership interest, accounted for on the cost basis that we 
received during 2007. In addition, we had the extinguishment of an intangible asset and related liability due 
to the termination of a non compete agreement with our former Chief Executive Officer as of 
April 27, 2007. 

Income tax expense decreased to a benefit of $1.2 million for 2007, compared to an income tax expense of 
$2.5 million in 2006. These figures represent effective tax rates of 61.3% and 41.6% for fiscal 2007 and 2006, 
respectively. SFAS No. 123(R) is a revision of SFAS No. 123, and includes several modifications to the way that 
income taxes are recorded in the financial statements. The expense for incentive stock option grants is ratably 
expensed for financial reporting but is only deductible for income tax purposes at the time that customer taxable 
events takes place, if ever, which could cause variability in our effective tax rates recorded throughout our fiscal 
year. The higher effective tax rate for 2006 was primarily a result of the timing of such deductibility of stock 
options. 
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements Issued 

In March 2008, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No. 161, or SFAS No 161, “Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities—An 
Amendment of FASB Statement No. 133.” SFAS No. 161 enhances required disclosures regarding derivatives and 
hedging activities, including enhanced disclosures regarding how: (a) an entity uses derivative instruments; 
(b) derivative instruments and related hedged items are accounted for under SFAS No. 133, Accounting for 
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities; and (c) derivative instruments and related hedged items affect an 
entity's financial position, financial performance, and cash flows. SFAS No. 161 is effective for fiscal years, and 
interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after November 15, 2008, though earlier application is 
encouraged. Accordingly, we expect to adopt SFAS No. 161 beginning in fiscal 2010. We expect that SFAS No. 161 
will have an impact on accounting for derivative instruments and hedging activities once adopted, but the 
significance of the effect is dependent upon entering into these related transactions, if any, at that time. 

In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, or FIN 48, 
“Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes,” an interpretation of SFAS, No. 109, “Accounting for Income 
Taxes.” FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial 
statements in accordance with SFAS No. 109. FIN 48 also prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement 
attribute for the financial statement recognition, and for the measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be 
taken in a tax return. The new FASB standard also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and 
penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure, and transition. The Interpretation is effective for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2006. We adopted FIN 48 in the first quarter of fiscal 2008 and recorded a liability 
of $295,000 related to uncertain tax positions in the first quarter of fiscal 2008. There have been no additional 
reserves booked in fiscal 2008 related to FIN 48. 

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements,” which defines fair value, 
establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles and expands 
disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS 157 will be applied prospectively and will be effective for us 
beginning in October 2008. We are currently evaluating the effect, if any, of SFAS 157 on our consolidated financial 
statements. 

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities, including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115 (Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and 
Equity Securities),” which permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items 
at fair value with the opportunity to mitigate volatility in reported earnings caused by measuring related assets and 
liabilities differently without having to apply complex hedge accounting provisions. This Statement became 
effective for us beginning in October 2008. We are currently evaluating the effect, if any, of SFAS 159 on our 
consolidated financial statements. 

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised), “Business Combinations.” SFAS No. 141(R) changes 
the accounting for business combinations including the measurement of acquirer shares issued in consideration for a 
business combination, the recognition of contingent consideration, the accounting for preacquisition gain and loss 
contingencies, the recognition of capitalized in-process research and development, the accounting for acquisition-
related restructuring cost accruals, the treatment of acquisition related transaction costs and the recognition of 
changes in the acquirer’s income tax valuation allowance. SFAS No. 141(R) is effective for fiscal years beginning 
after December 15, 2008, with early adoption prohibited. We will be required to adopt SFAS No. 141(R) in the first 
quarter of fiscal year 2009. 

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Non Controlling Interests in Consolidated Financial 
Statements, an amendment of Accounting Research Bulletin, or ARB No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements.” 
SFAS No. 160 changes the accounting for non controlling (minority) interests in consolidated financial statements 
including the requirements to classify non controlling interests as a component of consolidated stockholders’ equity, 
and the elimination of “minority interest” accounting in results of operations with earnings attributable to non 
controlling interests reported as part of consolidated earnings. Additionally, SFAS No. 160 revises the accounting 
for both increases and decreases in a parent’s controlling ownership interest. SFAS No. 160 is effective for fiscal 
years beginning after December 15, 2008, with early adoption prohibited. We will be required to adopt 
SFAS No. 160 in the first quarter of fiscal year 2009. We do not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 160 to have a 
material effect on our operations or financial position. 
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Liquidity and Capital Resources 

At September 30, 2008, we had unrestricted cash and cash equivalents of $6.3 million, compared to $5.8 million at 
September 30, 2007. Our working capital as of September 30, 2008 increased to $34.1 million, compared to working 
capital of $22.6 million for 2007. The increase in working capital was primarily the result of increases in accounts 
receivable and notes payable. During 2008, we used $46.0 million for capital expenditures of property and 
equipment, and collected $27.3 million on development agreements, with $41.7 million advanced under 
development agreements. Under the Credit Facility, our availability as of September 30, 2008, is $55.3 million, 
subject to covenant restrictions. 

As of September 30, 2008, our total contractual cash obligations were as follows (in thousands): 

 
Less than 

  1 year   1-3 years  3-5 years   Total  
Revolving Credit Facility(1)  $ 1,102  $ 2,484  $ 20,023  $ 23,609 
Credit Facility Term Loan(2) 4,494 10,827 69,154 84,475 
Operating leases(3) 2,706 2,255 12 4,973 
Purchase commitments(4)   13,223   6,750   —   19,973 

Total  $ 21,525  $ 22,316  $ 89,189  $ 133,030 
      

There were no contractual obligations beyond 5 years as of September 30, 2008. 

(1) Relating to the Revolving Credit Facility, bearing interest at the Eurodollar rate plus the applicable 
spread (6.24% as of September 30, 2008). 

(2) Consists of amounts borrowed under our Credit Facility at the Eurodollar rate plus the applicable 
spread (6.99% as of September 30, 2008). 

(3) Consists of operating leases for our facilities and office equipment that expire at various times 
through 2011. 

(4) Consists of commitments to order third-party gaming content licenses and for the purchase of 
player terminals. 

During fiscal 2008, we generated cash from operations of $58.9 million, compared to $34.1 million during 2007. 
This $24.8 million increase in cash generated from operations over the prior period was primarily a result of the 
increase in earnings compared to the previous year and the timing of payments related to accounts payable and 
collections from accounts receivable. 

Cash used in investing activities increased to $64.9 million in 2008, from $33.6 million in 2007. The increase was 
primarily the result of a $14.4 million increase in advances, net of reimbursements under development agreements. 
During the year ended September 30, 2008, capital expenditures consisted of the following: 

 Capital Expenditures 
 (In thousands) 
Gaming equipment  $ 38,265 
Third-party gaming content licenses   7,514 
Other   218 
 Total  $ 45,997 

Cash provided by financing activities for 2008 was $6.4 million, compared to $356,000 in 2007. The increase was 
primarily the result of a $5.0 million increase in the net borrowings under the Credit Facility. 

Our capital expenditures for the next twelve months will depend upon the number of new player terminals that we 
are able to place into service at new or existing facilities and the actual number of repairs and equipment upgrades to 
the player terminals that are currently in the field. As a result of the earnings potential of compact games in the 
Oklahoma market, it is our strategy to either place compact games or to convert our Oklahoma Class II games to the 
compact games. As part of our strategy, we will offer compact games developed by us, as well as games from two 
other gaming suppliers. As a result, we have entered into purchase commitments for future purchases of player 
stations and licenses totaling $13.2 million. 

We have recently fulfilled a commitment to a significant, existing tribal customer to provide approximately 43.8%, 
or $65.6 million, of the total funding for a facility expansion. Because of our commitment to fund the expansion, we 
secured the right to place an additional 1400 gaming units in the expanded facility in southern Oklahoma. We 
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recorded all advances as a note receivable and imputed interest on the interest free loan. The discount (imputed 
interest) was recorded as contract rights and will be amortized over the life of the agreement. The repayment period 
of the note will be based on the performance of the facility. As of September 30, 2008, we had installed 
approximately 700 of the additional 1,400 units that we will place in the expanded facility. The remaining 700 units 
are expected to be installed by December 31, 2008. 

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, cash provided from our operations, and amounts available 
under our Credit Facility can sustain our current operations; however, our performance and financial results are, to a 
certain extent, subject to general conditions in or affecting the Native American gaming industry, and to general 
economic, political, financial, competitive and regulatory factors beyond our control. If our business does not 
continue to generate cash flow at current levels, or if the level of funding required in connection with our joint 
development agreements is greater or proceeds at a pace faster than anticipated, or if we receive a material judgment 
against the Company in one of the various lawsuits (See “Risk Factors – “The ultimate outcome of pending 
litigation is uncertain,” and commitments and contingencies), we may need to raise additional financing. Sources of 
additional financing might include additional bank debt or the public or private sale of equity or debt securities. 
However, sufficient funds may not be available, on terms acceptable to us or at all, from these sources or any others 
to enable us to make necessary capital expenditures and to make discretionary investments in the future. 

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements 
At September 30, 2008, we had no off balance sheet arrangements. 

Credit Facility 
On April 27, 2007, we entered into a $150 million Revolving Credit Facility which replaced our Previous Credit 
Facility in its entirety. On October 26, 2007, we amended the Revolving Credit Facility, transferring $75 million of 
the revolving credit commitment to a fully funded $75 million term loan due April 27, 2012. The Term Loan is 
amortized at an annual amount of 1% per year, payable in equal quarterly installments beginning January 1, 2008, 
with the remaining amount due on the maturity date. We entered into a second amendment to the Revolving Credit 
Facility on December 20, 2007. The second amendment (i) extended the hedging arrangement date related to a 
portion of the term loan to June 1, 2008; and (ii) modified the interest rate margin applicable to the Revolving Credit 
Facility and the term loan. 

The Credit Facility provides us with the ability to finance development agreements and acquisitions and working 
capital for general corporate purposes. Amounts under the $75 million revolving credit commitment and the 
$75 million term loan mature in five years, and advances under the term loan and revolving credit commitment bear 
interest at the Eurodollar rate plus the applicable spread (6.24% and 6.99%, respectively, as of September 30, 2008), 
tied to various levels of interest pricing determined by total debt to EBITDA. 

The Credit Facility is collateralized by substantially all of our assets, and also contains financial covenants as 
defined in the agreement. These covenants include (i) a minimum fixed-charge coverage-ratio of not less 
than 1.50 : 1.00; (ii) a maximum total debt to EBITDA ratio of not more than 2.25 : 1.00 through June 30, 2008, 
and 1.75 : 1.00 from September 30, 2008 thereafter; and (iii) a minimum trailing twelve-month EBITDA of not less 
than $57 million for the quarter ended September 30, 2007, and $60 million for each quarter thereafter. As of 
September 30, 2008, we are in compliance with the loan covenants. The Credit Facility requires certain mandatory 
prepayments be made on the term loan from the net cash proceeds of certain asset sales and condemnation 
proceedings (in each case to the extent not reinvested, within certain specified time periods, in the replacement or 
acquisition of property to be used in our businesses). In the second quarter of 2008, we made a mandatory 
prepayment of the term loan in the amount of $4.5 million due to an early prepayment of a development agreement 
note receivable. As of September 30, 2008, the Credit Facility had availability of $55.3 million, subject to covenant 
restrictions. 

The Credit Facility also required that we enter into hedging arrangements covering at least $50 million of the term 
loan for a three-year period by June 1, 2008; therefore, on May 29, 2008, we purchased, for $390,000, an interest 
rate cap (5% cap rate) covering $50 million of the term loan. We account for this hedge in accordance with FASB 
Statement No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” which requires entities to 
recognize all derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities in the balance sheet, at their respective fair values. 
We record changes on a mark to market basis reflecting these changes through interest expense in the statement of 
operations. The value of this hedge was $296,552 at September 30, 2008. 
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Share Repurchase 
During July 2007, we completed a modified “Dutch Auction” Tender Offer to purchase up to $25.0 million of our 
common stock and the associated preferred share purchase rights. We accepted, for purchase, an aggregate 
of 1,992,032 shares of our common stock at a purchase price of $12.74 per share, for an aggregate share repurchase 
of approximately $25.0 million. Additionally, we incurred costs of $387,457 related to the Tender Offer that was 
recorded in treasury stock. 

Stock Repurchase Authorizations 
During fiscal 2008, we did not repurchase any shares of our common stock. During fiscal 2007, we repurchased 
1,992,032 shares, of our common stock, at an average cost of $12.74. 

Stock-Based Compensation 
At September 30, 2008, we had approximately 6.7 million options outstanding, with exercise prices ranging from 
$1.00 to $21.53 per share. At September 30, 2008, approximately 3.9 million of the outstanding options were 
exercisable. 

During fiscal 2008, options to purchase 2.7 million shares of common stock were granted. During fiscal 2008, we 
issued 127,374 shares of common stock as a result of stock option exercises with a weighted average exercise price 
of $1.71. 

Critical Accounting Policies 

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States. As such, we are required to make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions that we believe are 
reasonable based on the information available. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the periods presented. There can be no assurance that actual results will not differ from those estimates. We 
believe the following represent our most critical accounting policies. 

Management considers an accounting estimate to be critical if: 
 It requires assumptions to be made that were uncertain at the time the estimate was made (Critical 

Assumption #1), and 
 Changes in the estimate or different estimates that could have been selected could have a material impact on our 

consolidated results of operation or financial condition (Critical Assumption #2). 

Revenue Recognition. As further discussed in the discussion of our Revenue Recognition policy in Note 1 of our 
consolidated financial statements, revenue from the sale of software is accounted for under Statement of 
Position 97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition,” or SOP 97-2, and its various interpretations. If Vendor-Specific 
Objective Evidence, or VSOE, of fair value does not exist, the revenue is deferred until such time that all elements 
have been delivered or services have been performed. If any element is determined to be essential to the function of 
the other, revenues are generally recognized over the term of the services that are rendered. In those limited 
situations where VSOE does not exist for any undelivered elements of a multiple element arrangement, then the 
aggregate value of the arrangement, including the value of products and services delivered or performed, is initially 
deferred until all hardware and software is delivered, and then is recognized ratably over the period of the last 
deliverable, generally the service period of the contract. Depending upon the elements and the terms of the 
arrangement, we recognize certain revenues under the residual method. Under the residual method, revenue is 
recognized when VSOE of fair value exists for all of the undelivered elements in the arrangement, but does not exist 
for one or more of the delivered elements in the arrangement. Under the residual method, we defer the fair value of 
undelivered elements, and the remainder of the arrangement fee is then allocated to the delivered elements and is 
recognized as revenue, assuming the other revenue recognition criteria are met. 

Assumptions/Approach Used: The determination whether all elements of sale have VSOE is a subjective measure, 
where we have made determinations about our ability to price certain aspects of transactions. 

Effect if Different Assumptions Used: When we have determined that VSOE does not exist for any undelivered 
elements of an arrangement, then the aggregate value of the arrangement, including the value of products and 
services delivered or performed, is initially deferred until all hardware and software is delivered, and then is 
recognized ratably over the period of the last deliverable, generally the service period of the contract. The deferral of 
revenue under arrangements where we have determined that VSOE does not exist has resulted in $8.8 million being 
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recorded as deferred revenue at September 30, 2008. If we had made alternative assessments as to the existence of 
VSOE in these arrangements, some or all of these amounts could have been recognized as revenue prior to 
September 30, 2008. 

Share-Based Compensation Expense. Effective October 1, 2005, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions 
of SFAS 123(R), using the modified prospective transition method, and therefore have not restated prior periods’ 
results. Under this method, we recognize compensation expense for all share-based payments granted after 
October 1, 2005 and prior to but not yet vested as of October 1, 2005, in accordance with SFAS 123(R). Under the 
fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123(R), we recognize share-based compensation net of an estimated 
forfeiture rate, and only recognize compensation cost for those shares expected to vest on a straight-line basis over 
the service period of the award. Prior to SFAS 123(R) adoption, we accounted for share-based payments under APB 
No. 25, and accordingly generally recognized compensation expense only if options were granted to outside 
consultants with a discounted exercise price. 

Assumptions/Approach Used: Determining the appropriate fair value model and calculating the fair value of share-
based payment awards requires the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected life of the share-
based payment awards, and stock price volatility. Management determined that volatility is based on historical 
volatility trends.  In addition, we are required to estimate the expected forfeiture rate, and only recognize expense for 
those shares expected to vest. If our actual forfeiture rate is materially different from our estimate, the share-based 
compensation expense could be significantly different from what we have recorded in the current period. 

Effect if Different Assumptions Used: The assumptions used in calculating the fair value of share-based payment 
awards, along with the forfeiture rate estimation, represent management’s best estimates, but these estimates involve 
inherent uncertainties and the application of management’s judgment. As a result, if factors change and we use 
different assumptions, our stock-based compensation expense could be materially different in the future. 

Property and Equipment and Leased Gaming Equipment. Property and equipment and leased gaming equipment is 
stated at cost. The cost of property and equipment and leased gaming equipment is depreciated over their estimated 
useful lives, generally using the straight-line method for financial reporting, and regulatory acceptable methods for 
tax reporting purposes. Player terminals placed with customers under participation arrangements are included in 
leased gaming equipment. Leased gaming equipment includes a “pool” of rental terminals, i.e., the “rental pool.” 
Rental pool units are those units that have previously been placed in the field under participation arrangements, but 
are currently back with us being refurbished and/or awaiting redeployment. Routine maintenance of property and 
equipment and leased gaming equipment is expensed in the period incurred, while major component upgrades are 
capitalized and depreciated over the estimated useful life (Critical Assumption #1) of the component. Sales and 
retirements of depreciable property are recorded by removing the related cost and accumulated depreciation from the 
accounts. Gains or losses on sales and retirements of property are reflected in our results of operations. 

Management reviews long-lived asset classes for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. (Critical Assumption #2) 

Assumptions/Approach used for Critical Assumption #1: The carrying value of the asset is determined based upon 
management’s assumptions as to the useful life of the asset, where the assets are depreciated over the estimated life 
on a straight line basis, where the useful life of items in the rental pool has been determined by management to be 
three years. 

Effect if different assumptions used for Critical Assumption #1: While we believe that the useful lives that have been 
determined for our fixed assets are reasonable, different assumptions could materially affect the carrying value of 
the assets, as well as the depreciation expense recorded in each respective period related to those assets. During the 
year ended September 30, 2008, a significant portion of the $52.7 million of depreciation and amortization expense 
related to assets in the rental pool. If the depreciable life of assets in our rental pool were changed from three years 
to another period of time, we could incur a materially different amount of depreciation expense during the period. 

Assumptions/Approach used for Critical Assumption #2: Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured 
through considerations of the future undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the assets as a group, as 
opposed to analysis by individual asset, or assets in place at a specific location. If such assets are considered to be 
impaired, the impairment recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds 
their fair value. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or the fair value less costs 
of disposal. The carrying value of the asset is determined based upon management’s assumptions as to the useful life 
of the asset, where the assets are depreciated over the estimated life on a straight-line basis. 
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Effect if different assumptions used for Critical Assumption #2: Impairment testing requires judgment, including 
estimations of useful lives of the assets, estimated cash flows, and determinations of fair value. While we believe our 
estimates of useful lives and cash flows are reasonable, different assumptions could materially affect the 
measurement of useful lives, recoverability and fair value. If actual cash flows fall below initial forecasts, we may 
need to record additional amortization and/or impairment charges. Additionally, while we believe that analysis of 
the recoverability of assets in our rental pool is accurately assessed from a homogenous level due to the 
interchangeability of player stations and parts, if these assets were to be reviewed for impairment using another 
approach, there could be different outcomes to any impairment analysis performed. 

Development Agreements. We enter into development agreements to provide financing for new gaming facilities or 
for the expansion of existing facilities. In return, the facility dedicates a percentage of its floor space to exclusive 
placement of our player terminals, and we receive a fixed percentage of those player terminals’ hold per day over 
the term of the agreement. Certain of the agreements contain player terminal performance standards that could allow 
the facility to reduce a portion of our guaranteed floor space. In addition, certain development agreements allow the 
facilities to buy out floor space after advances that are subject to repayment have been repaid. The agreements 
typically provide for a portion of the amounts retained by the gaming facility for their share of the hold to be used to 
repay some or all of the advances recorded as notes receivable. Amounts advanced in excess of those to be 
reimbursed by the customer for real property and land improvements are allocated to intangible assets and are 
generally amortized over the life of the contract, using the straight-line method of amortization (Critical 
Assumption #1), which is recorded as a reduction of revenue generated from the gaming facility. In the past and in 
the future, we may by mutual agreement and for consideration, amend these contracts to reduce our floor space at 
the facilities. Any proceeds received for the reduction of floor space is first applied against the intangible asset for 
that particular development agreement, if any. 

Management reviews intangible assets related to development agreements for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable (Critical 
Assumption #2). For the year ended September 30, 2008, there was no impairment to the assets’ carrying values. 

Assumptions/Approach used for Critical Assumption #1: Amounts advanced in excess of those to be reimbursed by 
the customer for real property and land improvements are allocated to intangible assets and are generally amortized 
over the life of the contract, using the straight-line method of amortization, which is recorded as a reduction of 
revenue generated from the gaming facility. We use a straight-line amortization method, as a pattern of future 
benefits cannot be readily determined. 

Effect if Different Assumptions used for Critical Assumption #1: While we believe that the use of the straight-line 
method of amortization is the best way to account for the costs associated with the costs of acquiring exclusive floor 
space rights at our customers facilities, the use of an alternative method could have a material effect on the amount 
recorded as a reduction to revenue in the current reporting period. 

Assumptions/Approach used for Critical Assumption #2: We estimate cash flows directly associated with the used of 
the intangible assets to test recoverability and remaining useful lives based upon the forecasted utilization of the 
asset and expected product revenues. In developing estimated cash flows, we incorporate assumptions regarding 
future performance, including estimations of hold per day and estimated units. When the carrying amount exceeds 
the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset, we then compare 
the carrying amount to its current fair value. We recognize an impairment loss if the carrying amount is not 
recoverable and exceeds its fair value. 

Effect if Different Assumptions used for Critical Assumption #2: Impairment testing requires judgment, including 
estimations of cash flows, and determinations of fair value. While we believe our estimates of future revenues and 
cash flows are reasonable, different assumptions could materially affect the measurement of useful lives, 
recoverability and fair value. If actual cash flows fall below initial forecasts, we may need to record additional 
amortization and/or impairment charges. 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts related to our accounts 
receivable and notes receivable that have been deemed to have a high risk of uncollectibility. Management reviews 
its accounts receivable and notes receivable on a monthly basis to determine if any receivables will potentially be 
uncollectible. Management analyzes historical collection trends and changes in its customer payment patterns, 
customer concentration, and creditworthiness when evaluating the adequacy of its allowance for doubtful accounts. 
In our overall allowance for doubtful accounts, we include any receivable balances where uncertainty exists as to 
whether the account balance has become uncollectible. Based on the information available, management believes 
the allowance for doubtful accounts is adequate; however, actual write-offs might exceed the recorded allowance. 
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Income Taxes. In accordance with SFAS, No. 109, we have recorded a deferred tax assets and liabilities to account 
for the expected future tax benefits and consequences of events that have been recognized in our financial statements 
and our tax returns. There are several items that result in deferred tax asset and liability impact to the balance sheet. 
If we conclude that it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized 
under accounting standards, it is reduced by a valuation allowance to remove the benefit of recovering those 
deferred tax assets from our financial statements. Additionally, in accordance with FIN 48, we have recorded a 
liability of $295,000 associated with uncertain tax positions. FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and 
measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to 
be taken in a tax return. We are required to determine whether it is more likely than not (a likelihood of more than 
50 percent) that a tax position will be sustained upon examination, including resolution of any related appeals or 
litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position in order to record any financial statement benefit. If 
that step is satisfied, then we must measure the tax position to determine the amount of benefit to recognize in the 
financial statements. The tax position is measured at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50 percent 
likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. 

Assumptions/Approach Used: Numerous judgments and assumptions are inherent in the determination of future 
taxable income and tax return filing positions that we take, including factors such as future operating conditions. 

Effect if Different Assumptions Used: Management, along with consultation from an independent public accounting 
firm used in tax consultation, continually evaluate complicated tax law requirements and their effect on our current 
and future tax liability and our tax filing positions. Despite our attempt to make an accurate estimate, the ultimate 
utilization of our deferred tax assets associated with the tax basis of our leased gaming equipment and property and 
equipment of $16.0 million is largely dependent upon our ability to generate taxable income in the future. Our 
liability for uncertain tax positions is dependent upon our judgment on the amount of financial statement benefit that 
an uncertain tax position will realize upon ultimate settlement and on the probabilities of the outcomes that could be 
realized upon ultimate settlement of an uncertain tax position using the facts, circumstances and information 
available at the reporting date to establish the appropriate amount of financial statement benefit. To the extent that a 
valuation allowance or uncertain tax position is established or increased or decreased during a period, we may be 
required to include an expense or benefit within income tax expense in the income statement. 

Inflation and Other Cost Factors 

Our operations have not been nor are they expected to be materially affected by inflation. However, our domestic 
and international operational expansion is affected by the cost of hardware components, which are not considered to 
be inflation sensitive, but rather, sensitive to changes in technology and competition in the hardware markets. In 
addition, we expect to continue to incur increased legal and other similar costs associated with regulatory 
compliance requirements and the uncertainties present in the operating environment in which we conduct our 
business. However, this expectation could change depending upon a number of factors, including those described 
under “Item 1. Business – Risk Factors.” 



 

-47- 

U.S. GAAP Net Income to EBITDA Reconciliation 

EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest, taxes, amortization, depreciation, and accretion of contract rights. 
Although EBITDA is not a measure of performance calculated in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, we believe the use of the non-GAAP financial measure EBITDA enhances an overall understanding of 
our past financial performance, and provides useful information to the investor because of its historical use by us as 
a performance measure, and the use of EBITDA by companies in the gaming sector as a measure of performance. 
However, investors should not consider this measure in isolation or as a substitute for net income, operating income, 
or any other measure for determining our operating performance that is calculated in accordance with GAAP. In 
addition, because EBITDA is not calculated in accordance with GAAP, it may not necessarily be comparable to 
similarly titled measures employed by other companies. A reconciliation of EBITDA to the most comparable GAAP 
financial measure, net income, follows: 

 U.S. GAAP Net Income (Loss) to 
EBITDA Reconciliation 

 (In thousands) 
   2008    2007    2006    2005    2004  
Net income (loss)  $ 378  $ (744)  $ 3,532  $ 17,643  $ 32,772 
Add back:      

Amortization and depreciation 52,717 58,179 57,227 57,105 37,255 
Accretion of contract rights 4,092 5,576 4,256 2,538 53 
Interest expense, net 3,687 421 1,454 722 374 
Income tax expense (benefit)   302   (1,179)   2,516   11,457   17,285 
EBITDA   $ 61,176  $ 62,253  $ 68,985  $ 89,465  $ 87,739 

ITEM 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk 

We are subject to market risks in the ordinary course of business, primarily associated with interest rate fluctuations. 

Our Credit Facility provides us with additional liquidity to meet our short-term financing needs, as further described 
under “PART II – Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 
– Liquidity and Capital Resources” and “PART IV – Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules – Note 6. 
Credit Facility, Long-Term Debt and Capital Leases.” Pursuant to our Credit Facility, we may currently borrow up 
to a total of $150 million, and our availability as of September 30, 2008, is $55.3 million, subject to covenant 
restrictions. 

In connection with the development agreements we enter into with many of our Native American tribal customers, 
we are required to advance funds to the tribes for the construction and development of tribal gaming facilities, some 
of which are required to be repaid. As a result of our adjustable interest rate notes payable and fixed interest rate 
notes receivable described above, we are subject to market risk with respect to interest rate fluctuations. Any 
material increase in prevailing interest rates could cause us to incur significantly higher interest expense. 

To the extent that Libor rates do not exceed the 5% Cap that we purchased in fiscal 2008, we estimate that a 
hypothetical increase of 100 basis points in interest rates would increase our interest expense by 
approximately $875,000, based on our variable debt outstanding of $87.0 million as of September 30, 2008. The 
Credit Facility also required that we enter into hedging arrangements covering at least $50 million of the term loan 
for a three-year period. On May 29, 2008, we purchased, for $390,000, an interest rate cap (5% cap rate) covering 
$50 million of the term loan. 

We account for currency translation from our Mexico operations in accordance with SFAS No. 52, “Foreign 
Currency Translation.” Balance sheet accounts are translated at the exchange rate in effect at each balance sheet 
date. Income statement accounts are translated at the average rate of exchange prevailing during the period. 
Translation adjustments resulting from this process are charged or credited to other comprehensive income. We do 
not currently manage this exposure with derivative financial instruments. 

ITEM 8.  Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 

The financial statements and supplemental data required by this item are included in PART IV, Item 15. 
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ITEM 9.  Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 

None. 

ITEM 9A.  Controls and Procedures 

Evaluation of Disclosure Control and Procedures. As of the end of the period covered by this report, an evaluation 
was carried out under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive 
Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of management’s disclosure 
controls and procedures (as defined in rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) to 
ensure information required to be disclosed in our filings under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, is (i) recorded, 
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC rules and forms; and 
(ii) accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief 
Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes 
that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can only provide reasonable assurance 
of achieving desired control objectives, and management is necessarily required to apply its judgment when 
evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of potential controls and procedures. Based upon the evaluation, the Chief 
Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer concluded that the design and operation of these disclosure 
controls and procedures were effective as of September 30, 2008. 

There were no significant changes in our internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect these 
controls subsequent to the date of their evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant 
deficiencies and material weaknesses. 

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our management is responsible for 
establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 
15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to 
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may 
deteriorate. 

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, assessed the effectiveness 
of our internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2008. In making this assessment, management 
used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal 
Control — Integrated Framework. Based on our assessment and those criteria, we believe that we maintained 
effective internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2008. 

Our independent registered public accounting firm, BDO Seidman, LLP, have issued an attestation report dated 
December 15, 2008 on our internal control over financial reporting. That report is included on page 52. 

ITEM 9B.  Other Information 

None. 
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PART III 

Certain information required by PART III is omitted from this Form 10-K, because we will file a definitive Proxy 
Statement pursuant to Regulation 14A, or Proxy Statement, no later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year 
covered by this Form 10-K, and certain information to be included therein is incorporated herein by reference. 

ITEM 10.  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement under the headings 
“Proposal One – Election of Directors,” and “Information Regarding Executive Officer Compensation – Executive 
Officers” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance.” 

We have adopted a code of ethics applicable to our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Controller and 
other finance leaders, which is a “code of ethics” as defined by applicable rules of the SEC. This code is publicly 
available on our website at http://ir.multimediagames.com/downloads.cfm. If we make any amendments to this code 
other than technical, administrative or other non-substantive amendments, or grants any waivers, including implicit 
waivers, from a provision of this code to our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer or Controller, we will 
disclose the nature of the amendment or waiver, its effective date and to whom it applies on our website or in a 
report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC. 

Information required by this item relating to the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors is incorporated by 
reference to the Proxy Statement under the heading “Corporate Governance Board of Directors Meetings and 
Committees – Audit Committee.” 

ITEM 11.  Executive Compensation 

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement under the heading 
“Executive Compensation” and “Corporate Governance – Compensation Committee.” 

ITEM 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related 
Stockholder Matters 

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement under the heading 
“Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Executive Compensation – Equity 
Compensation Plan Information.” 

ITEM 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence 

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement under the heading 
“Executive Compensation – Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” and “Corporate Governance – 
Affirmative Determination Regarding Director Independence and Other Matters.” 

ITEM 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Services 

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the Proxy Statement under the heading 
“Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Fees” and “Policy on Audit Committee Pre Approved Audit and 
Permissible Non Audit Services of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.” 

 



 

-50- 

PART IV 

ITEM 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K: 

(1) Financial Statements 

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.................................................................51 
Consolidated Balance Sheets, as of September 30, 2008 and 2007 .......................................................53 
Consolidated Statements of Operations, Years Ended September 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006.................54 
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income (Loss), 

Years Ended September 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006............................................................................55 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, Years Ended September 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006 ...............56 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ..........................................................................................58 

(2) Financial Statement Schedule 

Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts....................................................................................79 

(3) The Exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index, which appears immediately following the signature page and 
are incorporated herein by reference, and are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Multimedia Games, Inc. 
Austin, Texas 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Multimedia Games, or the Company, Inc. as of 
September 30, 2008 and 2007 and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and 
comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended September 30, 2008. 
We have also audited the schedule listed in the accompanying index. These financial statements and schedule are the 
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements and schedule based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements and schedule are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a 
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and schedule, assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
financial statements and schedule presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our 
opinion. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Multimedia Games, Inc. at September 30, 2008 and 2007, and the results of its operations and 
its cash flows for the each of the three years in the period ended September 30, 2008, in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Also, in our opinion, the schedule presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein. 

As discussed in Note 9 of the consolidated financial statements, effective October 1, 2008, the Company adopted the 
provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 48, or FIN 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes,” an 
interpretation of SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States), Multimedia Games, Inc. internal control over financial reporting as of September 30, 2008, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of 
the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria) and our report dated December 15, 2008 expressed an unqualified 
opinion thereon. 

/s/ BDO Seidman, LLP 

Houston, Texas 
December 15, 2008 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Multimedia Games, Inc. 
Austin, Texas 

We have audited Multimedia Games, Inc., or the Company’s, internal control over financial reporting as of 
September 30, 2008, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). The Company’s 
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment 
of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Item 9A, 
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.  

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit 
included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material 
weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the 
assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the 
circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting 
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, 
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable 
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made 
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable 
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s 
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.  

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may 
deteriorate.  

In our opinion, Multimedia Games, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial 
reporting as of September 30, 2008, based on the COSO criteria.  

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 
States), the consolidated balance sheets of Multimedia Games, or the Company, Inc. as of September 30, 2008 
and 2007 and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income 
(loss), and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended September 30, 2008, and our report dated 
December 15, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 

/s/ BDO Seidman, LLP 

Houston, Texas 
December 15, 2008 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
As of September 30, 2008 and 2007 

(In thousands, except share and per-share amounts) 
   2008    2007 

ASSETS   
CURRENT ASSETS:   

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 6,289  $ 5,805 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts 

of $1,209 and $854, respectively  23,566  22,176 
Inventory   2,445  3,602 
Deferred contract costs  998  — 
Prepaid expenses and other  2,170  2,906 
Current portion of notes receivable, net  23,072  12,248 
Federal and state income tax receivable  2,198   — 
Deferred income taxes   6,876   1,932 

Total current assets  67,614  48,669 
Restricted cash and long-term investments  868  928 
Leased gaming equipment, net  36,024  38,579 
Property and equipment, net  67,329  75,332 
Long-term portion of notes receivable, net   46,690  36,797 
Intangible assets, net  37,356  35,884 
Other assets   4,157   3,497 
Deferred income taxes   16,902   16,583 

Total assets  $ 276,940  $ 256,269 

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY   
CURRENT LIABILITIES:   

Current portion of long-term debt   $ 1,544  $ 563 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  29,248  22,021 
Federal and state income tax payable  33  2,444 
Deferred revenue   2,640   1,020 

Total current liabilities  33,465  26,048 
Revolving line of credit  19,000  7,000 
Long-term debt less current portion  66,444  74,484 
Other long-term liabilities  1,131  928 
Deferred revenue, less current portion   6,168   — 

Total liabilities   126,208   108,460 
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 6,7,8,9, 10 and 11)   
Stockholders’ equity:   

Preferred stock:    
Series A, $0.01 par value, 1,800,000 shares authorized, 

no shares issued and outstanding;  —  — 
Series B, $0.01 par value, 200,000 shares authorized, 

no shares issued and outstanding  —  — 
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 75,000,000 shares authorized; 

32,511,988 and 32,134,614 shares issued, and 
26,608,571and 26,231,197 shares outstanding, respectively  325  321 

Additional paid-in capital  83,076  80,112 
Treasury stock, 5,903,417 shares at cost  (50,128)  (50,128)
Retained earnings   117,581   117,498 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)   (122)   6 

Total stockholders’ equity   150,732   147,809 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 276,940  $ 256,269 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
For the Years Ended September 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006 

(In thousands, except per-share amounts) 

   2008   2007    2006 
REVENUES:    

Gaming revenue:    
Class II  $ 28,360  $ 47,964  $ 89,167 
Oklahoma Compact   55,182   37,131   10,629 
Charity   14,632   18,010   18,416 
All other  21,338  13,887  8,483 

Gaming equipment, system sale and lease revenue  9,959  2,869  13,946 
Other   1,661   2,056   4,471 

Total revenues   131,132   121,917   145,112 

OPERATING COSTS AND EXPENSES:    
Cost of gaming equipment and systems sold 

and royalty fees paid  5,012  2,223  11,768 
Selling, general and administrative expenses  72,168  66,104  68,615 
Amortization and depreciation   52,717   58,179   57,227 

Total operating costs and expenses   129,897   126,506   137,610 
Operating income (loss)  1,235  (4,589)  7,502 

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):    
Other income  3,132  3,087  — 
Interest income  5,011  4,575  3,024 
Interest expense   (8,698)   (4,996)   (4,478)

Income (loss) before income taxes  680  (1,923)  6,048 
Income tax (expense) benefit   (302)   1,179   (2,516)

Net income (loss)  $ 378  $ (744)  $ 3,532 

Basic earnings (loss) per common share  $ 0.01  $ (0.03)  $ 0.13 

Diluted earnings (loss) per common share  $ 0.01  $ (0.03)  $ 0.12 

Shares used in earnings (loss) per common share    

Basic  26,292  27,389  27,175 

Diluted  27,201  27,389  29,108 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
For the Years Ended September 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006 

(In thousands) 

   2008    2007    2006  
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:    
Net income (loss)  $ 378  $ (744)  $ 3,532 
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to cash provided 

by operating activities:    
Amortization   4,703  6,338  6,532 
Depreciation  48,014  51,841  50,695 
Accretion of contract rights  4,092  5,576  4,256 
Provisions for long-lived assets  5,657  320  1,142 
Deferred income taxes  (5,263)  (10,833)  (8,865) 
Share-based compensation  1,469  1,164  2,702 
Provision for doubtful accounts  421  466  849 
Interest income from imputed interest   (4,308)  (2,559)  (1,240) 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:    

Accounts receivable  (1,987)  (4,190)  90 
Inventory  4,178  (2)  (3,186) 
Deferred contract costs  (998)  —  789 
Prepaid expenses and other   76  (2,743)  2,074 
Federal and state income tax payable/receivable  (4,904)  319  (1,187) 
Notes receivable   (8,402)  (335)  (793) 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  7,227  (9,650)  (3,627) 
Other long-term liabilities  263  (96)  (257) 
Deferred revenue   8,307   (762)   (1,356) 

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES   58,923   34,110   52,150 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:    
Acquisition of property and equipment 

and leased gaming equipment   (45,997)  (59,212)  (37,639) 
Proceeds from disposal of assets  340  1,599  — 
Acquisition of intangible assets  (4,845)  (3,850)  (5,411) 
Advances under development agreements  (41,660)  (28,492)  (37,240) 
Repayments under development agreements  27,273  43,629  12,500 
Proceeds from development agreement floor space buyback   —   12,731   3,036 

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES   (64,889)   (33,595)   (64,754) 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:    
Proceeds from exercise of stock options,  

warrants and related tax benefit  329  4,834  4,241 
Proceeds from shares issued  1,170  —  — 
Proceeds from long-term debt  4,574  75,047  — 
Principal payments of long-term debt and capital leases  (11,633)  (5,124)  (13,605) 
Proceeds from revolving lines of credit  31,418  23,777  54,549 
Payments on revolving lines of credit  (19,418)  (72,791)  (26,305) 
Purchase of treasury stock   —   (25,387)   (1,456) 

NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING ACTIVITIES   6,440   356   17,424 
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATES ON CASH   10   (5)   1 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  484  866  4,821 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year   5,805   4,939   118 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year  $ 6,289  $ 5,805  $ 4,939 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS – (Continued) 
For the Years Ended September 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006 

(In thousands) 

   2008    2007    2006  
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DATA:    

Interest paid  $ 7,564  $ 4,805  $ 4,011 
Income tax paid  $ 10,852  $ 7,629  $ 11,151 

NONCASH TRANSACTIONS:    
Contract rights resulting from imputed interest on 

development agreement notes receivables  $ 6,380  $ 6,290  $ 6,393 
Transfer of leased gaming equipment to inventory  $ 3,021  $ —  $ — 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
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1.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Operations – The Company is a supplier of interactive systems, electronic games, and player terminals for the 
Native American gaming market, as well as for the racetrack casino, charity and commercial bingo/sweepstakes and 
video lottery markets. The Company designs and develops networks, software and content that provide its customers 
with, among other things, comprehensive gaming systems delivered through a telecommunications network linking 
the Company’s player terminals with one another, both within and among gaming facilities, thereby enabling players 
to simultaneously participate in the same game and to compete against one another to win common pooled prizes. 
The Company’s ongoing development and marketing efforts focus on Class II and Class III gaming systems and 
products for use by Native American tribes throughout the United States, video lottery systems, sweepstakes, 
amusement with prize games, other products for domestic and international lotteries, and products for domestic and 
international charity and commercial bingo facilities. The Company’s gaming systems are typically provided to 
customers under revenue sharing arrangements, except for video lottery terminals in the Class III market in 
Washington State, which are typically sold for an up-front purchase price. The Company offers content for its 
gaming systems that has been designed and developed by the Company, as well as game themes the Company has 
licensed from others. The Company currently operates in one business segment. 

Consolidation Principles – The Company’s financial statements include the accounts of Multimedia Games, Inc. 
and its wholly-owned subsidiaries: Megabingo, Inc., MGAM Systems, Inc., Innovative Sweepstakes Systems, Inc., 
MGAM Services, LLC, MGAM Systems International, Inc., Megabingo International, LLC, Multimedia Games de 
Mexico 1, S. de R.L. de C.V., and Servicios de Wild Basin S. de R.L. de C.V. Intercompany balances and 
transactions have been eliminated. 

Accounting Estimates – The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
reporting period. Examples include share-based compensation, provisions for doubtful accounts and contract losses, 
estimated useful lives of property and equipment and intangible assets, impairment of property and equipment and 
intangible assets, deferred income taxes, and the provision for and disclosure of litigation and loss contingencies. 
Actual results may differ materially from these estimates in the future. 

Revenue Recognition – In accordance with the provision of Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, “Revenue 
Recognition,” or SAB 104, the Company recognizes revenue when all of the following have been satisfied: 

 Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; 

 Delivery has occurred; 

 Price to the buyer is fixed or determinable; and 

 Collectability is probable. 

Gaming Revenue - The Company derives Gaming Revenue from the following sources: 

h Class II – Participation revenue generated from the Company’s Native American 
Class II product 

h Oklahoma Compact – Participation revenue generated from its games placed by the Company 
under the Oklahoma Compact 

h Charity – Participation revenue generated from its charity bingo product 
h All Other – Participation revenue from Class III back-office systems, New York 

Lottery system, Mexico bingo market, and certain other participation 
based markets  

The majority of the Company’s gaming revenue is of a recurring nature, and is generated under lease participation 
arrangements when the Company provides its customers with player terminals, player terminal-content licenses and 
back-office equipment, collectively referred to as gaming equipment. Under these arrangements, the Company 
retains ownership of the gaming equipment installed at customer facilities, and the Company receives revenue based 
on a percentage of the net win per day generated by the gaming equipment. Revenue from lease participation 
arrangements are considered both realizable and earned at the end of each gaming day. 
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Gaming Revenue generated by player terminals deployed at sites under development agreements is reduced by the 
accretion of contract rights from those development agreements. Contract rights are amounts allocated to intangible 
assets for dedicated floor space resulting from development agreements, described under “Development 
Agreements.” The related amortization expense, or accretion of contract rights, is netted against its respective 
revenue category in the consolidated statements of operations. 

The Company also generates gaming revenues from back-office fees with certain customers. Back-office fees cover 
the service and maintenance costs for back-office servers installed in each gaming facility to run its gaming 
equipment, as well as the cost of related software updates. Back-office fees are considered both realizable and 
earned at the end of each gaming day. 

Gaming equipment and system sales - The Company periodically sells gaming equipment and gaming systems 
under independent sales contracts through normal credit terms or may grant extended credit terms under contracts 
secured by the related equipment, with interest recognized at market rates. 

For sales arrangements with multiple deliverables, the Company applies the guidance from Statement of Position, or 
SOP 97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition,” as amended, and Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF 00-21, 
“Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.” Deliverables are divided into separate units of accounting if: 
(i) each item has value to the customer on a stand-alone basis; (ii) there is objective and reliable evidence of the fair 
value of the undelivered items; and (iii) delivery of the undelivered item is considered probable and substantially in 
the Company’s control. 

The majority of the Company’s multiple element sales contracts are for some combination of gaming equipment, 
player terminals, content, system software, license fees and maintenance. For multiple element contracts considered 
a single unit of accounting, the Company recognizes revenues based on the method appropriate for the last delivered 
item. 

The Company allocates revenue to each accounting unit based upon its fair value as determined by Vendor Specific 
Objective Evidence, or VSOE. VSOE of fair value for all elements of an arrangement is based upon the normal 
pricing and discounting practices for those products and services when sold individually. The Company recognizes 
revenue when the product is physically delivered to a customer controlled location or over the period in which the 
service is performed and defers revenue for any undelivered elements. 

 In those situations where each element is not essential to the function of the other, the “multiple deliverables” 
are bifurcated into accounting units based on their relative fair market value against the total contract value and 
revenue recognition on those deliverables are recorded when all requirements of revenue recognition have been 
met. 

 If any element is determined to be essential to the function of the other, revenues are generally recognized over 
the term of the services that are rendered. 

In those situations where VSOE does not exist for any undelivered elements of a multiple element arrangement, then 
the aggregate value of the arrangement, including the value of products and services delivered or performed, is 
initially deferred until all hardware and software is delivered, and then the entire amount of the arrangement is 
recognized ratably over the period of the last deliverable, generally the service period of the contract. Depending 
upon the elements and the terms of the arrangement, the Company recognizes certain revenues under the residual 
method. Under the residual method, revenue is recognized when VSOE of fair value exists for all of the undelivered 
elements in the arrangement, but does not exist for one or more of the delivered elements in the arrangement. Under 
the residual method, the Company defers the fair value of undelivered elements, and the remainder of the 
arrangement fee is then allocated to the delivered elements and is recognized as revenue, assuming the other revenue 
recognition criteria are met. 

Costs and Billings on Uncompleted Contract - During fiscal 2008, the Company entered into a fixed-price contract 
with a customer, pursuant to which it will deliver an electronic bingo system. Revenues from this fixed-price 
contract will be recognized on the completed-contract method in accordance with American Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants Statement of Position 81-1. 

Contract costs include all direct material and labor costs, and those indirect costs related to contract performance, 
such as indirect labor, supplies and tools. General and administrative costs are charged to expense as incurred. 
Provisions for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are made in the period in which such losses are 
determined. 

Costs in excess of amounts billed are classified as current assets under “Deferred contract costs.” 
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At September 30, 2008, the following amounts were recorded in the Company’s consolidated financial statements: 

  (In thousands) 

Costs incurred on uncompleted contracts  $ 1,350 
Billings on uncompleted contracts   (352) 

Deferred contract costs  $ 998 

Cash and Cash Equivalents – The Company considers all highly liquid investments (i.e., investments which, when 
purchased, have original maturities of three months or less) to be cash equivalents. 

Restricted Cash and Long-Term Investments – Restricted cash and long-term investments at September 30, 2008 
and 2007, were $868,000 and $928,000, respectively, representing the fair value of investments held by the 
Company’s prize fulfillment firm related to outstanding MegaBingo® jackpot prizes. 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts – The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts related to its 
accounts receivable and notes receivable that have been deemed to have a risk of collectibility. Management reviews 
its accounts receivable and notes receivable on a monthly basis to determine if any receivables will potentially be 
uncollectible. Management analyzes historical collection trends and changes in its customer payment patterns, 
customer concentration, and creditworthiness when evaluating the adequacy of its allowance for doubtful accounts. 
In its overall allowance for doubtful accounts, the Company includes any receivable balances where uncertainty 
exists as to whether the account balance has become uncollectible. Based on the information available, management 
believes the allowance for doubtful accounts is adequate; however, actual write-offs might exceed the recorded 
allowance. 

Inventory – The Company’s inventory consists primarily of completed player terminals, related component parts 
and back-office computer equipment expected to be sold over the next twelve months. Inventories are stated at the 
lower of cost (first in, first out) or market.  

Development Agreements – The Company enters into development agreements to provide financing for new 
gaming facilities or for the expansion of existing facilities. In return, the facility dedicates a percentage of its floor 
space to placement of the Company’s player terminals, and the Company receives a fixed percentage of those player 
terminals’ hold per day over the term of the agreement which is generally for 83 months. Certain of the agreements 
contain player terminal performance standards that could allow the facility to reduce a portion of the Company’s 
guaranteed floor space. In addition, certain development agreements allow the facilities to buy out floor space after 
advances that are subject to repayment have been repaid. The agreements typically provide for a portion of the 
amounts retained by the gaming facility for their share of the operating profits of the facility to be used to repay 
some or all of the advances recorded as notes receivable. Amounts advanced in excess of those to be reimbursed by 
the customer for real property and land improvements are allocated to intangible assets and are generally amortized 
over the term of the contract, which is recorded as a reduction of revenue generated from the gaming facility. In the 
past and in the future, the Company may by mutual agreement and for consideration, amend these contracts to 
reduce its floor space at the facilities. Any proceeds received for the reduction of floor space is first applied against 
the intangible asset recovered for that particular development agreement, if any and the remaining net book value of 
the intangible asset is prospectively amortized on a straight-line method over the remaining estimated useful life. 

At September 30, 2008 and 2007, the following net amounts related to advances made under development 
agreements were recorded in the following balance sheet captions: 

 September 30, 
  2008 

September 30, 
  2007  

 (In thousands)
Included in   

Notes Receivable(1)  $ 61,750  $ 49,045 
Property and equipment,  

net of accumulated depreciation   —   56 
Intangible assets – contract rights,  

net of accumulated amortization 
  29,368   27,080 

   
(1) The Company collected approximately $27.3 million on development agreement notes 

receivable during 2008. 
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Notes receivable from development agreements are generated from reimbursable amounts advanced under 
development agreements. The Company has entered into development agreements with a customer under which 
approximately $72.7 million has been advanced and is outstanding at September 30, 2008, and for which we impute 
interest on these interest-free loans discounting the balances to $61.8 million. During fiscal 2008, the Company 
recorded imputed interest of $4.3 million relating to development agreements with an imputed interest rate range 
of 6.00% to 9.00% compared to $2.6 million in fiscal 2007. 

Property and Equipment and Leased Gaming Equipment – Property and equipment and leased gaming equipment 
are stated at cost. The cost of property and equipment and leased gaming equipment is depreciated over their 
estimated useful lives, generally using the straight-line method for financial reporting, and regulatory acceptable 
methods for income tax reporting purposes. Player terminals placed with customers under participation 
arrangements are included in leased gaming equipment. Leased gaming equipment includes a “pool” of rental 
terminals, i.e., the “rental pool.” Rental pool units are those units that have previously been placed in the field under 
participation arrangements, but are currently back with the Company, being refurbished and/or awaiting 
redeployment. Routine maintenance of property and equipment and leased gaming equipment is expensed in the 
period incurred, while major component upgrades are capitalized and depreciated over the estimated remaining 
useful life of the component. Sales and retirements of depreciable property are recorded by removing the related cost 
and accumulated depreciation from the accounts. Gains or losses on sales and retirements of property are reflected in 
the Company’s results of operations. 

Management reviews long-lived asset classes for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is 
measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to its fair value, which considers the future 
undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the 
impairment recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds their fair 
value. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or the fair value less costs of 
disposal. In the fourth Quarter of fiscal 2008, the Company recorded reserves of $5.6 million related to property and 
equipment and leased gaming equipment (See Note 2, “Property and Equipment and Leased Gaming Equipment.”) 

Equipment under Capital Lease – Equipment under capital leases is recorded at the lower of the present value of 
the minimum lease payments or the fair value of the assets. The cost of leased property and equipment is amortized 
using the Company’s normal amortization policy, described under “Property and Equipment and Leased Gaming 
Equipment.” 

Deferred Revenue – Deferred revenue represents amounts from the sale of gaming equipment and systems that have 
been billed, or for which notes receivable have been executed, but which transaction has not met the Company’s 
revenue recognition criteria. The cost of the related gaming equipment and systems has been offset against deferred 
revenue. Amounts are classified between current and long-term liabilities, based upon the expected period in which 
the revenue will be recognized. 

Other Income - Other income was $3.1 million for the years ended September 30, 2008, and 2007. Other income 
consisted of distributions from a partnership interest, accounted for on the cost basis, of $3.1 million in 2008 and 
$1.7 million in 2007. Also in 2007, other income consisted of $1.4 million resulting from the extinguishment of a 
liability resulting from the settlement with the Company’s former Chief Executive Officer. 

Other Long-Term Liabilities – Other long-term liabilities at September 30, 2008 and 2007 include the present value 
of investments held by the Company’s prize-fulfillment firm related to outstanding MegaBingo jackpot-prize-winner 
annuities of $868,000 and $928,000, respectively. At September 30, 2008, other long term liabilities also included 
$263,000 associated with the resignation of a former Chief Executive Officer. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments – The carrying value of financial instruments reported in the accompanying 
consolidated balance sheets for cash, accounts and notes receivable, accounts payable, and accrued expenses payable 
and other liabilities, approximate fair value due to the immediate or short-term nature or maturity of these financial 
instruments. The carrying amounts for our credit facility approximates fair value due to the fact that the underlying 
instrument includes provisions to adjust interest rates to approximate fair market value. 

Segment and Related Information – Although the Company has a number of operating divisions, separate segment 
data has not been presented as they meet the criteria for aggregation as permitted by SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures 
About Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information.” 
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Costs of Computer Software – Software development costs have been accounted for in accordance with 
SFAS No. 86, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed.” Under 
SFAS No. 86, capitalization of software development costs begins upon the establishment of technological 
feasibility and prior to the availability of the product for general release to customers. We capitalized software 
development costs of approximately $3.7 million during 2008, $2.8 million during 2007, and $4.6 million 
during 2006. Software development costs primarily consist of personnel costs and rent for related office space. We 
begin to amortize capitalized costs when a product is available for general release to customers. Amortization 
expense is determined on a product-by-product basis at a rate not less than straight-line basis over the product’s 
remaining estimated economic life, but not to exceed five years. Amortization of software development costs was 
approximately $3.3 million in 2008, $4.3 million in 2007, and $4.2 million in 2006, and is included in amortization 
and depreciation in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. 

Income Taxes – The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method and applies the 
provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” 
Under SFAS No. 109, deferred tax liabilities or assets arise from differences between the tax basis of liabilities or 
assets and their bases for financial reporting, and are subject to tests of recoverability in the case of deferred tax 
assets. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in 
the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax 
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. 
A valuation allowance is provided for deferred tax assets to the extent realization is not judged to be more likely 
than not. 

Treasury Stock – The Company utilizes the cost method for accounting for its treasury stock acquisitions and 
dispositions. 

Earnings (Loss) per Common Share – Earnings per common share is computed in accordance with SFAS No. 128, 
“Earnings per Share.” Presented below is a reconciliation of net income (loss) available to common stockholders and 
the differences between weighted average common shares outstanding, which are used in computing basic earnings 
(loss) per share, and weighted average common and potential shares outstanding, which are used in computing 
diluted earnings per share. 

 
For the Year Ended  

September 30,  

 (In thousands, except shares and per-share amounts)

 2008 2007 2006 
Income (loss) available to common stockholders  $ 378  $ (744)  $ 3,532 
Weighted average common shares outstanding 26,291,968   27,388,921   27,174,998 

Effect of dilutive securities:    
 Options   909,462   —   1,933,476 
Weighted average common and potential shares outstanding   27,201,430   27,388,921   29,108,474 
Basic earnings (loss) per share  $ 0.01  $ (0.03)  $ 0.13 
Diluted earnings (loss) per share  $ 0.01  $ (0.03)  $ 0.12 

At September 30, 2008, options to purchase approximately 2.9 million shares of common stock, with exercise prices 
ranging from 4.68 to $21.53, per share were outstanding, but were not included in the computation of diluted 
earnings per share due to their antidilutive effect. 

At September 30, 2007, options to purchase approximately 1.7 million shares of common stock, with exercise prices 
ranging from $7.61 to $21.53, were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share due to the 
antidilutive effect, and approximately 1.8 million equivalent shares were not included due to the loss generated in 
the current year. 

At September 30, 2006, options to purchase approximately 1.9 million weighted shares of common stock at exercise 
prices ranging from $7.61 to $21.53 per share were outstanding, but were not included in the computation of diluted 
earnings per share due to their antidilutive effect. 

On October 1, 2005, the Company adopted the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment.” 
SFAS No. 123(R) is a revision of SFAS No. 123 and supersedes APB No 25. Among other items, SFAS No. 123(R) 
eliminated the use of APB No. 25 and the intrinsic value method of accounting, and requires the Company to 
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recognize in the financial statements, the cost of employee services received in exchange for awards of equity 
instruments, based on the grant date fair value of those awards. To measure the fair value of stock options granted to 
employees, the Company currently utilizes the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model, consistent with the 
method used for pro forma disclosures under SFAS No. 123(R). SFAS No. 123(R) permits companies to adopt its 
requirements using either a “modified prospective” method, or a “modified retrospective” method. The Company 
applied the “modified prospective” method, under which compensation cost is recognized in the financial statements 
beginning with the adoption date for all share-based payments granted after that date, and for all unvested awards 
granted prior to the adoption date of SFAS No. 123(R). 

The Black-Scholes-Merton model incorporates various assumptions, including expected volatility, expected life, and 
risk-free interest rates. The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the Company’s common stock 
over the most recent period commensurate with the estimated expected life of the Company’s stock options, adjusted 
for the impact of unusual fluctuations not reasonably expected to recur. The expected life of an award is based on 
historical experience and on the terms and conditions of the stock awards granted to employees. 

There were option grants to purchase 2.7 million common shares during the year ended September 30, 2008. The 
assumptions used for the years ended 2008, 2007 and 2006, and the resulting estimates of weighted-average fair 
value per share of options granted during these periods are as follows: 

  2008  2007  2006 
Weighted expected life 4.98 years 4.63 years 4.65 years 
Risk-free interest rate 3.0% - 4.1% 4.10% 4.10% 
Expected volatility 50.23% 62.00% 62.00% 
Expected dividend yields None None None 
Weighted-average fair value of options 

granted during the period $2.14 $5.88 $5.53 
Expected annual forfeiture rate  5.31%  5.31%  5.31% 

Total pre tax share-based compensation for the years ended 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $1.5 million, $1.2 million and 
$2.7 million, respectively. The total income tax benefit recognized in the statement of operations for share-based 
compensation arrangements was $103,000, $162,000 and $548,000 for the years ended September 30, 2008, 2007 
and 2006, respectively. In accordance with SFAS No. 123 (R), the share-based compensation for 2008, 2007 
and 2006 has been recorded by the Company. 

Foreign Currency Translation. The Company accounts for currency translation in accordance with SFAS No. 52, 
“Foreign Currency Translation.” Balance sheet accounts are translated at the exchange rate in effect at each balance 
sheet date. Income statement accounts are translated at the average rate of exchange prevailing during the period. 
Translation adjustments resulting from this process are charged or credited to other comprehensive income (loss) in 
accordance with SFAS 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income.” 

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements – On July 13, 2006, the FASB, issued FASB Interpretation No. 48, 
or FIN 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes,” an interpretation of SFAS No. 109. FIN 48 clarifies the 
accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with 
SFAS No. 109. FIN 48 also prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement 
recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. The new FASB standard 
also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, 
disclosure, and transition. The interpretation is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006. The 
Company adopted FIN 48 in the first quarter of fiscal 2008 and recorded a liability of $295,000 related to uncertain 
tax positions in the first quarter of fiscal 2008. There have been no additional reserves recorded in fiscal 2008 
related to FIN 48. 

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements,” which defines fair value, 
establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles, and expands 
disclosures about fair-value measurements. SFAS 157 will be applied prospectively, and will be effective for the 
Company beginning in October 2008. The Company is currently evaluating the effect, if any, of SFAS 157 on the 
Company's consolidated financial statements. 

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities, including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115 (Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and 
Equity Securities),” which permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items 
at fair value with the opportunity to mitigate volatility in reported earnings caused by measuring related assets and 
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liabilities differently without having to apply complex hedge accounting provisions. This Statement is effective for 
the Company beginning in October 2008. The Company is currently evaluating the effect, if any, of SFAS 159 on its 
consolidated financial statements. 

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised), “Business Combinations.” SFAS No. 141(R) changes 
the accounting for business combinations including the measurement of acquirer shares issued in consideration for a 
business combination, the recognition of contingent consideration, the accounting for preacquisition gain and loss 
contingencies, the recognition of capitalized in-process research and development, the accounting for acquisition-
related restructuring cost accruals, the treatment of acquisition related transaction costs and the recognition of 
changes in the acquirer’s income tax valuation allowance. SFAS No. 141(R) is effective for fiscal years beginning 
after December 15, 2008, with early adoption prohibited. The Company will be required to adopt SFAS No. 141(R) 
in the first quarter of fiscal year 2010. 

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Non Controlling Interests in Consolidated Financial 
Statements, an amendment of Accounting Research Bulletin, or ARB No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements.” 
SFAS No. 160 changes the accounting for non controlling (minority) interests in consolidated financial statements 
including the requirements to classify non controlling interests as a component of consolidated stockholders’ equity, 
and the elimination of “minority interest” accounting in results of operations with earnings attributable to non 
controlling interests reported as part of consolidated earnings. Additionally, SFAS No. 160 revises the accounting 
for both increases and decreases in a parent’s controlling ownership interest. SFAS No. 160 is effective for fiscal 
years beginning after December 15, 2008, with early adoption prohibited The Company will be required to adopt 
SFAS No. 160 in the first quarter of fiscal year 2010. The Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS No. 160 
to have a material effect on its operations or financial position. 

2.  Property and Equipment and Leased Gaming Equipment 

At September 30, 2008 and 2007, the Company’s property and equipment and leased gaming equipment consisted 
of the following: 

   2008    2007  

Estimated 
Useful 

  Lives 
 (In thousands)  
Gaming equipment and third-party gaming content 

licenses available for deployment(1)  $ 30,252  $ 32,013  
Deployed gaming equipment   96,584   94,564 3-5 years 
Deployed third-party gaming content licenses   34,444   28,366 1.5-3 years
Tribal gaming facilities and portable buildings   4,720   5,296 5-7 years 
Third-party software costs   7,732   8,434 3-5 years 
Vehicles   3,502   3,499 3-10 years 
Other   3,191   3,263 3-7 years 

Total property and equipment   180,425   175,435  
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization   (113,096)   (100,103)  

Total property and equipment, net  $ 67,329  $ 75,332  
Leased gaming equipment  $ 165,903  $ 154,769 3 years 
Less accumulated depreciation    (129,879)   (116,190)  

Total leased gaming equipment, net  $ 36,024  $ 38,579  
  
(1) Gaming equipment and third-party gaming content licenses will begin depreciating when they are placed in 

service. 

During 2008, the Company sold, disposed of, or wrote off $3.8 million of net book value related to third-party 
gaming content licenses, installation costs, tribal gaming facilities and portable buildings, and other equipment. Of 
this $3.8 million, $3.0 million related to the sale, in the fiscal 2008 fourth quarter, of 496 previously deployed units. 

Leased gaming equipment includes player terminals placed under participation arrangements that are either at 
customer facilities or in the rental pool. 

In accordance with SFAS 144, “Accounting for the impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” the Company 
i) recognizes an impairment loss only if the carrying amount of a long-lived asset is not recoverable from its 
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undiscounted cash flows; and (ii) measures an impairment loss as the difference between the carrying amount and 
fair value of the asset. 

During the fourth quarter of 2008, the Company performed an annual impairment test of our long-lived assets in 
accordance with SFAS 144. As part of this analysis, we considered whether the future benefits expected from certain 
long-lived assets exceeded the assets carrying value. In several instances, managements’ intentions for current 
projects shifted as a new management team was inserted at the Company in the fourth fiscal quarter of 2008, leading 
us to terminate funding (both in terms of human resources and capital spent) on some of these projects, based upon 
our determination that the future benefit of several of the projects was minimal. In these instances, the carrying 
value of existing assets related to these projects was determined to be impaired. As such, the Company recorded 
reserves of $5.6 million related to property and equipment and leased gaming equipment in the fourth fiscal quarter. 
The reserves included $3.0 million related to undeployed gaming licenses and prepaid royalties, $2.4 million related 
to undeployed gaming cabinets, and $200,000 related other miscellaneous assets. The Company considered the 
potential salvage value of the assets and determined that such an amount would be negligible. Therefore, 
classification of these assets as ‘held for sale’ is not necessary. 

3.  Development Agreements 

The Company enters into development agreements to provide financing for new gaming facilities or for the 
expansion of existing facilities. In return, the facility dedicates a percentage of its floor space to placement of the 
Company’s player terminals, and the Company receives a fixed percentage of those player terminals’ hold per day 
over the term of the agreement. The agreements typically provide for some or all of the advances to be repaid by the 
customer to the Company. Amounts advanced in excess of those to be reimbursed by the customer are allocated to 
intangible assets and are generally amortized over the life of the contract, which is recorded as a reduction of 
revenue generated from the gaming facility. Certain of the agreements contain player terminal performance 
standards that could allow the facility to reduce a portion of the Company’s floor space. In the past and in the future, 
the Company may by mutual agreement and for consideration, amend these contracts to reduce its floor space at the 
facilities. Any proceeds received for the reduction of floor space is first applied as a recovery against the intangible 
asset or property and development for that particular development agreement, if any. In the second quarter of 
fiscal 2008, the Company modified a development agreement by agreeing to reduce the number of player terminals 
at a development site. In return, the Company received a complete payoff of a note receivable in the amount of 
$4.5 million. 

The Company has recently fulfilled a commitment to a significant, existing tribal customer to provide 
approximately 43.8%, or $65.6 million, of the total funding for a facility expansion. Because of the Company’s 
commitment to fund the expansion, it secured the right to place an additional 1,400 gaming units in the expanded 
facility in southern Oklahoma. The Company recorded all advances as a note receivable and imputed interest on the 
interest free loan. The discount (imputed interest) was recorded as contract rights and will be amortized over the life 
of the agreement. The repayment period of the note will be based on the performance of the facility. As of 
September 30, 2008, the Company had installed approximately 700 of the additional 1,400 units that it will place in 
the expanded facility. The remaining 700 units are expected to be installed by December 31, 2008. 

Management reviews intangible assets related to development agreements for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. There were no events 
or changes in circumstance during fiscal 2008 that would require an impairment change to the assets’ carrying value. 

The following net amounts related to advances made under development agreements and were recorded in the 
following balance sheet captions: 

 September 30, 
  2008  

September 30, 
  2007  

Included in: (In thousands) 
Notes receivable, net  $ 61,750  $ 49,045 
Property and equipment, 

net of accumulated depreciation  —  56 
Intangible assets – contract rights, 

net of accumulated amortization   29,368   27,080 
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4.  Intangible Assets 

At September 30, 2008 and 2007, the Company’s intangible assets consisted of the following: 

   2008    2007  

Estimated
Useful 

  Lives 

 (In thousands) 
Contract rights under development agreements  $ 41,325  $ 34,946 5-7 years 
Internally developed gaming software   26,473   23,255 1-5 years 
Patents and trademarks   8,464   7,450 1-5 years 
Other   1,054   2,376 3-5 years 

Total intangible assets   77,316   68,027  
Less accumulated amortization – all other   (39,960)   (32,143)  

Total intangible assets, net  $ 37,356  $ 35,884  

Contract rights are amounts allocated to intangible assets for dedicated floor space resulting from development 
agreements, described under “Development Agreements.” The related amortization expense, or accretion of contract 
rights, is netted against its respective revenue category in the consolidated statements of operations. In the preceding 
table, $14.4 million of the $41.3 million at September 30, 2008, in contract rights is not currently being amortized 
pending completion of a customer facility expansion, which is expected to be completed by December 31, 2008. 

Internally-developed gaming software is accounted for under the provisions of SFAS No. 86, “Accounting for the 
Costs of Computer Software to Be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed,” and is stated at cost, which is amortized 
over the estimated useful life of the software, generally using the straight-line method. The Company amortizes 
internally-developed games over a twelve-month period, gaming engines over an eighteen-month period, gaming 
systems over a three-year period and its central management systems over a five-year period. Software development 
costs are capitalized once technological feasibility has been established, and are amortized when the software is 
placed into service. Any subsequent software maintenance costs, such as bug fixes and subsequent testing, are 
expensed as incurred. Discontinued software development costs are expensed when the determination to discontinue 
is made. For the years ended September 30, 2008, 2007, and 2006, amortization expense related to internally-
developed gaming software was $3.3 million , $4.3 million and $4.2 million, respectively. During fiscal 2008, 2007, 
and 2006, the Company wrote off $531,000, $300,000 and $307,000, respectively, related to internally-developed 
gaming software that the Company chose to abandon. 

Management reviews intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. An analysis of intangible assets at September 30, 2008 
indicated there was an impairment to goodwill which resulted in a $335,277 reserve being recorded in accordance 
with SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” 

Amortization expense, inclusive of accretion of contract rights, totaled $8.8 million, $11.9 million and $10.8 million 
for the years ended September 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Annual estimated amortization expense for 
each of the five succeeding fiscal years is as follows: 

  Year   Amount 
(In thousands) 

2009  $ 11,137 
2010   7,511 
2011   6,315 
2012   5,433 
2013   4,724 

Total  $ 35,120 
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5.  Notes Receivable 

At September 30, 2008 and 2007, the Company’s notes receivable consisted of the following: 

   2008    2007  

 (In thousands) 
Notes receivable from development agreements  $ 72,706  $ 57,929 

Less imputed interest discount reclassed to contract rights   (10,956)   (8,884) 
Notes receivable from equipment sales and other   8,012   — 
 Notes receivable, net   69,762   49,045 
Less current portion   (23,072)   (12,248) 
 Notes receivable – noncurrent  $ 46,690  $ 36,797 

Notes receivable from development agreements are generated from reimbursable amounts advanced under 
development agreements. 

Notes receivable from equipment sales outstanding as of September 30, 2008 consist of financial instruments issued 
by customers for the purchase of player terminals and licenses, and bear interest at 7.97%. All of the Company’s 
notes receivable from equipment sales are collateralized by the related equipment sold, although the value of such 
equipment, if repossessed, may be less than the note receivable outstanding. 

6.  Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 

At September 30, 2008 and 2007, the Company’s accounts payable and accrued expenses consisted of the following: 

   2008    2007  

 (In thousands) 
Trade accounts payable and accrued expenses $  23,022 $  15,653 
Third-party licenses payable   —   614 
Accrued bonus and salaries   2,474   1,679 
Other   3,752   4,075 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses $  29,248 $  22,021 

7.  Credit Facility, Long-Term Debt 

At September 30, 2008 and 2007, the Company’s Credit Facility, long-term debt and capital leases consisted of the 
following: 

   2008    2007  
 (In thousands)
Long-term revolving lines of credit  $ 19,000  $ 7,000 
Term loan facility  $ 67,988  $ 75,047 
Less current portion   (1,544)   (563) 
 Long-term debt, less current portion  $ 66,444  $ 74,484 

Credit Facility. On April 27, 2007, the Company entered into a $150 million Revolving Credit Facility which 
replaced its Previous Credit Facility in its entirety. On October 26, 2007, the Company amended the Revolving 
Credit Facility, transferring $75 million of the revolving credit commitment to a fully funded $75 million term loan 
due April 27, 2012. The Term Loan is amortized at an annual amount of 1% per year, payable in equal quarterly 
installments beginning January 1, 2008, with the remaining amount due on the maturity date. The Company entered 
into a second amendment to the Revolving Credit Facility on December 20, 2007. The second amendment 
(i) extended the hedging arrangement date related to a portion of the term loan to June 1, 2008; and (ii) modified the 
interest rate margin applicable to the Revolving Credit Facility and the term loan. 

The Credit Facility provides the Company with the ability to finance development agreements and acquisitions and 
working capital for general corporate purposes. Amounts under the $75 million revolving credit commitment and 
the $75 million term loan mature in five years, and advances under the term loan and revolving credit commitment 
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bear interest at the Eurodollar rate plus the applicable spread (6.24% and 6.99%, respectively, as of 
September 30, 2008) tied to various levels of interest pricing determined by total debt to EBITDA. 

The Credit Facility is collateralized by substantially all of the Company’s assets, and also contains financial 
covenants as defined in the agreement. These covenants include (i) a minimum fixed-charge coverage-ratio of not 
less than 1.50 : 1.00; (ii) a maximum total debt to EBITDA ratio of not more than 2.25 : 1.00 through June 30, 2008, 
and 1.75 : 1.00 from September 30, 2008 thereafter; and (iii) a minimum trailing twelve-month EBITDA of not less 
than $57 million for the quarter ended September 30, 2007, and $60 million for each quarter thereafter. As of 
September 30, 2008, the Company is in compliance with its loan covenants. The Credit Facility requires certain 
mandatory prepayments be made on the term loan from the net cash proceeds of certain asset sales and 
condemnation proceedings (in each case to the extent not reinvested, within certain specified time periods, in the 
replacement or acquisition of property to be used in its businesses). In the second quarter of 2008, the Company 
made a mandatory prepayment of the term loan in the amount of $4.5 million due to an early prepayment of a 
development agreement note receivable. As of September 30, 2008, the Credit Facility had availability of 
$55.3 million, subject to covenant restrictions. 

The Credit Facility also required that the Company enter into hedging arrangements covering at least $50 million of 
the term loan for a three-year period by June 1, 2008; therefore, on May 29, 2008, the Company purchased, 
for $390,000, an interest rate cap (5% cap rate) covering $50 million of the term loan. The Company accounts for 
this hedge in accordance with FASB Statement No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging 
Activities,” which requires entities to recognize all derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities in the balance 
sheet, at their respective fair values. The Company records, on a mark- to-market basis, changes to the fair value of 
the interest rate cap on a quarterly basis. These changes in fair value are recorded in interest expense in the statement 
of operations. 

Previous Credit Facility. The Company’s Previous Credit Facility provided the Company with a term loan facility, 
or the Term Loan, a revolving line of credit, or the Revolver, and reducing lines of credit, or the Reducing 
Revolvers. This Credit Facility was replaced by the new Credit Facility during April 2007. 

Long-term debt at September 30, 2008, includes the Credit Facility’s term loan. 

A schedule for each of the fiscal years ending after September 30, 2008, representing the maturities of long-term 
debt is as follows: 

  Year 
Long-Term 

  Debt  
Revolving 

  Lines of Credit 
 (In thousands) 

2009  $ 1,544  $ — 
2010   750   — 
2011   750   — 
2012   64,944   19,000 

Total  $ 67,988  $ 19,000 

8.  Leases 

The Company leases its corporate offices, warehouses and certain office equipment under noncancelable operating 
leases. In addition, the Company leases certain equipment used in its operations under capital lease arrangements. 

A schedule of future minimum rental payments required under noncancelable operating leases is as follows: 

Year Operating 

 (In thousands) 

2009  $ 2,706 
2010    2,003 
2011   252 
2012   12 
2013   — 

Total Minimum Lease Payments  $ 4,973 

Rental expense during 2008, 2007, and 2006 amounted to $2.7 million, $2.5 million and $2.1 million respectively. 
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9.  Income Taxes 

The provision for income tax expense (benefit) consisted of the following for the years ended 
September 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006: 

2008 2007 2006 
 

CURRENT: (In thousands) 

Federal  $ 4,223  $ 8,784  $ 10,176 
State   828   638   1,213 
Foreign   514   274   — 
   5,565   9,696   11,389 

DEFERRED:    
Federal   (4,673)   (10,489)   (8,072) 
State   (590)   (386)   (801) 
Foreign   —   —   — 
   (5,263)   (10,875)   (8,873) 

Income tax expense 
(benefit)  $ 302  $ (1,179)  $ 2,516 

The effective income tax rates differ from the statutory U.S. federal income tax rates as follows for the years ended 
September 30, 2008, 2007, and 2006: 

 2008 2007 2006 
Federal income tax expense (benefit) at statutory rate 35.0% (35.0%) 35.0% 
State income tax expense, net of federal benefit 7.8% 8.5% 3.1% 
Foreign income tax expense, net of federal benefit 47.7% 9.3% 0% 
Other, net (46.1%) (44.7%) 3.5% 

Provision (benefit) for income taxes 44.4% (61.9%) 41.6% 

The “other, net” category above captures the impact of several tax expense items, the three largest of which, are all 
favorable to the Company in the fiscal years 2008 and 2007, and included an unrecorded federal refund, an over-
accrual of state income tax expense, and the true-up of the company tax accounts. 

Differences between the book value and the tax basis of the Company’s assets and liabilities at September 30, 2008 
and 2007 result in deferred tax assets and liabilities as follows: 

 2008 2007 
 (In thousands) 
Deferred tax asset – current:   

Allowance for doubtful accounts  $ 455  $ 321 
Inventory reserve   1,526   514 
Accruals not currently deductible for tax purposes   1,764   924 
Deferred revenue   3,131   173 

Current deferred tax asset   6,876   1,932 
Noncurrent deferred tax asset:   

Property and equipment and leased gaming equipment, 
due principally to depreciation differences   11,400   14,582 

Intangible assets, due principally to 
amortization differences   4,516   1,249 

Non-qualified stock compensation expense   986   752 
Noncurrent deferred tax asset   16,902   16,583 

Deferred tax asset  $ 23,778  $ 18,515 
For 2008, 2007, and 2006, the Company recorded reductions of $112,000, $1.4 million and $1.4 million 
respectively, of its federal and state income tax liability due to the effects of stock compensation. 

Although realization is not assured, the Company believes it is more likely than not that all the deferred tax assets at 
September 30, 2008 and 2007 will be realized. Accordingly, the Company believes no valuation allowance is 
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required for the deferred tax assets. However, the amount of the deferred tax asset considered realizable could be 
adjusted in the future if estimates of reversing taxable temporary differences are revised. 

The Company paid income taxes, net of refunds received of $10.9 million in 2008, $7.6 million in 2007 and 
$11.2 million in 2006. 

In fiscal 2008 the Company conducted operations in Mexico through a subsidiary treated as a disregarded entity for 
U.S. income tax purposes. Accordingly, income or losses are taxed or benefited, as appropriate, in the Company’s 
U.S. tax provision. At present, Company management doubts the Mexican operations can benefit from past losses, 
from a Mexican tax perspective. Accordingly, a full valuation allowance has been recorded against the deferred tax 
asset related to the Mexican net operating loss. The effect on the total income tax expense is deemed immaterial.. 

10.  Stockholders’ Equity 

Preferred Stock 
During fiscal 1995, the Company amended its articles of incorporation to provide for the issuance of up to 2,000,000 
shares of Preferred Stock in such series and with such rights and preferences as may be approved by the Board of 
Directors. In January 1995, the Board of Directors approved a Series A Preferred Stock, which is cumulative, voting 
and convertible. In October 1998 the Board of Directors approved a Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock, 
which is cumulative and voting. As of September 30, 2008, there were no shares of Series A Preferred Stock or 
Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock outstanding. 

Treasury Stock 
During July 2007, the Company completed a modified “Dutch Auction” Tender Offer and purchased $25.0 million 
of its common stock and the associated preferred share purchase rights. The Company accepted, for purchase, an 
aggregate of 1,992,032 shares of its common stock at a net purchase price of $12.74 per share, to record an 
aggregate share repurchase of approximately $25.0 million and incurred transaction costs of $387,457 related to the 
Tender Offer that was recorded in treasury stock. 

During fiscal 2008, the Company did not repurchase any shares of its Common Stock. 

During fiscal 2007 and 2006, the Company repurchased with cash 1,992,000 and 159,000 shares of its Common 
Stock at an average cost of $12.74 and $9.15, respectively. 

Director Compensation Plan 
On October 1, 2004, the Company adopted a new plan to compensate the members of its Board of Directors for their 
services as directors, including serving on committees of the board. Under the Director Compensation Plan, each of 
the Company’s directors, including directors who are also regular full-time employees, will receive $37,500 per 
year, except for the Chairman of the Board, who will receive $75,000 per year. In addition, each director will 
receive $500 for each board meeting attended in person, $250 for each board meeting attended by telephone, 
$400 for each committee meeting attended in person and $200 for each committee meeting attended by telephone. 
Each member of the Audit Committee will also receive an additional $15,000 per year for serving on the Audit 
Committee, except for the Chairman of the Audit Committee who will receive $25,000 per year for serving on the 
Audit Committee as its Chairman. In general, each sitting director will receive an option grant on an annual basis for 
10,000 shares of Common Stock that will vest over a six-month period. 

Common Stock Warrants and Options 
In connection with past financing arrangements and as compensation for consulting and professional services, the 
Company has issued warrants and options to purchase its Common Stock. New shares were issued to satisfy stock 
option exercises. As of September 30, 2008 and 2007, there were no warrants outstanding. 
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Stock Option Plans 

Nonqualified stock options have been granted to the Company’s directors under its nonemployee director stock 
plans. Nonqualified and incentive stock options have been granted to the Company’s officers and employees under 
its employee stock plans. Options granted to its officers and employees generally vest over four years and expire ten 
years from the date of grant. The Company expects to continue to issue stock options to new employees as they are 
hired, as well as to current employees as incentives from time to time. 

The Company issues new shares to satisfy stock option exercises under the plans. 

At September 30, 2008, there were stock options available for grant under the following plans: 

 

Approved 
by 

Shareholders 

Options available 
for grant as of 

September 30, 2008 
2000 Stock Option Plan May 2001  63,317 
2001 Stock Option Plan May 2002  306,373 
2002 Stock Option Plan February 2003  488,400 
2003 Outsider Director Stock Option Plan February 2004   782,500 
Total    1,640,590 

For the year ended September 30, 2008, the activity relating to stock option issuances under the stock option plans is 
as follows: 

 

Number 
of Options 

Weighted-
Average 
Exercise 
Price per 

Share 

Weighted-
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual 

Term 
(in years) 

Aggregate 
Intrinsic 

Value 
Stock Options Outstanding October 1, 2007   4,183,606  $ 7.09   

Granted   2,732,500   4.51   
Exercised   (127,374)   1.71   
Forfeited   (42,224)   7.88   

Stock Options Outstanding September 30, 2008   6,746,508  $ 6.14   5.50  $ 3,223,389 

Stock Options Exercisable September 30, 2008   3,904,133  $ 7.08   3.62  $ 2,760,689 

For the years ended September 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006, other information pertaining to stock options was as 
follows: 

   2008    2007    2006 
Weighted-average grant-date fair value of 

stock options granted  $ 2.14  $ 5.88  $ 9.87 
Total intrinsic value of options exercised (in millions)   .5   4.8   4.2 
Total grant-date fair value of stock options vested during the 

year (in millions)   1.7   2.4   5.1 
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A summary of the status of the Company’s nonvested options as of September 30, 2008 and changes during the year 
ended September 30, 2008 is as follows: 

Nonvested Options 
Number of 

  Options 

Weighted-
Average 

Grant-Date 
  Fair Value  

Nonvested at October 1, 2007   468,000  $ 4.51 
Granted   2,732,500   2.14 
Vested   (315,901)   5.40 
Forfeited   (42,224)   7.88 

Nonvested at September 30, 2008   2,842,375   2.25 

Cash received from option exercise under all share-based payment arrangements for the years ended 
September 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $217,520, $3.4 million, and $2.8 million. For September 2008, 2007, 
and 2006, the Company recorded reductions of $328,000, $1.4 million, and $1.4 million, respectively, of its federal 
and state income tax liability, with an offsetting credit to additional paid-in capital resulting from the tax benefits of 
stock options. 

As of September 30, 2008, there was $5.6 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested 
share-based compensation arrangements granted under the plans. That cost is expected to be recognized over a 
weighted-average period of 3.54 years. This estimate is subject to change based upon a variety of future events 
which include, but are not limited to, changes in estimated forfeiture rates, cancellations and the issuance of new 
options. 

Employee Benefit Plans 

During 1994, the Company established an employee savings plan pursuant to Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue 
Code. The plan provides for the employees to make tax-deferred deposits into the plan up to the maximum of 
$20,500 for 2008. The Company matches the first 3% of employees’ contributions completely, and matches half of 
the next 2%. Such Company contributions amounted to $694,000, $730,000, and $775,000 for the years ended 
September 30, 2008, 2007, and 2006, respectively. 

11.  Commitments and Contingencies 

Litigation and Regulatory Proceedings 
General. The Company is subject to litigation involving federal, state and Native American laws and regulations 
that affect both its general commercial relationships with its Native American tribal customers as well as the 
products and services provided to them. The outcome of litigation may not be assured, and despite management’s 
views of the merits of our litigation, or the reasonableness of our estimates and reserves, the Company’s financial 
statements could nonetheless be materially affected by an adverse judgment.  The Company believes it has adequate 
reserves for its current legal matters.  

The Company maintains certain liability insurance; however, certain cost of defending lawsuits, such as those below 
the insurance deductible amount, are not covered by, or only partially covered by its insurance policies, or its 
insurance carriers could refuse to cover certain of these claims in whole or in part. The Company accrues costs to 
defend itself from litigation as it is incurred or as it becomes determinable. 

The following is only a summary of the more material aspects of these laws and regulations, and is not a complete 
recitation of all applicable law. 

Development Agreements. In 2004, the Company received a letter from the Acting General Counsel of the NIGC, 
dated November 30, 2004, advising the Company that its agreements with a certain customer may evidence a 
proprietary interest by it in a tribe’s gaming activities, in violation of IGRA and the tribe’s gaming ordinances. The 
NIGC invited the Company and the tribe to submit any explanation or information that would establish that the 
agreements’ terms do not violate the requirement that tribes maintain sole proprietary interest in their own gaming 
operations. 
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In a letter dated November 8, 2007, the Acting General Counsel of the NIGC reiterated the statements made in her 
November 30, 2004 letter, that the NIGC did not then conclude that the agreements with the tribe that it reviewed 
constituted management agreements, but that the NIGC was concerned that, taken together, the agreements 
demonstrated a proprietary interest, by the Company, in the tribe’s gaming activity that may be contrary to law. 
Although the Company believes that it responded to the NIGC in 2004, explaining why the agreements did not 
violate the sole proprietary interest prohibition of IGRA and did not constitute a management agreement, the 
November 8, 2007 letter indicated that the NIGC did not receive the written explanation or further information and 
requested an explanation. On December 17, 2007, the Company responded in writing to the NIGC, correcting the 
misstatements contained in the NIGC’s 2004 letter. To date, the Company has received no further communication 
from the NIGC on this issue. 

If certain of the Company’s development agreements are finally determined to be management contracts or to create 
a “proprietary” interest of the Company in tribal gaming operations, there could be material adverse consequences to 
the Company. In that event, the Company may be required, among other things, to modify the terms of such 
agreements. Such modifications may adversely affect the terms on which the Company conducts business, and have 
a significant impact on the Company’s financial condition and results of operations from such agreements and from 
other development agreements that may be similarly interpreted by the NIGC. 

The Company’s development agreements could be subject to further review at any time. Any further review of the 
Company’s development agreements by the NIGC, or alternative interpretations of applicable laws and regulations 
could require substantial modifications to the agreements, or result in their designation as “management contracts,” 
which could materially and adversely affect the terms on which the Company conducts business. 

Other Litigation. In addition to the threat of litigation relating to the Class II or Class III status of the Company’s 
games and equipment, the Company is the subject of various pending and threatened claims arising out of the 
ordinary course of business. The Company believes that any liability resulting from these various other claims will 
not have a material adverse effect on its results of operations or financial condition or cash flows. 

Other. Existing federal and state regulations may also impose civil and criminal sanctions for various activities 
prohibited in connection with gaming operations, including false statements on applications, and failure or refusal 
to obtain necessary licenses described in the regulations. 

Diamond Game Enterprises, Inc. On November 16, 2004, Diamond Game Enterprises, Inc., or Diamond Game, 
filed suit in the State Court in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, against the Company, along with others, including Clifton 
Lind, Robert Lannert, Gordon Graves, Video Gaming Technologies, Inc., or VGT, and its president, John 
Yarbrough, alleging five causes of action: (i) deceptive trade practices; (ii) unfair competition; (iii) wrongful 
interference with business; (iv) malicious wrong / prima facie tort; and (v) restraint of trade. The case asserts that the 
Company offered allegedly illegal Class III games on the MegaNanza® and Reel Time Bingo® gaming systems to 
Native American tribes in Oklahoma. Diamond Game claims that the offer of these games negatively affected the 
market for its pull-tab game, Lucky Tab II. Diamond Game also alleges that our development agreements with 
Native American tribes unfairly interfere with the ability of Diamond Game to successfully conduct its business. 
Diamond Game is seeking injunctive relief and unspecified damages in excess of $65 million. Diamond Game’s 
theories of recovery include claims for actual, treble and punitive damages, as well as revenue disgorgement. 

Diamond Game and VGT (and its principals) entered into a confidential settlement agreement in September 2007. 
The Company will be given credit for the actual amount of that settlement should any verdict be entered against the 
Company in connection with this case. Two motions had been pending before the court in connection with the 
matter: (i) Diamond Game filed a motion for partial summary judgment seeking a court ruling on game 
classification for MegaNanza and Reel Time Bingo; and (ii) The Company filed a motion seeking summary 
judgment based on jurisdictional issues. On November 29, 2007, the trial court denied the Company’s motion for 
summary judgment on the jurisdictional issues, and ruled on Diamond Game’s motion for partial summary 
judgment, finding that our MegaNanza and Reel Time Bingo versions 1.0, 1.1 and 1.2 games are not Class II games 
under the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act of 1988, or IGRA, but instead are Class III games. 

The court’s ruling stated that it was not binding on our tribal customers and the Company does not expect any of the 
Reel Time Bingo games currently in play in Oklahoma to be removed as a result of the court’s ruling. Other game 
versions included in the ruling are not in play in Oklahoma. The court’s rulings are not dispositive of the case and 
the opinion has no affect on the right of Native American tribes to play games offered by us. The trial court granted 
our motion for immediate certification of its ruling to the Oklahoma Supreme Court. The Company sought 
immediate review of the trial court’s decision. On February 19, 2008, the Oklahoma Supreme Court denied the 
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Company’s request for immediate review of the trial court’s decision. The action of the Oklahoma Supreme Court 
does not preclude a subsequent appeal of the trial court’s decision and the Company will continue to assert that the 
games in question are legal Class II games, and that game classification cannot be decided by an Oklahoma State 
Court. Presently, the parties remain engaged in pre-trial discovery. The trial court has assigned a jury trial date of 
March 23, 2009.  

While the Company continues to vigorously defend ourselves and believe that its MegaNanza and Reel Time Bingo 
versions 1.0, 1.1 and 1.2 games were in fact Class II games, given the inherent uncertainties in this litigation, the 
Company is unable to make any prediction as to the ultimate outcome. 

Cory Investments Ltd. On May 7, 2008, Cory Investments, LTD., or Cory Investments, filed suit in the State Court 
in Oklahoma City, Oklahoma against the Company, along with others, including Clifton Lind; Robert Lannert; 
Gordon Graves; Video Gaming Technologies, Inc. or VGT and its president, Jon Yarbrough, and a former VGT 
representative, John Marley; Worldwide Gaming Technologies, or WGT; AGS, LLC, d/b/a American Gaming 
Systems; AGS Partners, LLC; Ronald Clapper, the owner of WGT, AGS, LLC and AGS Partners; Sierra Design 
Group; and Bally Technologies, Inc. The case asserts that the Company offered allegedly illegal Class III games on 
the MegaNanza and Reel Time Bingo gaming systems to Native American tribes in Oklahoma which had a severe 
negative impact on Cory Investments’ market for its legal Class II games. Cory Investments also alleges that the 
Defendants conspired to drive it and other Class II competitors out of the Class II market in Oklahoma and other 
states. In addition to the conspiracy allegations, Cory Investments alleges six causes of action: (i) deceptive trade 
practices; (ii) common law unfair competition; (iii) wrongful interference with business; (iv) malicious wrong / 
prima facie tort; (v) intentional interference with contract; and (vi) unreasonable restraint of trade. Cory Investments 
is seeking unspecified actual and punitive damages and equitable relief. 

The Company and the other defendants were only recently served with summons and a copy of the lawsuit during 
the week of July 21, 2008 and a response to the petition is not yet due. The defendants removed the action to the 
United States District Court for the Western District of Oklahoma. Cory Investments filed a motion with the federal 
court to remand the case back to the state court. That motion was granted by the federal court on 
November 13, 2008, resulting in a transfer of the case back to the state court. Currently all of the defendants have 
filed motions to dismiss which are currently pending before the state court district judge. The Company believes that 
the claims of Cory Investments are without merit and intends to defend the case vigorously. Given the inherent 
uncertainties in this litigation, the Company is unable to make any prediction as to the ultimate outcome. 

International Gamco. International Gamco, Inc., or Gamco, claiming certain rights in U.S. Patent No. 5,324,035, or 
the ‘035 Patent, brought suit against the Company on May 25, 2004, in the U.S. District Court for the Southern 
District of California alleging that the Company’s central determinant system, as operated by the New York State 
Lottery, infringes the ‘035 Patent. Gamco claims to have acquired ownership of the ‘035 Patent from Oasis 
Technologies, Inc., or Oasis, a previous owner of the ‘035 Patent. In February 2003, Oasis assigned the ‘035 Patent 
to International Game Technology, or IGT. Gamco claims to have received a license back from IGT for the 
New York State Lottery. The lawsuit claims that the Company infringed the ‘035 Patent after the date on which 
Gamco assigned the ‘035 Patent to IGT. 

Pursuant to an agreement between the Company and Bally Technologies, Inc., or Bally, the Company currently 
sublicenses the right to practice the technology stated in the ‘035 Patent in Native American gaming jurisdictions in 
the United States. Bally obtained from Oasis the right to sublicense those rights to the Company, and that sublicense 
remains in effect today. Under the sublicense from Bally, in the event that the Company desires to expand its own 
rights beyond Native American gaming jurisdictions, the agreement provides the Company the following options: 
(i) to pursue legal remedies to establish its rights independent of the ‘035 Patent; or (ii) to negotiate directly and 
enter into a separate agreement with Oasis for such rights, paying either a specified one-time license fee per 
jurisdiction or a unit fee per gaming machine. 

The Company has made a number of challenges to Gamco’s standing to sue for infringement of the ‘035 Patent. On 
October 15, 2007, pursuant to an Interlocutory Appeal, the Federal Circuit reversed the District Court’s Order 
refusing to dismiss Gamco’s Supplemental and Second Amended Complaint against the Company. The Federal 
Circuit held that Gamco did not have sufficient rights in the ‘035 Patent to sue the Company without the 
involvement of the patent owner, IGT. 

On December 4, 2007, Gamco and IGT entered into an Amended and Restated Exclusive License Agreement 
whereby IGT granted to Gamco exclusive rights to the ‘035 Patent in the state of New York and the right to sue for 
past infringement of the same. On January 9, 2008, Gamco filed its Third Amended Complaint for Infringement of 
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the ‘035 Patent against the Company. On January 28, 2008, the Company filed an Answer to the Complaint denying 
liability. The Company also filed a Third Amended Counterclaim against Oasis, Gamco and certain officers at 
Gamco, for fraud, promise without intent to perform, negligent misrepresentation, breach of contract, specific 
performance and reformation of contract with regard to the Company’s rights under the Sublicense Agreement for 
the ‘035 Patent, as well as for non-infringement and invalidity of the Patent. These parties have filed a motion to 
dismiss and a motion for summary judgment as to these claims. The Company has filed a motion for partial 
summary judgment on its breach of contract and specific performance claims seeking to enforce the terms of the 
Sublicense Agreement. The Company has also moved for summary judgment on Gamco’s complaint on the ground 
that it is a licensee. All motions to dismiss and motions for summary judgment will be heard by the court on 
February 26, 2009. 

The court has scheduled a Markman hearing to construe the claims of the ‘035 Patent for January 13, 2009. The 
court will also consider at that time the Company’s motion for partial summary judgment to invalidate all of the 
means-plus-function claims of the ‘035 Patent under 35 U.S.C. § 112, 6. A trial date has not been set by the court. 

The Company continues to vigorously defend this matter. Given the inherent uncertainties in this litigation, the 
Company is unable to make any prediction as to the ultimate outcome. 

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements 
As of September 30, 2008, the Company had no off balance sheet arrangements. 

Employment Agreements 
We have employment agreements with most of our employees with positions of Senior Vice President or above. 
These employment agreements generally provide for an initial rate of pay and other general employment terms. If 
there is a change in control of the Company, some executives are entitled to severance benefits. Most of the 
employment agreements include post-employment non-compete provisions and the terms of the severance benefits 
generally range from twelve-to twenty-four month’s salary continuation with similar non compete periods. 

Clifton Lind. On September 9, 2004, the Company entered into an Executive Employment Agreement, or the 
Agreement, with Clifton E. Lind to provide for Mr. Lind to continue as the Company’s President and Chief 
Executive Officer, and setting forth certain terms of Mr. Lind’s employment. The agreement provided that Mr. Lind 
would receive an annual base salary of $450,000, and would be eligible to receive incentive compensation on an 
annual basis as determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors, based upon a performance 
review of Mr. Lind performed by the Compensation Committee.  

Mr. Lind resigned as President and Chief Executive Officer on March 31, 2008. Mr. Lind will receive i) his base 
salary for 18 months in equal monthly installments following the date of termination; ii) one year of his projected 
incentive compensation; and iii) full acceleration of the vesting of any unexercised or unvested stock options that he 
holds. Mr. Lind will be prohibited from a) working for, providing assistance to, or investing in (subject to certain 
exceptions) any business that is competitive with that of the Company, for a period of 18 months; b) soliciting any 
of the Company’s customers or prospective customers, or disparaging the Company for a period of 12 months; 
c) soliciting any of the Company’s employees for a period of 18 months; and d) disclosing any of the Company’s 
confidential information. 

License Agreements 
In June 2004, the Company entered into an agreement with WMS Gaming, Inc., to purchase WMS cabinets and 
games for placement in various Class II and Class III jurisdictions in North America. The agreement has been 
amended several times to add additional purchase commitments and to clarify placement authorizations. In 
June 2005, the parties extended the term of the agreement until April 1, 2007, with an extension granted until 
April 1, 2008 with respect to the development and placement of purchased cabinets and game themes, and until 
April 30, 2009 with respect to certain jurisdictions. In December 2007, WMS and the Company agreed to additional 
Class III cabinet purchases and agreed to extend the term of the agreement until June 30, 2009 for certain 
jurisdictions, with limited sell-off rights extending thereafter. The Company has satisfied all required cabinet and 
game-theme purchases. 

On November 27, 2006 the Company entered into a letter agreement with Aristocrat Technologies, Inc. in which the 
Company is granted the right to purchase, as well as the exclusive right to place Aristocrat Class III cabinets and 
attendant game themes to certain Native American tribes within the State of Oklahoma. The initial term of the 
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agreement is three years from delivery of the first order of Aristocrat cabinets, with a two-year extension by mutual 
agreement. In October 2008, Aristocrat and the Company agreed to additional Class III cabinet purchases and 
agreed to extend the term of the agreement until December 15, 2010. 

In April 2001, the Company entered into a license agreement with Bally Technologies, Inc. (formerly Alliance 
Gaming Inc.), or Bally, to use certain of Alliance’s trademarks, logos and other audiovisual aids and graphics in the 
Washington State Class III market. The Company’s contract requires it to purchase a minimum number of licenses 
to operate games over specified periods. During September 2001, Alliance extended the license agreement to 
provide the Company access to Alliance’s catalog of game themes for use in Class II bingo games. This extension 
also required the Company to purchase a minimum number of Class II licenses over a specified period. As of the 
end of fiscal 2008, the Company is in compliance with all provisions of the agreement. 

In addition, the Company has entered into license agreements with other game content providers to purchase player 
terminals and licenses over specified periods. 

Certain of the Company’s license agreements require it to pay royalty fees based on a fixed percentage of the hold 
per day generated by a player terminal. 

12.  Concentrations of Credit Risk 

The Company maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts which at times may exceed the federal depository 
insurance limits. At September 30, 2008, the Company had concentrations of cash in one bank totaling 
approximately $5.5 million. The Company has not experienced any losses on such accounts in the past. 

Accounts receivable represent short-term credit granted to customers for which collateral is generally not required. 
As of September 30, 2008 and 2007, approximately 44% and 52%, respectively, of the Company’s accounts 
receivable were from Native American tribes or their gaming enterprises. 

In addition, a large percentage of these tribes have their reservations and gaming operations in the state of 
Oklahoma. Despite the industry and geographic concentrations related to the Company’s customers, due to the 
historical experience of the Company on receivable collections, management considers credit risk to be minimal 
with respect to accounts receivable. At September 30, 2008 and 2007, the following concentrations existed in the 
Company’s account receivable, as a percentage of total accounts receivable: 

   2008   2007  
Customer A 17% 18% 
Customer B 13% 22% 

For the years ended September 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006, the following customers accounted for more than 10% of 
the Company’s total revenues: 

   2008   2007   2006 
Customer A 39% 42% 36% 
Customer B 7% 10% 8% 
Customer C 10% 4% 2% 

Approximately 58% and 59% of the Company’s total revenues for the years ended September 30, 2008 and 2007, 
respectively, were from tribes located in Oklahoma. 

While the Company believes that its relationship with all of its customers is good, the loss of any of these customers 
would have a material and adverse effect upon its financial condition and results of operations and cash flows. 

Notes receivable consist of financial instruments issued by customers for the purchase of player terminals and 
licenses, and amounts generated from reimbursable amounts advanced under development agreements, generally at 
prevailing interest rates. Substantially all of the Company’s notes receivable are from Native American tribes or 
their gaming enterprises. At September 30, 2008, two customers represented approximately 89% and 11% of the 
notes receivable. 
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13.  Related Party Transactions 

During fiscal 2007, in connection with executing a content license agreement, the Company paid $25,000 to a 
family member of the former Chairman of the Board.  

During fiscal 2008, the Company has paid approximately $48,000 to a former Chairman of the Board for consulting 
services. 

During fiscal 2008, the Company also paid approximately $150,000 to the former Chief Executive Officer for 
consulting services. 

14.  Supplemental Consolidated Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) 

 Year Ended September 30, 2008 
 Quarters Ended 

 
December 31, 

2007 
March 31,  

2008 
June 30,  

2008 
September 30, 

2008 

 (In thousands, except per-share amounts) 
Total revenues  $ 30,235  $ 32,202  $ 30,252  $ 38,443 
Operating income (loss)   821   2,722   209   (2,517) 
Income (loss) before taxes    153   2,239   348   (2,060) 
Net income (loss)   399   1,258   164   (1,443) 
Diluted earnings (loss) per share    0.01   0.05   0.01   (0.06) 
Weighted average common shares 

outstanding, diluted   27,380   27,243   27,153   26,595 

 
 Year Ended September 30, 2007 
 Quarters Ended 

 
December 31, 

2006 
March 31,  

2007 
June 30,  

2007 
September 30, 

2007 

 (In thousands, except per-share amounts) 
Total revenues  $ 29,050  $ 30,726  $ 30,898  $ 31,243 
Operating income (loss)   (4,562)   (961)   (272)   1,206 
Income (loss) before taxes    (4,298)   4   1,256   1,115 
Net income (loss)   (2,812)   6   685   1,377 
Diluted earnings (loss) per share    (0.10)   0.00   0.02   0.05 
Weighted average common shares 

outstanding, diluted   27,534   29,450   29,747   27,924 

In accordance with SFAS 144, the Company i) recognizes an impairment loss only if the carrying amount of a long-
lived asset is not recoverable from its undiscounted cash flows; and (ii) measures an impairment loss as the 
difference between the carrying amount and fair value of the asset. 

During the fourth quarter of 2008, the Company performed an annual impairment test of our long-lived assets in 
accordance with SFAS 144. As part of this analysis, we considered whether the future benefits expected from certain 
long-lived assets exceeded the assets carrying value. In several instances, managements’ intentions for current 
projects shifted as a new management team was inserted at the Company in the fourth fiscal quarter of 2008, leading 
us to terminate funding (both in terms of human resources and capital spent) on some of these projects, based upon 
our determination that the future benefit of several of the projects was minimal. In these instances, the carrying 
value of existing assets related to these projects was determined to be impaired. As such, the Company recorded 
reserves of $5.6 million related to property and equipment and leased gaming equipment in the fourth fiscal quarter. 
The reserves included $3.0 million related to undeployed gaming licenses and prepaid royalties, $2.4 million related 
to undeployed gaming cabinets, and $200,000 related other miscellaneous assets. The Company considered the 
potential salvage value of the assets and determined that such an amount would be negligible. Therefore, 
classification of these assets as ‘held for sale’ is not necessary. 
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MULTIMEDIA GAMES, INC.  

Schedule II – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 

 

Balance at 
Beginning of 

Period 
(Recoveries)/

Additions Deductions

Balance at 
End of 
Period 

 (In thousands) 
FY 2008  $ 854  $ 421  $ 66  $ 1,209 
FY 2007  $ 1,007  $ 466  $ 619  $ 854 
FY 2006  $ 229  $ 849  $ 71  $ 1,007 
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the 
registrant has duly caused this Annual Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly 
authorized. 

MULTIMEDIA GAMES, INC. 

By:  /s/ Randy S. Cieslewicz  
Randy S. Cieslewicz 
Chief Financial Officer 

Dated: December 15, 2008 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report has been signed below by 
the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

 /s/ ANTHONY M. SANFILIPPO  Chief Executive Officer and Director December 15, 2008 
  Anthony M. Sanfilippo  (Principal Executive Officer) 

 /s/ RANDY S. CIESLEWICZ  Chief Financial Officer December 15, 2008 
  Randy S. Cieslewicz  (Principal Financial Officer 
    and Principal Accounting Officer) 

 /s/ MICHAEL J. MAPLES  Chairman of the Board and Director December 15, 2008 
  Michael J. Maples 

 /s/ ROBERT D. REPASS  Director December 15, 2008 
  Robert D. Repass 

 /s/ JOHN M. WINKELMAN  Director December 15, 2008 
  John M. Winkelman 

 /s/ EMANUEL R. PEARLMAN  Director December 15, 2008 
  Emanuel Pearlman 

 /s/ NEIL E. JENKINS  Director December 15, 2008 
  Neil E. Jenkins 
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EXHIBIT INDEX 

The following Exhibits were filed with, or incorporated by reference into, our Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended 
September 30, 2008, as filed with the SEC on December 15, 2008, and such Exhibits are not contained in this 
Annual Report: 
  
EXHIBIT NO. TITLE LOCATION 
  3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation ........................................................................................ (1) 
  3.2 Amendment to Articles of Incorporation...................................................................................................... (2) 
  3.3 Second Amended and Restated Bylaws, as Amended................................................................................ (18) 
10.1 Form of Integrated Gaming Services Agreement......................................................................................... (3) 
10.2 1994 Employee Stock Option Plan............................................................................................................... (3) 
10.3 1994 Director Stock Option Plan ................................................................................................................. (3) 
10.4 1996 Stock Incentive Plan, as Amended ...................................................................................................... (4) 
10.5 President’s Plan ............................................................................................................................................ (5) 
10.6 1998 Senior Executive Stock Option Plan ................................................................................................... (4) 
10.7 2000 Stock Option Plan................................................................................................................................ (4) 
10.8 2001 Stock Option Plan................................................................................................................................ (6) 
10.9 Stockholder Rights Plan ............................................................................................................................... (7) 
10.10 2002 Stock Option Plan................................................................................................................................ (8) 
10.11 2003 Outside Director Stock Option Plan .................................................................................................... (9) 
10.12 Ad Hoc Option Plan ................................................................................................................................... (10) 
10.13 2008 Employee Inducement Award Plan ................................................................................................... (18) 
10.14 Form of Indemnification Agreement.......................................................................................................... (11) 
10.15 Employment Agreement executed September 9, 2004 between the Company and Clifton Lind............... (12) 
10.16 Employment Agreement executed May 29, 2008 between the Company and Gary Loebig ...................... (13) 
10.17 Employment Agreement executed June 15, 2008 between the Company and Anthony Sanfilippo........... (14) 
10.18 Stock Purchase Agreement executed June 15, 2008 between the Company and Anthony Sanfilippo....... (14) 
10.19 Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of October 26, 2007, by and among MGAM  

Systems, Inc., Megabingo, Inc., Comerica Bank, CIT Lending Services Corporation and  
the Banks party to Credit Agreement... ...................................................................................................... (15) 

10.20 Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of December 20, 2007, by and among 
MGAM Systems, Inc., Megabingo, Inc. and Comerica Bank .................................................................... (16) 

10.21 Employment Agreement executed September 14, 2008 between the Company and Patrick Ramsey ....... (17) 
21.1 Subsidiaries of registrant ............................................................................................................................ (18) 
23.1 Consent of BDO Seidman, LLP ................................................................................................................. (18) 
31.1 Certification of the Principle Executive Officer, pursuant to Section 302 of the 
 Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 ...................................................................................................................... (18) 
31.2 Certification of the Principle Accounting Officer, pursuant to Section 302 of the 
 Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 ...................................................................................................................... (18) 
32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, Pursuant to 
 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 ................ (18) 

  
(1) Incorporated by reference to our Form 10-QSB filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, for the quarter 

ended March 31, 1997. 
(2) Incorporated by reference to our Form 10-Q filed with the SEC for the quarter ended December 31, 2003. 
(3) Incorporated by reference to our Form 10-KSB filed with the SEC for the fiscal year ended September 30, 1994. 
(4) Incorporated by reference to our Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed with the SEC on December 1, 2000 
 (File No.333-51072). 
(5) Incorporated by reference to our Form 10-KSB filed with the SEC for the fiscal year ended September 30, 1998. 
(6) Incorporated by reference to our Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed with the SEC on October 18, 2001 
 (File No. 333 - 100611). 
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(7) Incorporated by reference to our Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed with the SEC on October 15, 1998 
 (File No. 000-28318). 
(8) Incorporated by reference to our Form 10-Q filed with the SEC for the quarter ended March 31, 2003. 
(9) Incorporated by reference to Appendix B of our Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed with the SEC 
 on January 6, 2004. 
(10) Incorporated by reference to our Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed with the SEC on October 18, 2002 
 (File No. 333 - 100612). 
(11) Incorporated by reference to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 4, 2008. 
(12) Incorporated by reference to our Form 10-K filed with the SEC for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2004. 
(13) Incorporated by reference to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 4, 2008 
(14) Incorporated by reference to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 18, 2008 
(15) Incorporated by reference to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 1, 2007 
(16) Incorporated by reference to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 27, 2007. 
(17) Incorporated by reference to our Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 17, 2008 
(18) Filed with our Form 10-K filed with the SEC for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2008. 
 
A copy of any of these Exhibits may be obtained without charge by directing a written request to: 
 
Corporate Secretary 
Multimedia Games, Inc. 
206 Wild Basin Rd. South 
Building B, Suite 400 
Austin, TX 78746 

 



 

 

EXHIBIT 21.1 
SUBSIDIARIES (as of December 15, 2008) OF REGISTRANT 

MegaBingo, Inc., a Delaware corporation 

MGAM Systems, Inc., a Delaware corporation 

MGAM Services, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 

Innovative Sweepstakes Systems, Inc., a Delaware corporation 

MGAM Systems International, Inc., a Delaware corporation 

Megabingo International, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 

Multimedia Games de México 1 S. de R.L. de C.V., a Mexican entity 

Servicios de Wild Basin S. de R.L. de C.V., a Mexican entity 

 



 

 

EXHIBIT 23.1 

Consent of BDO Seidman, LLP 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 
MULTIMEDIA GAMES, INC. 
AUSTIN, TEXAS 

 We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 
(File Nos. 333-23123, 333-51072, 333-100611, 333-100612 and 333-114345) and Form S-3 (File Nos. 333-16729, 
333-28367, 333-363319, 333-64128 and 333-85382) of Multimedia Games, Inc. of our reports dated 
December 15, 2008, relating to the consolidated financial statements, financial statement schedule, and the 
effectiveness of Multimedia Games, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting, which appear in this annual 
report on Form 10-K. 

/s/ BDO Seidman, LLP 

Houston, Texas 
December 15, 2008 
 
 



 

 

EXHIBIT 31.1 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER REQUIRED BY 
RULES 13A – 15(E) OR 15D-15(E) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, 

ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

I, Anthony M. Sanfilippo, the Chief Executive Officer of Multimedia Games, Inc. certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Multimedia Games, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state 
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such 
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report, 
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the 
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure 
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control 
over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and 
have: 

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures 
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, 
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly 
during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial 
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this 
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end 
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that 
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the 
case of an Annual Report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of 
internal controls over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the 
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function): 

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over 
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, 
process, summarize and report financial information; and 

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a 
significant role in the registrant’s internal controls over financial reporting. 

Date: December 15, 2008 By: /s/ Anthony M. Sanfilippo 
  Anthony M. Sanfilippo 
  Chief Executive Officer 



 

 

EXHIBIT 31.2  

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER REQUIRED BY 
RULES 13A – 15(E) OR 15D-15(E) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, 

ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

I, Randy S. Cieslewicz, the Chief Financial Officer of Multimedia Games, Inc., certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Multimedia Games, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state 
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such 
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, 
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the 
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure 
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control 
over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and 
have: 

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures 
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, 
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly 
during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial 
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this 
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end 
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that 
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the 
case of an Annual Report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of 
internal controls over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the 
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function): 

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over 
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, 
process, summarize and report financial information; and 

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a 
significant role in the registrant’s internal controls over financial reporting. 

 
Date: December 15, 2008 By: /s/ Randy S. Cieslewicz 
  Randy S. Cieslewicz 
 

 
Chief Financial Officer 
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) 



 

 

EXHIBIT 32.1 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED, 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

In connection with the Annual Report of Multimedia Games, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year 
ended September 30, 2008, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), 
each of the undersigned, Anthony M. Sanfilippo, Chief Executive Officer, and Randy S. Cieslewicz, Chief Financial 
Officer, of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“Section 906”), that, to my knowledge: 

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934; and 

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and 
results of operations of the Company. 

Dated: December 15, 2008 /s/ Anthony M. Sanfilippo 
 Anthony M. Sanfilippo 
 Chief Executive Officer 
  
 /s/ Randy S. Cieslewicz 
 Randy S. Cieslewicz 
 Chief Financial Officer 

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, 
acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this 
written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to Multimedia Games, Inc., and will be retained by 
Multimedia Games, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. 
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EXPLANATORY NOTE 

Multimedia Games, Inc. (the “Company,” “we,” “us,” or “our”) is filing this Amendment No. 1 on Form 10-K/A 
(this “Amendment”) to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2008 (the 
“Original Report”), as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 15, 2008 (the “Original 
Filing Date”), for the purpose of including information that was to be incorporated by reference from our definitive 
proxy statement. We will not file our proxy statement within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year, and, therefore 
are amending Items 10, 11, 12, 13, 14 and 15 of Part III of our Original Report to add the information contained 
herein. As required by Rule 12b-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, we are filing new 
certifications by the Company’s Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer as exhibits to this 
Form 10-K/A under Item 15. 

Except as described above, this Amendment does not modify or update other disclosures in the Original Report, 
including the nature and character of such disclosures, to reflect events occurring after the filing date of the Original 
Report. Accordingly, this Form 10-K/A should be read in conjunction with our filings made with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission. 

PART III 

ITEM 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant 

Set forth below is information regarding the executive officers and directors of the Company as of January 16, 2009. 

Name Age  Positions and Offices 
Anthony M. Sanfilippo 50    President, Chief Executive Officer and Director 
Randy S. Cieslewicz 37    Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 
Patrick J. Ramsey 34  Senior Vice President and Chief Operating Officer 
Virginia E. Shanks 47  Senior Vice President and Chief Marketing Officer 
Uri L. Clinton 36  Senior Vice President, General Counsel, and Corporate Secretary 
Mick D. Roemer 56  Senior Vice President of Sales 
Michael J. Maples, Sr. (1)(2) 66    Director, Non-Executive Chairman of the Board 
Robert D. Repass (1)(2) 48    Director 
Emanuel R. Pearlman (1)(3) 48    Director 
Neil E. Jenkins (3) 59    Director 
John M. Winkelman (2)(3) 62    Director 
(1) Member of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee. 
(2) Member of the Audit Committee. 
(3) Member of the Compensation Committee. 

Anthony M. Sanfilippo joined Multimedia Games as Chief Executive Officer in June 2008. Mr. Sanfilippo brings to 
Multimedia Games more than 20 years' experience with Harrah's Entertainment, Inc. (Harrah’s), the world's largest 
casino company and a provider of branded casino entertainment. While at Harrah’s, Mr. Sanfilippo served as 
President of both the Western Division (2003 – 2004) and the Central Division (1997 – 2002 and 2004 – 2007), 
overseeing the operations of more than two dozen casino and casino-hotel destinations. Mr. Sanfilippo was also part 
of the senior management team that led the successful integration of numerous gaming companies acquired by 
Harrah's, including Jack Binion's Horseshoe Casinos, the Grand Casino & Hotel brand, Players International, and 
Louisiana Downs Racetrack. In addition to his duties as divisional President, Mr. Sanfilippo was also President and 
Chief Operating Officer for Harrah's New Orleans and a member of the Board of Directors of Jazz Casino 
Corporation prior to its acquisition by Harrah's. Mr. Sanfilippo has directed tribal gaming operations in Arizona, 
California and Kansas, and has held gaming licenses in most states that offer legalized gambling. 

Randy S. Cieslewicz became our Chief Financial Officer in April 2007. On December 1, 2008, Mr. Cieslewicz 
resigned from the Company effective February 15, 2009. From May 2006 until April 2007, Mr. Cieslewicz served as 
our Interim Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Cieslewicz joined us in March 2002 as Vice President of Tax and Budget 
and in July 2005, he became our Vice President of Tax, Budget, and Corporate Compliance. Mr. Cieslewicz worked 
in public accounting from 1994 through 2002, last serving as a Tax Manager for BDO Seidman, LLP. 
Mr. Cieslewicz received his Bachelor of Business Administration in Accounting from Sam Houston State 
University. 
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Patrick J. Ramsey became our Chief Operating Officer in September 2008. Previously, Mr. Ramsey was employed 
as the Vice President and Executive Associate to the Vice Chairman of Harrah’s Entertainment, Inc. from 
November 2007 through September 2008, where he worked on domestic and international development, design and 
construction, and sports and entertainment. Prior to joining the corporate office of Harrah’s Entertainment in Las 
Vegas, Mr. Ramsey worked as the Vice President of Slot Operations, Slot Performance, and Security Operations at 
Caesars Atlantic City (May 2006 – November 2007). Mr. Ramsey has held several other positions with Harrah’s 
Entertainment, Inc., including roles in the Central Division headquarters based in Memphis (November 2004 –
 May 2006) and at several of the Chicagoland properties (June 2003 – November 2004). Mr. Ramsey received a 
B.A. in Economics from Harvard University and an MBA from the Kellogg School of Management at Northwestern 
University. 

Virginia (Ginny) E. Shanks joined us as Chief Marketing Officer in July 2008. Ms. Shanks brings to Multimedia 
Games more than 25 years of marketing experience in gaming entertainment, most recently as Senior Vice President 
of Brand Management for Harrah's Entertainment, Inc., the world's largest casino company and provider of branded 
casino entertainment. During her time with Harrah's Entertainment, Ms. Shanks was responsible for maximizing the 
value of the company's key strategic brands – Caesars, Harrah's, and Horseshoe Casinos; the Total Rewards player 
loyalty program; and the World Series of Poker. In addition to setting overall corporate brand strategy, Ms. Shanks 
oversaw sports and entertainment marketing, strategic alliances, consumer insights, public relations, and nationwide 
casino promotions. Ms. Shanks holds a Bachelor of Science degree from University of Nevada-Reno. 

Uri L. Clinton joined us as General Counsel and Secretary in August 2008. Mr. Clinton serves as chief legal counsel 
for all business operations, corporate governance, regulatory compliance and licensing in the Legal Affairs 
Department. Mr. Clinton's professional experience includes more than 10 years of business and legal experience 
including six years in the Law Department at Harrah's Entertainment, Inc. (August 2002 – August 2008), most 
recently serving as Vice President of Legal Affairs for its Central Division. In that capacity and in earlier positions, 
Mr. Clinton served as business operations and regulatory compliance legal counsel for more than 13 casino/hotels 
located in seven Native American and commercial gaming jurisdictions. Additionally, Mr. Clinton served as lead 
counsel for several of Harrah's enterprise-wide departments and initiatives, including its National Casino Marketing 
Air Charter program, Risk Management Department, Corporate Diversity, and the 2004 integration of several 
Horseshoe branded casinos into the Harrah's corporate structure. Mr. Clinton received a B.A. in Political Science 
from the University of Nevada-Las Vegas in 1994, a Juris Doctorate from Gonzaga University School of Law in 
1997, and an MBA from the Vanderbilt University Owen Graduate School of Management in 2007. 

Mick D. Roemer became our Senior Vice President of Sales in January 2009, bringing more than 25 years of 
gaming equipment sales and marketing experience to the Company. Since 2007, Mr. Roemer has consulted with 
gaming companies in the areas of game content, intellectual property, and sales and marketing planning, and has 
worked in an advisory capacity with Multimedia Games since May 2008 in support of the Company’s efforts to 
expand its penetration into the Class III gaming market. Prior to 2007, Mr. Roemer served as Senior Vice President 
of Sales, Marketing and Product Development for Bally Technologies, contributing to Bally’s significant increase in 
market share with gaming units shipped growing from fewer than 9,000 units in 2000 to more than 22,000 units 
in 2007. Mr. Roemer also previously served as Vice President of Marketing for International Gaming 
Technologies (IGT), Vice President of Sales for Powerhouse/VLC and Senior Vice President and General Manager 
of Anchor Gaming. Mr. Roemer holds a B.S. in Marketing from Oklahoma State University. 

Michael J. Maples, Sr. has been a director of ours since August 2004 and has served as Chairman of the Board 
since April 2006. Mr. Maples held various management positions at Microsoft Corporation from April 1988 to 
July 1995, including Executive Vice President of the Worldwide Products Group. As a member of the Office of the 
President at Microsoft, Mr. Maples reported directly to the Chairman. Previously, Mr. Maples served as Director of 
Software Strategy for International Business Machines Corp. Mr. Maples also currently serves on the boards of 
Motive, Inc., a service management software company, Lexmark International, Inc., a laser and inkjet printer 
company, and Sonic Corp., an operator and franchisor of drive-in restaurants. Mr. Maples is currently a member of 
the Board of Visitors of the Engineering School at the University of Oklahoma and the College of Engineering 
Foundation Advisory Council at the University of Texas at Austin. Mr. Maples received a B.S. in Electrical 
Engineering from the University of Oklahoma and an MBA from Oklahoma City University. 

Robert D. Repass has been a director of ours since July 2002. In addition to his role as a director, Mr. Repass serves 
as Chairman of our Audit Committee. Mr. Repass was a managing partner in the Austin office of 
PricewaterhouseCoopers from December 1997 to March 2000, and from March 2000 until December 2001, 
Mr. Repass was a partner with TL Ventures, a Philadelphia-based venture capital firm. From January 2002 until 
March 2002, Mr. Repass was a private consultant. Mr. Repass has also served as Vice President and Chief Financial 
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Officer of Motion Computing, Inc., a mobile computing and wireless communication device company, since 
April 2002. From January 2003 until December, 2005, Mr. Repass served on the Board of Directors and as the 
Chairman of the Audit Committee of Bindview Development Corporation, a software company. Mr. Repass has 
over 20 years of public accounting, Securities and Exchange Commission and financial reporting experience. 
Mr. Repass received a B.S. in Accounting from Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University. 

John M. Winkelman has been a director of ours since August 2000. From 1999 to 2000, Mr. Winkelman was the 
Chief Executive Officer of Viejas Casino and Turf Club, a casino owned and operated by the Viejas Tribe located in 
San Diego County, California. From 1989 to 1999, Mr. Winkelman was the Economic Development Advisor to the 
Viejas Tribal Council. Mr. Winkelman has worked extensively with Native American enterprises for the 
past 20 years, with a primary focus on tribal gaming and related economic development. Mr. Winkelman received a 
B.A. in Law and a Juris Doctor degree from Thomas Jefferson School of Law, formerly Western State University. 

Neil E. Jenkins has been a director of ours since October 2006. Since 2000, Mr. Jenkins has been an Executive Vice 
President and Secretary and the General Counsel for Lawson Products, Inc., a publicly traded industrial products 
company. From 1996 to 1999, Mr. Jenkins owned an SCH Golf Franchise that specialized in tours to Scotland and 
Ireland. Beginning in 1974, Mr. Jenkins began working in labor relations for Bally Manufacturing Corporation, and 
continued in the legal department, rising to the position of General Counsel, a capacity he served in 
from 1985 to 1992. In 1993, Mr. Jenkins became a member of Bally Gaming International’s Executive Team, where 
he helped coordinate business development, legal, and licensing matters for Bally Manufacturing’s gaming industry 
spin-off. Mr. Jenkins received a B.A. in Political Science from Brown University, a Juris Doctor degree from Loyola 
University Chicago School of Law, and a Master of Science degree in Financial Markets from the Center for Law & 
Financial Markets at the Illinois Institute of Technology. 

Emanuel R. Pearlman has been a director of ours since October 2006. He has more than 20 years of experience in 
the investment community. Mr. Pearlman is the founder and Chief Executive Officer of Liberation Investment 
Group LLC, a New York-based investment management firm. Prior to founding Liberation, Mr. Pearlman was the 
Chief Operating Officer of Vornado Operating Corporation. For 14 years, Mr. Pearlman ran Gemini Partners, which 
specialized in strategic block investing and financial consulting. Mr. Pearlman’s experience in the gaming industry 
includes consulting to Jackpot Enterprises and to Bally Entertainment Corporation, where he advised the companies 
on their business and financial activities. Mr. Pearlman received a B.A. in Economics from Duke University, and an 
MBA from the Harvard Graduate School of Business. 

Each director is elected annually and holds office until such director’s successor is elected, or until such director’s 
death, resignation or removal from office. 

No family relationship exists between any of our directors, Executive Officers or any person nominated or chosen 
by us to become a director or Executive Officer. 

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance 

The members of our Board of Directors, the executive officers and persons who hold more than 10% of our 
outstanding common stock are subject to the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934 which requires them to file reports with respect to their ownership of the common stock and their 
transactions in such common stock. Based upon the copies of Section 16(a) reports which we prepared or for which 
we received from such persons for their fiscal year 2008 transactions in the common stock and their common stock 
holdings, we believe that all reporting requirements under Section 16(a) for such fiscal year were met in a timely 
manner by our directors, executive officers and greater than ten percent beneficial owners. 

Audit Committee Composition and Audit Committee Financial Expert 

Our Board of Directors has appointed Messrs. Repass, Maples, and Winkelman as members of the Audit Committee 
of the Board of Directors. All Audit Committee members are “independent” as defined and required under the 
Nasdaq listing standards and the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission. All Audit 
Committee members also possess the level of financial literacy required by all applicable laws and regulations. The 
Board has determined that at least one member of the Audit Committee, Mr. Repass, is an Audit Committee 
“financial expert,” and that Mr. Repass is “independent” as defined by the rules and regulations of the SEC. 
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Code of Business Conduct and Ethics 

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics applicable to our officers, directors and employees which 
includes a separate, additional Code of Ethics for our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, 
principal accounting officer, and controller. This code, including the separate, additional code for our principal 
executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller is publicly available on our 
website at http://ir.multimediagames.com/downloads.cfm. If the we make any amendments to this code other than 
technical, administrative or other non-substantive amendments, or grants any waivers, including implicit waivers, 
from a provision of the code to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting 
officer or controller, or other persons performing similar functions that requires disclosure by law or Nasdaq listing 
standard, we will disclose the nature of the amendment or waiver, its effective date and to whom it applies on our 
website or in a report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC. 

ITEM 11. Executive Compensation 

COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

INTRODUCTION 
This Compensation Discussion and Analysis provides information regarding the following: 

 The objectives of our executive compensation program, including the behaviors and results it is designed to 
encourage and reward; 

 The roles and responsibilities of management and the Compensation Committee in the governance of our 
executive compensation program; 

 The elements of our executive compensation program and its purposes; and 

 The compensation decisions with respect to our fiscal year ended September 30, 2008. 

Objectives of the Executive Compensation Programs 
The objective of our executive compensation program is to align the compensation paid to our executive officers 
with shareholder and customer interests (on both a short-term and long-term basis); attract, retain and motivate 
highly qualified executive talent; and provide appropriate rewards for achievement of business objectives and 
growth in shareholder value. It is the Company’s objective that executive compensation be directly related to the 
achievement of our planned goals, and the enhancement of corporate and shareholder value. The Compensation 
Committee recognizes that the industry sector in which we operate is both highly competitive and is challenged by 
significant legal and regulatory uncertainty. In addition, the technology-related experience and skills of our 
executive officers have applications to many other industry sectors besides our own. As a result, there is substantial 
demand for qualified, experienced executive personnel of the type we need to achieve our objectives. The 
Compensation Committee considers it crucial that the Company be assured of retaining and rewarding our top 
caliber executives, who are essential to the attainment of our ambitious long-term goals. 

For these reasons, the Compensation Committee believes the Company’s executive compensation arrangements 
must remain competitive with those offered by other companies of similar size, scope, performance levels and 
complexity of operations. 

For the purposes of this Compensation Discussion and Analysis, the capitalized term “Named Executive Officers” 
(or “NEOs”) refers to the executives who are named in the Summary Compensation Table below. Included among 
the NEOs are Messrs. Clifton E. Lind, Gary L. Loebig, P. Howard Chalmers and Scott A. Zinnecker. Mr. Lind 
served as our President and Chief Executive Officer until his resignation from such offices and as a director of the 
Company effective March 31, 2008. Mr. Lind remained an employee of the Company following his resignation as 
an executive officer and director of the Company until his termination from the Company effective May 1, 2008. 
Mr. Loebig served as our Interim President and Chief Executive Officer from March 31, 2008, until the hiring of 
Mr. Sanfilippo, effective June 15, 2008. Mr. Loebig remained an employee of the Company until his resignation 
from the Company effective September 19, 2008. Mr. Chalmers served as our Senior Vice President of Planning and 
Corporate Communications until August 31, 2008 when his role and responsibilities were revised such that he was 
no longer an executive officer; Mr. Chalmers remained an employee of the Company until his termination effective 
December 31, 2008. Mr. Zinnecker served in various roles with the Company until his termination effective 
September 30, 2008; most recently, he held the role of Executive Vice President and Acting Chief Operating 
Officer. 
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The Company entered into certain agreements with Messrs. Lind, Loebig, Chalmers and Zinnecker upon the 
termination of their employment. Information regarding these agreements is provided below in the section titled 
“Employment And Termination Arrangements And Change-In-Control Benefits.” 

Determining Executive Compensation 
Our management and the Compensation Committee strive to maintain an executive compensation program that is 
structured to provide the executive officers with a total compensation package that, at expected levels of 
performance, is competitive with those provided to other executives holding comparable positions or having similar 
qualifications in other similarly situated organizations in our industry and the general market. Both management 
and the Compensation Committee are involved in the development, review and evaluation of our executive 
compensation programs. The Compensation Committee has sole responsibility for the approval of such programs. 
The roles and responsibilities are described below. 

Management. Our management sets the strategic direction for the Company and strives to design and maintain 
compensation programs that motivate behaviors among the executive officers that are consistent with the 
Company’s strategic goals and objectives. Each year, the Chief Executive Officer, with assistance from other 
members of management, as appropriate, conducts a review process covering each of the executive officers 
reporting to the Chief Executive Officer. This annual review process focuses on an evaluation of overall Company 
performance and the performance of each such executive officer, including an evaluation of compensation levels 
delivered through each element of compensation (as described below), competitive practices and trends, and specific 
compensation issues as they arise. Based on the outcomes of this review process, the Chief Executive Officer makes 
recommendations to the Compensation Committee regarding the compensation of each of the executive officers 
reporting directly to him. This recommendation typically provides information regarding adjustments, if any, to base 
salaries, annual incentive bonus award payments, and equity-based incentive awards. 

During fiscal year 2008, the Company successfully recruited several individuals to join the Company in senior 
executive roles. The compensation arrangements with these new Executive Officers are described below in the 
section titled “Employment and Termination Arrangements and Change-In-Control Benefits.” The Board of 
Directors believes the addition of these executives is critical to the development and execution of strategic 
objectives that will guide the Company’s future and support the creation of shareholder value. 

Compensation Committee. The Company’s Board of Directors established the Compensation Committee in 1996 at 
the time of our initial public offering. The Compensation Committee operates pursuant to a charter, which is 
available on the “Investor Relations” page of the Company’s website at www.multimediagames.com. As stated in 
the charter, the purpose of the Compensation Committee is to discharge the Board’s responsibilities relating to 
compensation and benefits of the Company’s executive officers and directors. The current members of the 
Compensation Committee are Messrs. Jenkins (Chairman), Pearlman and Winkelman, who are each “independent” 
directors, as required by Nasdaq Marketplace Rules. The Compensation Committee convened eight times during 
fiscal year 2008 to discuss Company compensation programs and issues. 

The Compensation Committee has overall responsibility for the approval of executive and director compensation 
programs that are appropriate, consistent with the Company’s compensation philosophy, and support the Company’s 
business goals and objectives. Specifically, the Compensation Committee has authority and responsibility for the 
review, evaluation and approval of the compensation structure and levels for all of the executive officers. The 
Compensation Committee also approves all employment, severance, or change-in-control agreements, and special or 
supplemental benefits or provisions applicable to executive officers. The Compensation Committee is also 
responsible for reviewing and making periodic recommendations to the Board regarding the compensation of 
directors. 

Each year, the Compensation Committee reviews the compensation recommendations submitted by the Chief 
Executive Officer. In general, the Chief Executive Officer’s recommendations consider the following: 

 Performance versus stated individual and Company business goals and objectives; 

 Internal equity (i.e., considering the pay for similar jobs and jobs at different levels within the Company) 
and the critical nature of each Executive Officer to the Company’s past and future success;  

 The need to retain talent; and 

 The compensation history of each Executive Officer, including the value and number of stock options 
awarded in prior years. 
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The Compensation Committee believes that input from management provides useful information and perspective to 
assist the Committee with the determination of its own views on compensation. Although the Compensation 
Committee receives information and recommendations regarding the design and level of compensation of the 
executive officers from management, the Compensation Committee makes the final decisions as to the plan design 
and compensation levels for these executives. 

In making decisions on each executive officer’s compensation, the Committee considers the nature and scope of all 
elements of the executive officer’s total compensation package, the executive officer’s responsibilities, and the 
competitive posture of the executive officer’s current compensation. The Committee also evaluates each executive 
officer’s performance through reviews of objective results (both Company and individual results), reports from the 
Chief Executive Officer and other senior management regarding the executive’s effectiveness in supporting the 
Company’s key strategic, operational and financial goals and, in some cases, personal observation. 

With respect to the compensation of the Chief Executive Officer, the Committee is responsible for the periodic 
review and approval of his total compensation, including annual incentive bonus awards and equity-based incentive 
compensation. The Committee also develops annual performance goals and objectives, and conducts an evaluation 
of the Chief Executive Officer’s performance relative to these goals and objectives. The Committee considers and 
discusses the Chief Executive Officer’s compensation in executive session without the Chief Executive Officer 
present. 

The Compensation Committee has the sole authority to obtain advice from consultants, legal counsel, accounting, or 
other advisors, as appropriate, to perform the Committee’s duties and responsibilities. The Committee did not 
engage a compensation consultant to assist with the evaluation or review of the compensation programs for its 
executive officers for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2008. 
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Elements of Executive Compensation 
Management and the Compensation Committee strive to implement executive compensation programs that are 
designed to attract and retain individuals who possess the qualities necessary to successfully execute the Company’s 
business strategy, and to support the Company’s long-term financial success and drive shareholder value. The key 
elements of our executive compensation program are as follows: 

Element Objectives and Basis Form 

Base Salary Provide base compensation that reflects each 
Executive Officer’s responsibilities, tenure 
and performance and is competitive for each 
role.  

Cash 

Annual Incentive Bonus Annual incentive to drive Company and 
individual performance. 

Cash 

Equity-Based Incentives Long-term incentives to drive Company 
performance and align the Executive Officers’ 
interests with shareholders’ interests; retain 
Executive Officers through vesting and 
potential wealth accumulation. 

Stock options 

Health and Welfare Benefits Provide for the health and wellness of our 
Executive Officers. 

Various plans 
(described below) 

Retirement and Savings Plan Assist employees with retirement savings and 
capital accumulation on a tax-advantaged 
basis. 

401(k) Plan, with 
Company matching 
contributions. 

Perquisites On a very limited basis, support Company 
business interests. 

Club membership 

Discretionary Bonuses and 
Awards 

Attract top executive talent from outside the 
Company; retain Executive Officers through 
vesting and potential wealth accumulation; 
and recognize promotions and significant 
individual contributions to the Company. 

Cash and stock 
options 

Severance and Change-in- 
Control Benefits 

Provide financial security to Executive 
Officers and protect Company interests in the 
event of the termination of employment; 
attract and retain top executive talent. 

Cash severance and 
acceleration of 
vesting of nonvested 
outstanding stock 
options 

Cash Compensation 
The Company believes that annual cash compensation should be paid commensurate with attained performance. 
Accordingly, our cash compensation consists of fixed base compensation, paid in the form of an annual base salary, 
and an annual incentive bonus program that is designed to motivate and serve as a reward for the Company’s overall 
performance. The Compensation Committee supports management’s compensation philosophy of moderate fixed 
compensation with the potential for significant bonuses for achieving performance-related goals. Base salary and 
bonus award decisions are made as part of the Company’s structured annual review process. 

Base Salary. Base salaries are paid to our executive officers to provide an appropriate fixed component of 
compensation. The base salary paid to each executive officer generally reflects the officer’s responsibilities, tenure, 
individual job performance, measurable contribution to our success, special circumstances, and pay levels of similar 
positions with comparable companies in the industry. Management and the Compensation Committee review the 
base salary of each executive officer, including the Chief Executive Officer, on an annual basis. When reviewing 
each executive officer’s base salary, the Compensation Committee considers the level of responsibility and 
complexity of the executive officer’s job, whether individual performance in the prior year was particularly strong or 
weak, how the executive officer’s salary compares to the salaries of other Company executives, and salaries paid for 
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the same or similar positions. In addition to these annual reviews, management and the Committee may, at any time, 
review the salary of an executive officer who has received a significant promotion, whose responsibilities have been 
increased significantly, or who is the object of competitive recruitment. Any adjustments are based on increases in 
the cost of living, job performance of the executive officer over time, and the expansion of duties and 
responsibilities, if any. No pre-determined weight or emphasis is placed on any one of these factors. 

The following table summarizes the base salaries for each of the Named Executive Officers during the fiscal year 
ended September 30, 2008: 

Name 

Annual Base 
Salary 

Effective 
10/01/2007 Adjustments 

Annual Base 
Salary 

Effective 
09/30/2008 

Anthony M. Sanfilippo (1)  — — $450,000 
Gary L. Loebig (2) $194,250 — — 
Clifton E. Lind (2) $450,000 — — 

Randy S. Cieslewicz (3) $212,500 $22,500 
(+10.6%) $235,000 

P. Howard Chalmers (4) $189,000 $(75,600) 
(-40.0%) $113,400 

Scott A. Zinnecker (2) $189,000 — — 
(1) Mr. Sanfilippo was hired as President, Chief Executive Officer and a director the Company effective 

June 15, 2008. Additional details regarding the terms of his employment are provided below. 
(2) Messrs. Loebig, Lind and Zinnecker each terminated their employment with the Company on or before 

September 30, 2008. 
(3) Mr. Cieslewicz received a market-based adjustment to his salary effective July 28, 2008. 

On December 1, 2008, Mr. Cieslewicz resigned from the Company effective February 15, 2009. 
(4) Effective August 31, 2008, the role and responsibilities of Mr. Chalmers were revised such that he was no 

longer an executive officer of the Company. Consistent with this change, his salary was reduced. He 
remained an employee of the Company until his termination effective December 31, 2008. 

The base salaries for each of the recently-hired executive officers (i.e., Messrs. Sanfilippo, Ramsey, Clinton, 
Roemer, and Ms. Shanks) were the result of negotiations between the Company and each individual. In each case, 
the Company believes that the salaries are appropriate, competitive, and were necessary to attract the caliber of 
executive-level talent that each of these individuals possess. Specific salary levels were agreed to based upon each 
individual’s salary level at their previous employers, the roles and positions each would be assuming with 
Multimedia Games, and other career opportunities that they were considering. 

Annual Incentive Bonus. The Company’s annual incentive bonus program is intended to motivate the NEOs to 
achieve superior Company financial performance, recognize and reward the executive officers for their contributions 
when superior annual performance is achieved, and provide compensation opportunities which are aligned with 
competitive practices. The program is designed so that the annual incentive bonus can potentially be the largest 
component of cash compensation only if the executive and the Company are able to meet or exceed performance-
related goals that, if attained, are expected to result in an increase in overall company and shareholder value. Bonus 
award payments are typically made in the first quarter of the fiscal year following the year in which they were 
earned. 

Historically under our annual incentive bonus program, the NEOs did not have pre-set performance goals or annual 
bonus targets, expressed as a percentage of base salary. Rather, an annual incentive bonus pool was funded as a 
percentage of the Company reported pre-tax income, which was the sole corporate measure of performance for the 
funding of an incentive bonus pool. The bonus pool funding percentage was developed and approved by the Board 
of Directors periodically, based on the Company’s expected performance and an assessment of appropriate awards 
the annual incentive bonus pool might generate given different performance levels. If the Company’s performance 
resulted in the funding of the annual incentive bonus pool, then the Chief Executive Officer would have 
recommended to the Compensation Committee a bonus award amount for each of the other NEOs. The Chief 
Executive Officer’s recommendations would have been based on his assessment of each such NEOs contribution to 
the execution of the Company’s business plans. The Compensation Committee would have considered the Chief 
Executive Officer’s recommendations, and made changes to the recommended award amounts, as appropriate. The 
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Chief Executive Officer’s bonus award was determined solely by the Compensation Committee based on its 
evaluation of his performance.  

With the hiring of several new executive officers during fiscal year 2008, the Company has implemented a new 
annual incentive approach. Under this approach, each of the Executive Officers have been assigned a target annual 
bonus opportunity, expressed as a percentage of the executive’s annual base salary. Subject to the achievement of 
pre-established performance targets, the Executives Officers may earn an annual incentive bonus award above or 
below the bonus target opportunity. The Compensation Committee determined that a target-based annual incentive 
approach would allow for greater alignment between annual bonus awards and Company performance than the 
previous approach. Specifically, the Compensation Committee believes that the proposed target-based annual 
incentive approach will facilitate the use of performance measures that are aligned with the creation of shareholder 
value, and thus provide a direct incentive for Executive Officers to perform. 

We anticipate the annual incentive bonus for fiscal year 2009 will be based on the Company’s EBITDA 
performance (EBITDA is defined as Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Amortization, Depreciation and Accretion of 
Contract Rights), less capital expenditures, relative to a predetermined target amount. EBITDA less capital 
expenditures must meet a threshold level equal to approximately 50% of the target amount in order for annual 
incentive bonus awards to be funded. If the Company’s minimum threshold is met, the Executive Officers will each 
be eligible to receive annual incentive awards equal to 80% of his or her individual target bonus. If the Company’s 
EBITDA is between 80% and 100% of the target amount, the amount of annual incentive awards for which each 
Executive Officer will be eligible to receive will increase on a pro-rata basis, such that if EBITDA less capital 
expenditures is equal to 100% of the target amount, each Executive Officer will be eligible to receive an annual 
incentive award equal to 100% of his or her individual target bonus percentage. If the Company’s EBITDA less 
capital expenditures exceeds 100% of the target amount, each Executive Officer will be eligible to receive a bonus 
award up to his or her individual maximum award opportunity. For fiscal year 2009, the annual incentive bonus 
opportunities (expressed as a percentage of base salary) for the Executive Officers are as follows: 

Name 
Threshold 

(1) Target Maximum 
Anthony M. Sanfilippo 120% 150% 300% 
Other Executive Officers (2) 48% 60% 100% 

(1) Represents the annual incentive bonus award payout for which the Executive Officers may 
be eligible for EBITDA performance equal to 80% of the target amount. 

(2) Refers to Messrs. Ramsey, Clinton, Roemer, and Ms. Shanks. 

For fiscal year 2008, two NEOs earned bonuses. Pursuant to the terms of his Employment Agreement dated May 29, 
2008, Mr. Loebig was awarded a bonus in the aggregate amount of $119,231 (consisting of $69,231 in additional 
compensation related to his term as Interim Chief Executive Officer and a $50,000 cash bonus at the completion of 
his term) in recognition of his service as the Company’s Interim President and Chief Executive Officer. This bonus 
was paid to Mr. Loebig on June 20, 2008. Mr. Sanfilippo earned a bonus award of $181,731 in recognition of his 
service during fiscal year 2008 under the terms of his employment agreement, which provides him with a target 
bonus opportunity equal to 150% of his base salary, and a maximum bonus opportunity of 300% of his base salary. 
For fiscal year 2008, Mr. Sanfilippo's performance was evaluated based on the following objectives set forth shortly 
after his employment with the Company: (i) review the current profitability and future viability of each of the 
Company's product lines; (ii) assess the Company's organizational structure; (iii) establish relationships with 
stakeholders of the Company; and (iv) review the Company's expense structure. The Board of Directors’ assessment 
of his performance following the completion of the year determined that, in the aggregate, Mr. Sanfilippo met these 
objectives, and thus awarded him a bonus award equal to 150% of the base salary he earned during the fiscal 
year 2008. The bonus will be paid to Mr. Sanfilippo during fiscal year 2009. These awards are reflected in the 
“Bonus” column in the Summary Compensation Table. 

Due to the dynamic nature of the Company’s industry, which is driven by economic and regulatory conditions, and 
customer preferences, the Company believes that the periodic use of discretion in the determination of bonus award 
amounts is appropriate and optimizes the overall value of the bonus program. This approach facilitates teamwork 
and collaboration among the executive officers, and allows them to not be limited to pre-established goals should 
operating conditions change during the year. 

Equity-Based Incentives 
We provide our Executive Officers with long-term compensation in the form of equity-based incentives, which are 
intended to align the interests of our Executive Officers with the interest of the Company’s shareholders by 
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supporting the creation of long-term value for the organization, facilitate significant long-term retention, and be 
consistent with competitive market practices. Over time, it is the Compensation Committee’s intent that equity-
based compensation should represent a significant portion of each executive officer’s total compensation, and the 
primary equity-based incentive vehicle we have used has been stock options. Nonqualified and incentive stock 
options have been granted to the Company’s executive officers and other employees. The Company expects to 
continue to issue stock options to new employees as they are hired, as well as to current employees as incentives 
from time to time. Our rationale for granting stock options is as follows: 

 We believe that stock options are highly effective at aligning the long-term interests of our Executive 
Officers with the interests of our shareholders; 

 The grant of stock options to Executive Officers has been an essential ingredient to enabling us to achieve 
our growth and attain our business objectives; and 

 We regularly face significant legal, regulatory and competitive challenges to our business that require 
extraordinary commitments of time and expertise by the Executive Officers, who have met these challenges 
and made these extraordinary commitments, largely because of the reward and incentive provided by the 
historical and prospective grant of stock options. 

The Compensation Committee periodically reviews the need to make grants of stock options to the executive 
officers, typically based on recommendations from management. When approving the grants of stock options, the 
Compensation Committee considers the number and terms of options previously granted, industry practices, the 
executive officer’s level of responsibility, and assumed potential stock value in the future. 

The Company’s equity-based incentive awards are designed to comply with Section 162(m) of the IRS code to allow 
tax deductibility of the awards. Stock options are awarded under the Company’s stock plans – the 1996 Stock 
Incentive Plan, the 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003 Stock Option Plans, and an Ad Hoc Stock Option Plan. Our Board of 
Directors has also adopted a 2008 Employment Inducement Award Plan. Individual grants of options are 
documented by stock option agreements which contain the specific terms and provisions pertaining to each grant, 
including vesting, option term, exercise price, and termination provisions. Options granted to the Executive Officers 
and other employees generally vest over four years and expire seven years from the date of grant. The exercise price 
of stock options granted to executive officers is equal to the market value of a share of Company common stock on 
the date of grant. Therefore, our executive officers will receive no benefit from the stock options unless the value of 
a share of common stock exceeds the exercise price. 

Stock option grants to Executive Officers and other employees have historically consisted of a combination 
of incentive stock options, or ISOs, and nonqualified stock options, or NQSOs. The use of ISOs has allowed 
recipients to take advantage of certain tax benefits the ISOs afford under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code 
(and any successor provision of the Code having a similar intent). 

During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2008, the Compensation Committee approved grants of stock options to 
Messrs. Loebig, Cieslewicz and Zinnecker, consisting of a combination of ISOs and NQSOs. The options will vest 
and become exercisable over four years. The Compensation Committee approved these grants as an incentive to 
retain the services of these individuals during a period of transition, to keep them engaged in the Company’s day-to-
day operations, and to contribute institutional knowledge which was valuable to the new executive team as they 
developed a new strategy for the Company. 

Upon commencement of their employment with the Company, the Compensation Committee approved grants of 
stock options to Mr. Sanfilippo and the other recently-hired Executive Officers (i.e., Messrs. Ramsey, Clinton, 
Roemer, and Ms. Shanks). These grants were made to provide an immediate incentive for these individuals to focus 
on the creation of shareholder value. In addition, the Company believes the level of these equity awards were 
necessary to attract these executives, and in some instances, replace certain equity opportunities they had at their 
previous employers. Details of Mr. Sanfilippo’s stock option grant are provided below in the section titled 
“Compensation of the Chief Executive Officer.” Additional information is also provided in the section titled 
“Employment and Termination Arrangements and Change-In-Control Benefits.” 

Other than the stock option awards described above, none of the other Named Executive Officers received grants of 
stock options or any other form of equity-based incentives during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2008. 

The Company does not currently maintain required levels of stock ownership by the Executive Officers. The 
Company does have in place “Procedures and Guidelines Governing Securities Trades by Company Personnel,” in 
order to comply with federal and state securities laws governing (a) trading in Company securities while in the 
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possession of “material nonpublic information” concerning the Company, and (b) tipping or disclosing material 
nonpublic information to outsiders. In order to prevent even the appearance of improper trading or tipping, the 
Company has adopted this policy for all of its directors, officers and employees, venture capital and other entities 
(such as trusts and corporations) over which such employees, officers or directors have or share voting or investment 
control and specially designated outsiders who have access to the Company’s material nonpublic information 

Benefit Programs and Perquisites 
We provide our executive officers with benefits that are intended to be a part of a competitive total compensation 
package and that will permit us to attract and retain highly-qualified executives. These benefits include health and 
welfare benefits, a retirement and savings plan, and a perquisite limited to the Chief Executive Officer. Each of these 
benefits is described below. 

Health and Welfare Benefits. The Company’s benefits program is designed to provide employees (including the 
executive officers) and their families with security and well being, and is an important part of the total compensation 
package. These benefits are divided into the following major categories: 

 Health Care Benefits – medical, dental and vision insurance coverage; 

 Life and Disability Benefits – basic, optional life and accident insurance as well as short and long-term 
disability coverage; 

 Flexible Spending Accounts – health care and dependent care tax-free accounts; and 

 Work Life Benefits – employee assistance with everyday issues, financial and legal issues, parenting, 
childcare, education and elder care. 

The Executive officers participate in these benefits programs on the same relative basis as our other employees.  

Retirement and Savings. The Company maintains an employee retirement and savings plan pursuant to 
Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code, or the 401(k) Plan. The purpose of the 401(k) Plan is to permit 
employees, including executive officers, to accumulate funds for retirement on a tax-advantaged basis. Specifically, 
the 401(k) Plan permits each eligible employee to contribute on a pre-tax basis a portion of his compensation to 
the 401(k) Plan (for calendar year 2008, the maximum amount of compensation that may be contributed to the 
401(k) Plan was $15,500). The Company makes a matching contribution to the 401(k) Plan that is equal to 100% of 
the first 3% of compensation contributed by employees and 50% of the next 2% of compensation contributed by 
employees to the 401(k) Plan. 

The Company does not maintain a tax-qualified defined benefit retirement plan. In addition, the Company does not 
maintain any non qualified supplemental retirement plans or deferred compensation plans for the executive officers. 

Perquisites. The Company does not provide perquisites to executive officers, except for monthly club membership 
dues that were paid on behalf of Mr. Lind during his tenure as President and Chief Executive Officer. Two club 
memberships were primarily used for business purposes, including sales and customer entertainment and Board of 
Directors dinners. The value of this benefit to Mr. Lind in the fiscal year ended September 30, 2008, is included in 
the “All Other Compensation” column in the Summary Compensation Table. 

Compensation of the Chief Executive Officer 
Mr. Sanfilippo commenced employment with the Company as President and Chief Executive Officer, effective 
June 15, 2008. In accordance with the terms of his employment agreement (key terms of which are described 
below), Mr. Sanfilippo receives an annual base salary of $450,000. In addition, he has an opportunity to earn an 
annual bonus equal to 150% of his base salary upon achievement of certain performance targets approved by the 
Company’s Board of Directors, and up to a maximum of 300% of his base salary for overachievement of such 
performance targets. As noted above, Mr. Sanfilippo earned a bonus award of $181,731 in recognition of his service 
during the fiscal year. Upon the execution of his employment agreement, Mr. Sanfilippo was granted 1,300,000 
stock options. The options became immediately exercisable, but are subject to a vesting over four years in equal 
quarterly installments. Mr. Sanfilippo’s total compensation package was determined as the result of a negotiation 
process between Mr. Sanfilippo and the Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee believes the 
structure of the compensation package, as well as the targeted and potential value of the package, provides a 
competitive opportunity that is strongly aligned with shareholder interests 

Mr. Loebig was appointed Interim President and Chief Executive Officer on March 31, 2008, a position he held until 
the hiring of Mr. Sanfilippo effective June 15, 2008. In connection with his appointment to such offices, the 
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Company entered into an Employment Agreement with Mr. Loebig, which is described below in the section titled 
“Employment and Termination Arrangements and Change-In-Control Benefits.” Pursuant to the terms of 
Mr. Loebig’s Employment Agreement, he received a bonus award of $119,231 (consisting of $69,231 in additional 
compensation related to his term as Interim Chief Executive Officer and a $50,000 cash bonus at the completion of 
his term) in recognition of his service during the fiscal year. On July 14, 2008, Mr. Loebig was granted 80,000 stock 
options. The grant consisted of a combination of 23,643 ISOs and 56,357 NQSOs. One-fourth of the options will 
vest on the first anniversary of the grant date; the remaining options will vest in equal quarterly increments over the 
following three years 

Mr. Lind served as the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer until his resignation from such offices, 
effective March 31, 2008. He remained an employee of the Company until his termination on May 1, 2008, at which 
time he and the Company entered into certain agreements related to his termination. Key terms of these agreements 
are described below. Mr. Lind’s annual base salary was $450,000 for the period during which he was employed by 
the Company in fiscal year 2008. Mr. Lind did not receive a bonus award for his service during the fiscal year, nor 
did the Company grant options to him during fiscal 2008.  

EMPLOYMENT AND TERMINATION ARRANGEMENTS AND CHANGE-IN-CONTROL BENEFITS 

The Company is party to employment agreements with a total of five current executive officers, including 
Mr. Sanfilippo. In addition, we entered into certain agreements with Messrs. Lind, Loebig, Chalmers and Zinnecker 
to define certain arrangements regarding their terminations from the Company. The following paragraphs provide 
summaries of the agreements with the Named Executive Officers. 

Agreements with Anthony M. Sanfilippo. On June 15, 2008, the Company entered into certain agreements with 
Mr. Sanfilippo, including an employment agreement that sets forth certain terms and conditions relating to his 
employment as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Mr. Sanfilippo’s employment agreement 
provides that he will receive an annual base salary of $450,000, subject to covenants in the employment agreement 
and in an Agreement Regarding Proprietary Developments, Confidential Information and Non-Solicitation. The 
annual salary will be subject to an annual review by the Board of Directors or Compensation Committee. In 
addition, he has an opportunity to earn an annual bonus equal to 150% of his base salary upon achievement of 
certain performance targets approved by the Company’s Board of Directors, and up to a maximum of 300% of his 
base salary for overachievement of such performance targets. The employment agreement also specifies that 
Mr. Sanfilippo will be eligible to enroll in the Company’s benefit programs and vacation policies as they are 
established from time-to-time for senior-level executive employees, or be reimbursed for the cost to purchase 
comparable coverage at a benefit level consistent with other senior-level executive employees. Mr. Sanfilippo will 
also be reimbursed for the cost of co-payments under his current health and medical benefit plans, and annual 
physical examinations for Mr. Sanfilippo and his spouse. 

For a period of six months following the effective date of the employment agreement, the Company paid expenses 
related to Mr. Sanfilippo’s commuting between Austin, Texas (the Company’s home office location) and each of his 
home offices in Germantown, Tennessee and Salt Lake City, Utah; as well reasonable costs of a furnished executive 
apartment in Austin, Texas, car rental and other related and reasonable expenses. The Company will pay for the 
reasonable moving expenses for Mr. Sanfilippo’s relocation to Austin, Texas, excluding any costs associated with 
buying or selling a home.  

Upon the execution of the employment agreement, Mr. Sanfilippo was granted 1,300,000 stock options. The options 
became immediately exercisable, but are subject to a vesting over four years in equal quarterly installments. In 
addition, he agreed to purchase 250,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock pursuant to a Stock Purchase 
Agreement, under which the shares were purchased at a price of $4.68 per share, such price being the fair market 
value of each such share on the effective date of the agreement. 

In the event of Mr. Sanfilippo’s death or disability, voluntary termination, or termination for cause (each as defined 
within the employment agreement), he shall not be entitled to receive any severance, other than accrued but unpaid 
salary, vacation, vested benefits, and unreimbursed expenses. Further, the Company’s other obligations under the 
employment agreement shall cease. In the event of Mr. Sanfilippo’s termination without cause or his termination of 
employment for good reason (each as defined within the employment agreement), the Company: (i) shall pay 
Mr. Sanfilippo (a) in the event that the termination occurs on or before June 15, 2009, one year of base salary 
continuation and target bonus, or (b) in the event that the termination occurs after June 15, 2009, two years of base 
salary continuation and two years of target bonus; and (ii) if Mr. Sanfilippo elects to continue health coverage under 
the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (“COBRA”), the Company will pay the premiums in an 
amount sufficient to maintain the level of health benefits in effect on his last day of employment, for a period of up 
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to one year after the termination. The same termination benefits would apply in the event of Mr. Sanfilippo’s 
termination without cause or his termination for good reason, within one year following a Change of Control. In 
addition, the stock options granted to Mr. Sanfilippo upon the commencement of his employment with the Company 
would become fully vested in the event of his termination without cause or his termination for good reason, within 
one year following a Change of Control. The Company’s obligation to provide the severance benefits set forth above 
is contingent upon Mr. Sanfilippo’s execution of a mutual release of claims satisfactory to the Company.  

Agreements with Gary L. Loebig. Upon his resignation on September 19, 2008, the Company entered into certain 
agreements with Mr. Loebig, including a Termination of Employment Agreement and a Separation and Release 
Agreement. The Termination of Employment Agreement provides for the termination of an employment agreement 
between the Company and Mr. Loebig, dated May 29, 2008. That Employment Agreement outlined the terms and 
conditions of his employment as the Company’s Interim President and Chief Executive Officer, roles he held from 
March 31, 2008 until the hiring of Mr. Sanfilippo effective June 15, 2008. Under the terms of the Employment 
Agreement, Mr. Loebig’s salary was unchanged; however, he was entitled to receive a bonus (the “Cash Bonus”) in 
the amount of $25,000 per month for the period during which he held the titles of Interim President and Chief 
Executive Officer. As described above, Mr. Loebig received payment of the Cash Bonus pursuant to these terms. 

The Termination of Employment Agreement provided for the payment to Mr. Loebig of one-half of the annual base 
salary defined in the employment agreement, as well as any accrued but unpaid salary, vacation, vested benefits, and 
unreimbursed expenses through the date of his termination.  

The Separation and Release Agreement also provides for the continuation of the terms and provisions of Stock 
Option Agreements between the Company and Mr. Loebig, in existence upon his termination. In the event of a 
Change of Control, these stock option agreements provide for full vesting of all nonvested stock options held by 
Mr. Loebig. 

The Company and Mr. Loebig also entered into a Consulting Agreement, under which he will provide consulting 
services a minimum of one day per month and a maximum of four days per month, at the request of the Company’s 
Chief Executive Officer or the Company’s Board of Directors. The agreement will terminate on September 19, 
2009. In consideration for his consulting services, Mr. Loebig will receive a fee in the amount of $3,200 per month. 
In addition, he will continue his participation in the Company’s health care benefit plans for himself and his spouse 
for the term of the agreement.  

Agreements with Clifton E. Lind. Upon his resignation on May 1, 2008, the Company entered into certain 
agreements with Mr. Lind, including a Termination of Employment Agreement and a Separation and Release 
Agreement. The Termination of Employment Agreement provides for the termination of an employment agreement 
between the Company and Mr. Lind, dated September 9, 2004, as well as payment to Mr. Lind of any accrued but 
unpaid salary, vacation, vested benefits, and unreimbursed expenses through the date of his termination. The 
Separation and Release Agreement provided for the termination of the severance provisions of Mr. Lind’s 
employment agreement with the Company, as well as the reimbursement of up to an aggregate of $7,500 for the fees 
and expenses of a single special counsel to Mr. Lind, incurred in the course of negotiating the Separation and 
Release Agreement, the Termination of Employment Agreement, and a Consulting Agreement.  

The Separation and Release Agreement also provides for the continuation of the terms and provisions of Stock 
Option Agreements between the Company and Mr. Lind, in existence upon his termination. In the event of a Change 
of Control, these stock option agreements provide for full vesting of all nonvested stock options held by Mr. Lind. 

The Company and Mr. Lind also entered into a consulting agreement, under which he will provide consulting 
services a minimum of four days per month and a maximum of twelve days per month, at the request of the 
Company’s Chief Executive Officer or the Company’s Board of Directors. The agreement will terminate on May 31, 
2011. In consideration for his consulting services, Mr. Lind will receive fees in the amount of $30,000 per month for 
the period May 2008 through October 2008; $25,000 per month for the period November 2008 through April 2009; 
$22,500 per month for the period May 2009 through October 2010; and $20,000 per month for the period 
November 2010 through May 2011. In addition, he will continue his participation in the Company’s health care 
benefit plans for himself and his spouse for the term of the agreement. 

Agreement with P. Howard Chalmers. Effective August 31, 2008, the role and responsibilities of Mr. Chalmers 
were revised such that he was no longer an Executive Officer of the Company. Effective on that date, the Company 
entered into an agreement with Mr. Chalmers, under which he agreed to a reduction in the annual rate of his base 
salary from $189,000 to $113,400, continuing through the earlier of (i) December 31, 2008 or, (ii) his acceptance of 
other employment or consulting engagement requiring a majority of his business time and attention with 
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compensation at an annual rate aggregating more than $150,000. The agreement also provided that he would 
continue to be eligible for Company benefits consistent with those he received prior to the agreement.  

In addition, the agreement established that beginning January 1, 2009, Mr. Chalmers would provide consulting 
services to the Company as reasonably requested for a period ending June 30, 2009. During that consulting period, 
he would receive consulting fees at an hourly rate, or a project fees to be determined for services actually rendered, 
but not receive salary, benefits, or other compensation from the Company. The agreement also provides, in 
exchange for the confirmation and execution of a general release of all claims against the Company, for the 
continuation of the terms and provisions of Stock Option Agreements between the Company and Mr. Chalmers in 
existence upon his termination.  

Mr. Chalmers remained an employee of the Company until his termination effective December 31, 2008, and has 
subsequently commenced consulting services to the Company in accordance with the terms of the agreement.  

Agreements with Scott A. Zinnecker. Upon his resignation on September 30, 2008, the Company entered into 
certain agreements with Mr. Zinnecker, including a Separation, Release and Indemnification Agreement. In 
consideration for his execution of the agreement, Mr. Zinnecker received a severance payment of $58,153.92, equal 
to four months of his annual base salary, less customary payroll deductions, as well as any accrued but unpaid 
salary, vacation, vested benefits, and unreimbursed expenses through the date of his termination. The agreement also 
provides for the continuation of the terms and provisions of Stock Option Agreements between the Company and 
Mr. Zinnecker in existence upon his termination. 

The Company and Mr. Zinnecker also entered into a consulting agreement, under which he will provide consulting 
services at the request of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer or the Company’s Board of Directors. The 
agreement will terminate on July 15, 2009. In consideration for his consulting services, Mr. Zinnecker will receive a 
fee in the amount of $150 per hour for all services provided upon the Company’s request. There is no minimum 
number of hours required as part of the consulting agreement, and there are certain limits as to the maximum days 
per month which Mr. Zinnecker may provide services. 

Agreements with Virginia E. Shanks. On July 22, 2008, the Company entered into an executive employment 
agreement with Ms. Shanks, which sets forth certain terms and conditions relating to her employment as the 
Company’s Senior Vice President and Chief Marketing Officer. Ms. Shanks‘ employment agreement provides that 
she will receive an annual base salary of $250,000, subject to covenants in the employment agreement and in an 
Agreement Regarding Proprietary Developments, Confidential Information and Non-Solicitation. The annual salary 
will be subject to an annual review by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. In addition, she has an opportunity to 
earn an annual bonus equal to 60% of her base salary upon achievement of certain performance targets approved by 
the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, and up to a maximum of 100% of her base salary for overachievement of 
such performance targets. The employment agreement also specifies that Ms. Shanks will be eligible to enroll in the 
Company’s benefit programs and vacation policies as they are established from time-to-time for senior-level 
executive employees.  

Pursuant to the employment agreement, on July 22, 2008 the Company granted Ms. Shanks 250,000 stock options 
pursuant to the Company’s 2008 Employment Inducement Award Plan. The options became immediately 
exercisable, but are subject to vesting over four years. Specifically, one-sixteenth (1/16) of the options vest on 
October 22, 2008, with the remaining options vesting one-sixteenth (1/16) quarterly until fully vested. 

Ms. Shanks will serve as Vice President of Sales until her successor is chosen and qualified or until her death, 
resignation, retirement, disqualification or removal. If there is a Change of Control of the Company, Ms. Shanks 
may, in certain circumstances, receive one year of base salary and one year of a target bonus payment; provided, 
however, that if the Change of Control occurs after July 22, 2009, Ms. Shanks would, in such circumstances, receive 
two years of base salary and two years of target bonus payments. Ms. Shanks is eligible to receive a gross-up 
payment in the event that any payment by the Company to or for the benefit of Ms. Shanks is subject to the excise 
tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code. 

Agreements with Uri L. Clinton. On August 16, 2008, the Company entered into an executive employment 
agreement with Mr. Clinton, which sets forth certain terms and conditions relating to his employment as the 
Company’s General Counsel. Mr. Clinton’s employment agreement provides that he will receive an annual base 
salary of $250,000, subject to covenants in the employment agreement and in an Agreement Regarding Proprietary 
Developments, Confidential Information and Non-Solicitation. The annual salary will be subject to an annual review 
by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. In addition, he has an opportunity to earn an annual bonus equal to 60% 
of his base salary upon achievement of certain performance targets approved by the Company’s Chief Executive 
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Officer, and up to a maximum of 100% of his base salary for overachievement of such performance targets. The 
employment agreement also specifies that Mr. Clinton will be eligible to enroll in the Company’s benefit programs 
and vacation policies as they are established from time-to-time for senior-level executive employees.  

Pursuant to the employment agreement, on August 16, 2008 the Company granted Mr. Clinton 250,000 stock 
options pursuant to the Company’s 2008 Employment Inducement Award Plan. The options became immediately 
exercisable, but are subject to vesting over four years. Specifically, one-sixteenth (1/16) of the option vests on 
November 16, 2008, with the remaining options vesting one-sixteenth (1/16) quarterly until fully vested.  

Mr. Clinton will serve as General Counsel until his successor is chosen and qualified or until his death, resignation, 
retirement, disqualification or removal. If there is a Change of Control of the Company, Mr. Clinton may, in certain 
circumstances, receive one year of base salary and one year of a target bonus payment; provided, however, that if 
the Change of Control occurs after August 16, 2009, Mr. Clinton would, in such circumstances, receive two years of 
base salary and two years of target bonus payments. Mr. Clinton is eligible to receive a gross-up payment in the 
event that any payment by the Company to or for the benefit of Mr. Clinton is subject to the excise tax imposed by 
Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code. 

Agreements with Patrick R. Ramsey. On September 14, 2008, the Company entered into an executive employment 
agreement with Mr. Ramsey, which sets forth certain terms and conditions relating to his employment as the 
Company’s Senior Vice President and Chief Operating Officer. Mr. Ramsey’s employment agreement provides that 
he will receive an annual base salary of $300,000, subject to covenants in the employment agreement and in an 
Agreement Regarding Proprietary Developments, Confidential Information and Non-Solicitation. The annual salary 
will be subject to an annual review by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. In addition, he has an opportunity to 
earn an annual bonus equal to 60% of his base salary upon achievement of certain performance targets approved by 
the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, and up to a maximum of 100% of his base salary for overachievement of 
such performance targets. The employment agreement also specifies that Mr. Ramsey will be eligible to enroll in the 
Company’s benefit programs and vacation policies as they are established from time-to-time for senior-level 
executive employees.  

For a period of six months following the effective date of the employment agreement, the Company will pay 
expenses related to Mr. Ramsey’s commuting between Austin, Texas (the Company’s home office location) and Las 
Vegas, Nevada; as well reasonable costs of an apartment in Austin, Texas, car rental and other related and 
reasonable expenses. The Company will pay for the reasonable moving expenses for Mr. Ramsey’s relocation to 
Austin, Texas.  

Pursuant to the employment agreement, on September 14, 2008 the Company granted Mr. Ramsey 300,000 stock 
options pursuant to the Company’s 2008 Employment Inducement Award Plan. The options became immediately 
exercisable, but are subject to vesting over four years. Specifically, one-fourth (1/4) of the options vest on 
September 14, 2009 and the remaining options vest in equal quarterly installments until fully vested.  

Mr. Ramsey will serve as Chief Operating Officer until his successor is chosen and qualified or until his death, 
resignation, retirement, disqualification or removal. If there is a Change of Control of the Company, Mr. Ramsey 
may, in certain circumstances, receive one year of base salary and one year of a target bonus payment; provided, 
however, that if the Change of Control occurs after September 14, 2009, Mr. Ramsey would, in such circumstances, 
receive two years of base salary and two years of target bonus payments. Mr. Ramsey is eligible to receive a gross-
up payment in the event that any payment by the Company to or for the benefit of Mr. Ramsey is subject to the 
excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code. 

Agreement with Mick Roemer. On January 12, 2009, the Company entered into an executive employment 
agreement with Mr. Roemer, which sets forth certain terms and conditions relating to his employment as Senior 
Vice President of Sales of the Company. Mr. Roemer’s employment agreement provides that he will receive an 
annual base salary of $200,000, subject to covenants in the employment agreement and in an Agreement Regarding 
Proprietary Developments, Confidential Information and Non-Solicitation. The annual salary will be subject to an 
annual review by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. In addition, he is entitled to receive a quarterly incentive 
bonus (the “Incentive Bonus“) upon the achievement of new sales and new placement goals mutually agreed to by 
and between Mr. Roemer and the Company’s Chief Executive Officer for each quarter. The Incentive Bonus shall 
not exceed $100,000 in any individual twelve (12) month period. In addition to the Incentive Bonus, Mr. Roemer 
has an opportunity to earn an annual bonus equal to 60% of his base salary upon achievement of certain performance 
targets approved by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, and up to a maximum of 100% of his base salary for 
overachievement of such performance targets. The employment agreement also specifies that Mr. Roemer will be 
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eligible to enroll in the Company’s benefit programs and vacation policies as they are established from time-to-time 
for senior-level executive employees.  

Pursuant to the employment agreement, the Company granted Mr. Roemer 200,000 stock options pursuant to the 
Company’s 2008 Employment Inducement Award Plan. The options became immediately exercisable, but are 
subject to vesting over four years. Specifically, one-fourth (1/4) of the options will vest on the first anniversary of 
the grant date and the remaining options vest in equal quarterly installments until fully vested.  

Mr. Roemer will serve as Senior Vice President of Sales until his successor is chosen and qualified or until his 
death, resignation, retirement, disqualification or removal. If there is a Change of Control of the Company, 
Mr. Roemer may, in certain circumstances, receive one year of base salary and one year of a target bonus payment; 
provided, however, that if the Change of Control occurs after January 12, 2009, Mr. Roemer would, in such 
circumstances, receive two years of base salary and two years of target bonus payments. Mr. Roemer is eligible to 
receive a gross-up payment in the event that any payment by the Company to or for the benefit of Mr. Roemer is 
subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code. 

Change-in-Control Benefits. Generally, the Company does not provide executive officers with any special benefits 
that are triggered solely upon a change-in-control. However, upon a change-in-control, virtually all of the 
Company’s outstanding stock options, including those held by our executive officers, become fully vested. Change-
in-control generally refers to certain corporate transactions involving the Company such as a merger or 
consolidation, sale of assets, dissolution or the acquisition by any person of at least 51% of our voting stock. The 
Compensation Committee believes that for senior executives, including the Named Executive Officers, accelerated 
vesting of stock options in the event of a change-in-control is generally appropriate because in some change-in-
control situations, equity of the target company is cancelled making immediate acceleration necessary in order to 
preserve the value of the option grants. In addition, the Company relies on long-term incentive awards to provide 
our executive officers with the opportunity to accumulate substantial resources to fund their retirement income, and 
the Compensation Committee believes that a change in control event is an appropriate liquidation point for awards 
designed for such purpose. 

General Severance Plan. In June 2007, the Company established the Multimedia Games, Inc. Severance Plan for 
Select Employees (“Severance Plan”). Under this plan, and other than for Mr. Sanfilippo and other executive 
officers with whom the Company has employment agreements, it is at the discretion of the Plan Administrator, and 
subject to approval by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, whether an executive officer, or any employee, 
would be entitled to receive any cash severance benefits due to an involuntary termination of employment. 
However, in no event may cash severance benefits exceed twice an executive officer’s annual compensation 
(generally defined as base salary) for the calendar year preceding the calendar year during which the executive 
officer involuntarily terminated. The Severance Plan Administrator is the Company’s Senior Vice President of 
Human Resources. 

Under the Severance Plan, there are no commitments for the Company to make severance payments to any 
employee, including any of the Named Executive Officers. Any payments made pursuant to the Plan are determined 
on a case-by-case basis. No payments were made under the Severance Plan to any current or former executive 
officers during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2008.  

Compliance with Internal Revenue Code Section 162(m). Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code restricts 
deductibility of executive compensation paid to our Chief Executive Officer and each of the four other most highly 
compensated executive officers holding office at the end of any year to the extent such compensation 
exceeds $1,000,000 for any of such officers in any year and does not qualify for an exception under Section 162(m) 
or related regulations. The Committee’s policy is to qualify its executive compensation for deductibility under 
applicable tax laws to the extent practicable. Income related to stock options granted under our equity compensation 
plans generally qualifies for an exemption from these restrictions imposed by Section 162(m). In the future, the 
Committee will continue to evaluate the advisability of qualifying its executive compensation for full deductibility. 
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OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT 2008 FISCAL YEAR-END 

The following table provides information concerning the current holdings of stock options by the Named Executive 
Officers as of September 30, 2008. This table includes unexercised and unvested option awards. Individual equity 
grants are shown separately for each such Named Executive Officer. 
 
    Option Awards 

Name 
Grant 
Date 

Number of 
Securities 

Underlying 
Unexercised 

Options 
(#) 

Exercisable 
(1) 

Number of 
Securities 

Underlying 
Unexercised 

Options 
(#) 

Unexercisable
(1) 

Option 
Exercise 

Price 
($) 

 
(2) 

Option 
Expiration 

Date 
Mr. Sanfilippo (3) 6/15/08 81,250 1,218,750 4.6800 6/15/18  

Total 81,250 1,218,750   
Mr. Loebig (4) 3/21/01 20,000 —   2.3959 3/21/11  

3/21/01 19,102 —   2.3959 3/21/11  
9/21/01 8,436 —   3.7667 9/21/11  
9/21/01 141,564 —   3.7667 9/21/11  
3/25/05 37,500 12,500 7.6100 3/25/15  
7/14/08 —   23,643 3.5900 7/14/18  
7/14/08 —   56,357 3.5900 7/14/18  
Total 226,602 92,500   

Mr. Lind (3) 5/29/00 54,000 —   1.0000 5/29/10  
3/21/01 133,024 —   2.3959 3/21/11  
9/21/01 300,000 —   3.7667 9/21/11  
9/21/01 30,000 —   3.7667 9/21/11  
9/24/02 40,000 —   8.2750 9/24/12  

11/13/02 10,774 —   9.2800 11/13/12  
11/13/02 389,226 —   9.2800 11/13/12  
9/24/03 40,000 —   16.8125 9/24/13  
Total 997,024 —     

Mr. Cieslewicz 1/24/02 70,000 —   10.1500 1/24/12  
3/25/05 3,125 3,125 7.6100 3/25/15  
8/4/05 7,500 3,750 9.9700 8/4/15  
4/6/07 3,304 20,324 11.7500 4/6/17  
4/6/07 21,696 54,676 11.7500 4/6/17  
7/14/08 —   15,000 3.5900 7/14/18  
7/14/08 —   65,000 3.5900 7/14/18  
Total 105,625 161,875   

Mr. Chalmers 11/13/02 32,322 —   9.2800 11/13/12  
11/13/02 78,150 —   9.2800 11/13/12  
11/13/02 2,026 —   9.2800 11/13/12  
10/15/04 1 —   12.0950 10/15/14  
10/15/04 19,999 —   12.0950 10/15/14  
3/25/05 10,386 6,250 7.6100 3/25/15  
3/25/05 8,364 —   7.6100 3/25/15  
Total 151,248 6,250   

Mr. Zinnecker 11/13/02 32,322 —   9.2800 11/13/12  
11/13/02 117,678 —   9.2800 11/13/12  
3/25/05 12,502 6,250 7.6100 3/25/15  
3/25/05 6,248 —   7.6100 3/25/15  
7/14/08 —   40,000 3.5900 7/14/18  
Total 168,750 46,250   
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(1) Stock options are generally subject to ratable vesting over four years. Options granted to Mr. Sanfilippo are 
exercisable immediately but vest over four years in equal quarterly installments. Options to other NEOs 
listed above vest 25% on each of the first four anniversaries of their grant date. 

(2) The option exercise price is equal to the closing share price of the Company’s stock on the day of grant. 

OPTION EXERCISES AND STOCK VESTED IN FISCAL YEAR 2008 

The following table provides information regarding stock options exercised during the fiscal year ended 
September 30, 2008, including the number of shares acquired upon exercise and the value (value of common stock in excess 
of exercise price at date of exercise) realized, before payment of applicable withholding tax. 

  Option Awards 

Name 

Number of Shares 
Acquired on Exercise 

(#) 

Value Realized 
on Exercise 

($) 
Mr. Sanfilippo —   — 
Mr. Loebig —   — 
Mr. Lind (1) 37,500   227,779 
Mr. Cieslewicz —   — 
Mr. Chalmers —   — 
Mr. Zinnecker —   — 

(1) Reflects the exercise of stock options by Mr. Lind on November 6, 2007. 
The options had an exercise price of $1.2709 per share. 

PENSION BENEFITS IN FISCAL YEAR 2008 

The Company does not maintain a tax-qualified defined benefit retirement plan. 

NONQUALIFIED DEFERRED COMPENSATION IN FISCAL YEAR 2008 

The Company does not maintain any non-qualified supplemental retirement plans or deferred compensation plans 
for our executive officers. 

POTENTIAL TERMINATION PAYMENTS 

This section describes and quantifies potential payments that may be made or benefits that may provided to each 
Named Executive Officer at, following, or in connection with the resignation, severance, retirement, or other 
termination of the Named Executive Officer or a Change of Control of the Company. For this purpose, it is assumed 
that each of the foregoing events occurred on the last day of the Company’s fiscal year ended September 30, 2008. 
The determination of potential payments and benefits is based on specific factors and assumptions which are further 
discussed below. Since these factors and assumptions are subject to change, the payments and benefits that may 
actually be made to a Named Executive Officer may differ materially from the payments and benefits disclosed in 
this section.  

Mr. Chalmers terminated his employment with the Company effective December 31, 2008. For purposes of this 
disclosure (which assumes certain termination events occurred on the last day of the Company’s fiscal year) and 
pursuant to the Company’s General Severance Plan, Mr. Chalmers would, at the discretion of the Plan 
Administrator, have been eligible to receive cash severance benefits not to exceed twice his annual compensation 
(which was $113,400 as of September 30, 2008) in the event of his Involuntary Termination without Cause, or 
Voluntary Resignation for Good Reason, or his Termination without Cause following a Change in Control. Details 
regarding actual termination arrangements for Mr. Chalmers are provided in the section titled “Employment And 
Termination Arrangements And Change-In-Control Benefits.” 

Potential termination payment values are not provided for Messrs. Loebig, Lind and Zinnecker, each of whom 
terminated their employment with the Company on or before September 30, 2008; additional details regarding 
termination arrangements for Messrs. Loebig, Lind and Zinnecker are provided in the section titled “Employment 
And Termination Arrangements And Change-In-Control Benefits.” 
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Anthony M. Sanfilippo  

Termination Event 

Cash 
Severance 

($) 

Acceleration and 
Other Benefits from 

Stock Options (1) 
($) 

Other 
($) 

Total 
($) 

Retirement — — —   —   
Death or Disability — — —   —   
Voluntary Resignation — — —   —   
Termination for Cause — — —   —   
Involuntary Termination without Cause, or 
Voluntary Resignation for Good Reason (2) 1,125,000 — —   1,125,000 
Change in Control without Termination — — —   —   
Termination without Cause following a 
Change in Control (2) 1,125,000 — —   1,125,000 

(1) The amounts reflect the aggregate in-the-money value of all nonvested outstanding stock options, based on the 
Company’s closing share price of $4.33 on September 30, 2008. 

(2) Pursuant to Mr. Sanfilippo’s Employment Agreement (described in the section titled “Employment And 
Termination Arrangements And Change-In-Control Benefits”), in the event that the termination occurs on 
or before June 15, 2009, the Company would pay his one year of base salary continuation and target bonus; or in 
the event that the termination occurs after June 15, 2009, two years of base salary continuation and two years of 
target bonus. 

Randy S. Cieslewicz 

Termination Event 

Cash 
Severance 

($) 

Acceleration and 
Other Benefits from 

Stock Options (1) 
($) 

Other 
($) 

Total 
($) 

Retirement — — —   —   
Death or Disability — 59,200 —   59,200 
Voluntary Resignation — — —   —   
Termination for Cause — — —   —   
Involuntary Termination without Cause, or 
Voluntary Resignation for Good Reason (2) 235,000 59,200 —   294,200 
Change in Control without Termination — 59,200 —   59,200 
Termination without Cause following a 
Change in Control (2) 235,000 59,200 —   294,200 

(1) The amounts reflect the aggregate in-the-money value of all nonvested outstanding stock options, based on the 
Company’s closing share price of $4.33 on September 30, 2008. 

(2) Pursuant to the Company’s General Severance Plan, Mr. Cieslewicz would, at the discretion of the Plan Administrator, 
be eligible to receive cash severance benefits not to exceed twice his annual compensation. For purposes of this 
disclosure, the amounts reflect the lump sum payment equal to 12 months of his annual base salary of $235,000 as of 
September 30, 2008. 

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS 

The Company maintains a plan to compensate the members of its Board of Directors for their services as directors, 
including serving on committees of the board. Under the Director Compensation Plan, each of the Company’s 
directors receives $37,500 per year, except for the Chairman of the Board, who receives $75,000 per year. In 
addition, each director receives $500 for each board meeting attended in person and $250 for each board meeting 
attended by telephone. Directors also receive the following amounts for serving on committees of the Board of 
Directors: 

Audit Committee. The members of the Audit Committee each receive an additional $15,000 per year for serving on 
the Audit Committee, except for the Chairman of the Audit Committee, who receives $25,000 per year for serving 
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on the Audit Committee as its chairman. Each Audit Committee member also receives $400 for each Audit 
Committee meeting attended in person and $200 for each Audit Committee meeting attended by telephone. 

Nominating and Governance Committee. The members of the Nominating and Governance Committee each 
receive an additional $7,500 per year for serving on the Nominating and Governance Committee, except for the 
Chairman of the Nominating and Governance Committee, who receives $15,000 per year for serving on the 
Nominating and Governance Committee as its chairman. Each Nominating and Governance Committee member 
also receives $400 for each Nominating and Governance Committee meeting attended in person and $200 for each 
Nominating and Governance Committee meeting attended by telephone. 

Compensation Committee. The members of the Compensation Committee each receive $5,000 per year for serving 
on the Compensation Committee, except for the Chairman of the Compensation Committee, who receives $10,000 
per year. Each Compensation Committee member also receives $400 for each Compensation Committee meeting 
attended in person and $200 for each Compensation Committee meeting attended by telephone. Effective as of 
September 8, 2008, the annual fee for serving on the Compensation Committee was increased to $15,000, except for 
the Chairman, who will receive $25,000 per year. 

Other Committees of the Board of Directors. The members of any other committee of the Board of Directors which 
may be established from time to time, each receive an additional $5,000 per year for serving on any such committee, 
except for the chairman of any such committee, who receives $10,000 per year for serving as chairman. Each 
member of any such committee also receives $400 for each meeting of such committee attended in person and $200 
for each meeting of such committee attended by telephone. 

In general, each sitting outside director will receive an option grant on an annual basis for 10,000 shares of common 
stock that will vest six months from the date of grant, subject to restrictions which prevent the sale of such shares. 
These restrictions on the sale of the underlying shares lapse with respect to 25% of the shares annually. 

Our Articles of Incorporation limit the personal liability of our directors for breaches by them of their fiduciary 
duties. Our bylaws require us to indemnify our directors to the fullest extent permitted by Texas law. We have 
entered into indemnification agreements with two of our directors, and intend to enter such agreements in the near 
future with the remaining directors and with our Interim Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. 

The following table provides a summary of total compensation paid to the Company’s outside directors during the 
fiscal year ended September 30, 2008. 

Name  

Fees Earned 
or Paid in 
Cash (1) 

($) 

Stock 
Awards 

($) 

Option 
Awards (2) 

($) 

All Other 
Compensation 

($) 
Total 

($) 

Neil E. Jenkins   67,300 – 43,378 – 110,678 
Michael J. Maples, Sr. (3)  108,600 – 43,378 – 151,978 
Emanuel R. Pearlman   51,600 – 43,378 – 94,978 
Robert D. Repass  81,500 – 43,378 – 124,878 

John M. Winkelman  90,400 – 43,378 – 133,778 

(1) Reflects the amount of cash compensation earned by directors, including annual retainers for Board of Directors 
and committee service, and meeting fees. 

(2) Represents the dollar amount recognized for financial statement reporting purposes with respect to the grant date 
fair value of option grants made to each director during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2008. The fair value 
was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model in accordance with SFAS 123R. 

(3) Mr. Maples serves as the Company’s non-executive Chairman of the Board of Directors 

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation  
During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2008, the Compensation Committee of our Board of Directors consisted 
of Mr. Winkelman and Mr. Mr. Pearlman. Neither of these individuals has served at any time as an officer or 
employee of the Company or is an Executive Officer at any company where an Executive Officer of the Company 
serves on the Compensation Committee. 
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COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT 
We, the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors, have reviewed and discussed the foregoing 
Compensation Discussion and Analysis with the management of the Company. Based on such review and 
discussion, we are of the opinion that the executive compensation policies and plans provide appropriate 
compensation to properly align the Company’s performance and the interests of its shareholders through the use of 
competitive and equitable executive compensation in a balanced and reasonable manner, for both the short and long-
term. Accordingly, we have recommended to the Board of Directors that the foregoing Compensation Discussion 
and Analysis be included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended September 30, 2008, 
and in the proxy statement relating to the Company’s 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders. 

Submitted by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors: 

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE 
Neil E. Jenkins (Chairman) 
Emanuel R. Pearlman 
John M. Winkelman 
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ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related 
Stockholder Matters 

Security Ownership of Management and Certain Beneficial Owners 
The following table sets forth information known to us with respect to the beneficial ownership of our common 
stock as of January 16, 2009 by (i) each person known by us to own beneficially more than 5% of the outstanding 
shares of our common stock, (ii) each director, (iii) each Named Executive Officer, and (iv) all of our directors and 
executive officers as a group: 

Beneficial Owner(1) 
Number of Shares  

Beneficially Owned Percent of Class (2) 
Royce & Associates, LLC 2,111,338(3) 7.9% 
The Baupost Group 2,037,552(4) 7.6% 
Dolphin Limited Partnership III, L.P. 1,907,935(5) 7.1% 
Cortina Asset Management 1,775,859(6) 6.7% 
Dimensional Fund Advisors LP 1,731,572(7) 6.5% 
Epoch Investment Partners, Inc. 1,708,560(8) 6.4% 
Magnetar Capital Partners LP  1,690,537(9) 6.3% 
PAR Investment Partners, L.P. 1,455,356(10) 5.5% 
Scoggin Worldwide Fund, Ltd. 1,436,275(11) 5.4% 
Barclays Global Investors, NA. 1,430,637(12) 5.4% 
Anthony M. Sanfilippo 543,750(13) 2.0% 
Randy Cieslewicz 118,825(14) * 
Clifton E. Lind 997,024(15) 3.7% 
Gary L. Loebig 227,602(16) * 
P. Howard Chalmers 151,248(17) * 
Scott Zinnecker 168,750(18) * 
Michael J. Maples, Sr. 97,500(19) * 
Robert D. Repass 192,500(20) * 
John M. Winkelman 240,000(21) * 
Neil E. Jenkins 20,000(22) * 
Emanuel R. Pearlman 43,891(23)   
All executive officers and directors as a group (11 persons) 2,801,090(24) 9.6% 

* Represents beneficial ownership of less than one percent. 
(1) Unless otherwise noted, the address for all officers and directors is the address of our principal executive offices at 

206 Wild Basin, Building B, Fourth Floor, Austin, Texas 78746. 
(2) Percentages of ownership are based on 26,642,942 shares of common stock outstanding on January 16, 2009. Shares of 

common stock subject to stock options which are currently exercisable or will become exercisable within 60 days after 
January 16, 2009, are deemed outstanding for computing the percentage for the person or group holding such options, 
but are not deemed outstanding for computing the percentage for any other person or group. 

(3) Pursuant to Schedule 13G/A dated February 4, 2008, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Royce & 
Associates, LLC reported that as of December 31, 2007, it had sole voting power over 2,111,338 shares and sole 
dispositive power over 2,111,338 shares and that its address is 1414 Avenue of the Americas, New York, New York 
10019. 

(4) Pursuant to Schedule 13G/A dated February 12, 2008, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, The 
Baupost Group, LLC reported that as of December 31, 2007, it had sole voting power over 2,037,552 shares and sole 
dispositive power of 2,037,552 shares and that its address is 10 St. James Avenue, Suite 1700, Boston, Massachusetts, 
02116. 

(5) Pursuant to Schedule 13D/A dated January 8, 2009, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Dolphin 
Limited Partnership III, L.P. reported that as of December 26, 2008, it and certain related entities had shared voting 
power over 1,907,935 shares and shared dispositive power over 1,907,935 shares and that its address is 156 W. 56th 
Street, Suite 1203, New York, New York 10019. 

(6) Pursuant to Schedule 13G dated February 15, 2007, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Cortina Asset 
Management, LLC reported that as of December 31, 2006 it had sole voting power over 894,676 shares and sole 
dispositive power over 1,775,859 shares and that its address is 330 East Kilbourn Avenue, Suite 850, Milwaukee, 
Wisconsin 53202. 

(7) Pursuant to Schedule 13G/A dated February 6, 2008, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Dimensional 
Fund Advisors LP reported that as of December 31, 2007, it had sole voting power over 1,731,572 shares and sole 
dispositive power over 1,731,572 shares and that its address is 1299 Ocean Avenue, Santa Monica, California 90401. 
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(8) Pursuant to Schedule 13G dated February 14, 2008, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Epoch 
Investment Partners, Inc. reported that as of December 31, 2007 it and certain related entities had shared voting power 
over 1,708,560 shares and shared dispositive power of 1,708,560 shares and that its address is 640 5th Avenue, 18th 
Floor, New York, New York 10019. 

(9) Pursuant to Schedule 13G/A dated February 13, 2008, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Magnetar 
Capital Partners LP reported that as of December 31, 2007 it and certain related entities had shared voting power over 
1,690,537 shares and shared dispositive power of 1,690,537 shares and that its address is 1603 Orrington Avenue, 13th 
Floor, Evanston, Illinois 60201. 

(10) Pursuant to Schedule 13G/A dated February 14, 2008, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, PAR 
Investment Partners, L.P. reported that as of December 31, 2007, it had sole voting power over 1,455,356 shares and 
sole dispositive power of 1,455,356 shares and that its address is One International Place, Suite 2401, Boston, 
Massachesetts 02110. 

(11) Pursuant to Schedule 13G dated June 26, 2008 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Scoggin 
Worldwide Fund, Ltd. reported that as of June 16, 2008, it had sole voting power over 1,436,275 shares and sole 
dispositive power over 1,436,275 shares and that its address was 3rd Floor, Harbour Centre; P.O. Box 1348; George 
Town, Grandy Cayman, Cayman Islands. 

(12) Pursuant to Schedule 13G dated February 5, 2008 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Barclays Global 
Investors, NA. reported that as of December 31, 2007, it had sole voting power over 1,430,637 shares and sole 
dispositive power over 1,430,637shares and that its address was 45 Fremont Street, San Francisco, California 94105. 

(13) Consists of (i) 300,000 shares owned by Mr. Sanfilippo, and (ii) 243,000 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock 
options that are currently exercisable. 

(14) Consists of (i) 13,200 shares owned by Mr. Cieslewicz, and (ii) 105,625 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock 
options that are currently exercisable. 

(15) Consists of 997,024 shares issuable upon the exercise of options that are currently exercisable. Mr. Lind is no longer an 
employee of the Company and he has declined to disclose any information to the Company regarding his ownership of 
shares of Company common stock. 

(16) Consists of (i) 1,000 shares owned by Mr. Loebig, and (ii) 226,602 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options 
that are currently exercisable. 

(17) Consists of 151,248 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options that are currently exercisable. 
(18) Consists of 168,750 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options that are currently exercisable. 
(19) Consists of (i) 30,000 shares owned by Mr. Maples, and (ii) 67,500 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options 

that are currently exercisable. 
(20) Consists of 192,500 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options that are currently exercisable. 
(21) Consists of (i) 20,000 shares owned by Mr. Winkelman, and (ii) 220,000 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock 

options that are currently exercisable. 

(22) Consists of 20,000 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options that are currently exercisable. 

(23) Pursuant to Schedule 13D/A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 14, 2009, Mr. Pearlman’s 
interest consists of (i) 3,931 shares owned by Liberation Investment Group, LLC, (ii) 19,960 shares owned by Beach 
Lane Opportunity, LLC, and (iii) 20,000 shares issuable upon the exercise of stock options.  Mr. Pearlman is the Chief 
Executive Officer and majority member of Liberation Investment Group, LLC and managing member of Beach Lane 
Opportunity, LLC, and may be deemed to share voting and dispositive power over the shares held by each of 
Liberation Investment Group, LLC and its related entities and Beach Lane Opportunity, LLC. 

(24) Consists of (i) 364,200 shares owned, (ii) 23,891 shares owned indirectly, and (iii) 2,142,999 shares issuable upon the 
exercise of stock options that are currently exercisable. The number of shares beneficially owned by all executive 
officers and directors as a group does not include what Mr. Lind may own directly or indirectly. Items (i) and (ii) do not 
include what Mr. Lind may directly or indirectly own. Mr. Lind is no longer an employee of the Company and he has 
declined to disclose any information to the Company regarding his ownership of shares of Company common stock. 

For information about the Company’s securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans, see 
“Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stock Matters” and further descriptions of the 
Company’s equity compensation plans in “PART IV – Item 15. Financial Statements – Note 9. Stockholders’ 
Equity” on the Company’s Form 10-K. 
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ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 

Our bylaws require us to indemnify our directors and Executive Officers to the fullest extent permitted by Texas 
law. In addition, our articles of incorporation limit the personal liability of the members of our Board of Directors 
for breaches by the directors of their fiduciary duties and we have purchased directors’ and officers’ liability 
insurance. 
Our Audit Committee Charter requires that the members of our Audit Committee, all of whom are independent 
directors, review and approve all related party transactions as described in Item 404 of Regulation S-K promulgated 
by the SEC. 
Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics requires our Executive Officers and directors to disclose any conflicts of 
interest, including any material transaction or relationship involving a potential conflict of interest. Furthermore, 
Executive Officers are encouraged to avoid any direct or indirect business connections with our competitors, 
customers, suppliers or business partners. Directors are expected to avoid any action, position or interest that 
conflicts with our interests, or gives the appearance of a conflict. 

Related Party Transactions 
None 

ITEM 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services 

The following table presents the fees for professional services rendered by BDO Seidman, LLP for the fiscal years 
ended September 30, 2008 and 2007. 

   2008   2007  
Audit Fees  $ 892,947  $ 952,870 
Audit-Related Fees   145,000 155,900 
Tax Fees   128,251   108,883 
All Other Fees   —   — 

Total  $ 1,166,198  $ 1,217,653 

Audit Fees. Audit Fees represent fees for professional services provided in connection with the audit of our annual 
financial statements and of management’s assessment and the operating effectiveness of internal control over 
financial reporting including in our Form 10-K, the quarterly reviews of financial statements included in our 
Form 10-Q filings and other statutory or regulatory filings. 

Audit-Related Fees. Audit-Related Fees are fees for assurance and related services that are reasonably related to the 
attendance at our Audit Committee meetings and our Annual Shareholders’ Meeting. This category includes fees 
related to assistance in employee benefit and compensation plan audits, SAS 70 audits and consulting on financial 
accounting/reporting standards. 

Tax Fees. Tax Fees primarily include professional services performed with respect to preparation and review of our 
original and amended tax returns and those of our consolidated subsidiaries, and for state, local and international tax 
consultation. Tax fees also include professional fees related to research and development tax credit studies. 

All Other Fees. All other fees includes the aggregate fees for products and services provided by BDO Seidman, LLP 
that are not reported under “Audit Fees,” “Audit Related Fees” or “Tax Fees.” There were no other fees in the fiscal 
years ended September 30, 2008, and September 30, 2007. 

The Audit Committee has also adopted procedures for pre approving all audit and non-audit services provided by 
BDO Seidman, LLP. These procedures include reviewing a budget for audit and permitted non-audit services. The 
budget includes a description of, and a budgeted amount for, particular categories of non-audit services that are 
recurring in nature, and therefore anticipated at the time the budget is submitted. Audit Committee approval is 
required to exceed the budget amount for a particular category of non-audit services, and to engage the independent 
auditor for any non-audit services not included in the budget. For both types of pre-approval, the Audit Committee 
considers whether such services are consistent with the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules on auditor 
independence. 
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PART IV 

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statements and Schedules. 

3. Exhibits 

Exhibit No. Description of Exhibit  

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Section 302 of the 
 Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to Section 302 of the 
 Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to 
 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has 
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

MULTIMEDIA GAMES, INC. 
(Registrant) 

By:  /s/RANDY S. CIESLEWICZ  
Randy S. Cieslewicz 
Chief Financial Officer 

Dated: January 28, 2009 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the 
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

 /s/ ANTHONY M. SANFILIPPO  Chief Executive Officer and Director January 28, 2009 
  Anthony M. Sanfilippo  (Principal Executive Officer) 

 /s/ RANDY S. CIESLEWICZ  Chief Financial Officer January 28, 2009 
  Randy S. Cieslewicz  (Principal Financial Officer 
    and Principal Accounting Officer) 

 /s/ MICHAEL J. MAPLES  Chairman of the Board and Director January 28, 2009 
  Michael J. Maples   

 /s/ ROBERT D. REPASS  Director January 28, 2009 
  Robert D. Repass 

 /s/ JOHN M. WINKELMAN  Director January 28, 2009 
  John M. Winkelman 

 /s/ NEIL E. JENKINS  Director January 28, 2009 
  Neil E. Jenkins 

 /s/ EMANUEL R. PEARLMAN  Director January 28, 2009 
  Emanuel R. Pearlman 

 

 



 

10-K/A 32 
 

EXHIBIT INDEX 
 

Exhibit No. Description of Exhibit  

31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Section 302 of the 
 Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to Section 302 of the 
 Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to 
 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
 



 

 

EXHIBIT 31.1 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO 
RULE 13a – 14(a)/RULE 15d - 14(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, 
ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

I, Anthony M. Sanfilippo, the Chief Executive Officer of Multimedia Games, Inc. certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this Amendment No. 1 to Annual Report on Form 10-K/A of Multimedia Games, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state 
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such 
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, 
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the 
Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure 
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control 
over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and 
have: 

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures 
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, 
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly 
during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial 
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this 
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end 
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that 
occurred during the Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the 
case of an Annual Report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the 
Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of 
internal controls over financial reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the 
Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function): 

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over 
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, 
process, summarize and report financial information; and 

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a 
significant role in the Registrant’s internal controls over financial reporting. 

Date: January 28, 2009 By: /s/ Anthony M. Sanfilippo 
  Anthony M. Sanfilippo 
  Chief Executive Officer 



 

 

EXHIBIT 31.2  

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 
RULE 13a – 14(a)/RULE 15d - 14(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, 
ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

I, Randy S. Cieslewicz, the Chief Financial Officer of Multimedia Games, Inc., certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this Amendment No. 1 to Annual Report on Form 10-K/A of Multimedia Games, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state 
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such 
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, 
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the 
Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure 
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control 
over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and 
have: 

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures 
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, 
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly 
during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial 
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this 
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end 
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that 
occurred during the Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the 
case of an Annual Report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the 
Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of 
internal controls over financial reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the 
Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function): 

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controls over 
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, 
process, summarize and report financial information; and 

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a 
significant role in the Registrant’s internal controls over financial reporting. 

 
Date: January 28, 2009 By: /s/ Randy S. Cieslewicz 
  Randy S. Cieslewicz 
 

 
Chief Financial Officer 
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) 



 

 

EXHIBIT 32.1  

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED, 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

In connection with the Amendment No. 1 to Annual Report of Multimedia Games, Inc. (the “Company”) on 
Form 10-K/A for the year ended September 30, 2008, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the 
“Report”), the undersigned, Anthony M. Sanfilippo, Chief Executive Officer, and Randy S. Cieslewicz, Chief 
Financial Officer, of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“Section 906”), that, to my knowledge: 

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended (15 U.S.C. 78m); and 

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and 
results of operations of the Company. 

Dated: January 28, 2009 /s/ Anthony M. Sanfilippo 
 Anthony M. Sanfilippo 
 Chief Executive Officer 
  
 /s/ Randy S. Cieslewicz 
 Randy S. Cieslewicz 
 Chief Financial Officer 
A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, 
acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this 
written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to Multimedia Games, Inc., and will be retained by 
Multimedia Games, Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. 



206 Wild Basin Road South
Building B, 4th Floor 
Austin, TX 78746
512.334.7500


	MMG_Cover_Splitup.pdf
	New Annual Report (needs cover).pdf
	Inserts Explan Note 10K & 10KA.pdf
	MMG_InsidePages_3 05_FINAL.pdf
	Explan 10k  & 10K a.pdf

	Explanatory Note.pdf



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName (http://www.color.org)
  /PDFXTrapped /Unknown

  /Description <<
    /ENU (Use these settings to create PDF documents with higher image resolution for high quality pre-press printing. The PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Reader 5.0 and later. These settings require font embedding.)
    /JPN <FEFF3053306e8a2d5b9a306f30019ad889e350cf5ea6753b50cf3092542b308030d730ea30d730ec30b9537052377528306e00200050004400460020658766f830924f5c62103059308b3068304d306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103057305f00200050004400460020658766f8306f0020004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d30678868793a3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /FRA <>
    /DEU <>
    /PTB <>
    /DAN <>
    /NLD <>
    /ESP <>
    /SUO <>
    /ITA <>
    /NOR <>
    /SVE <>
  >>
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice




